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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, which statements involve substantial risks

and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-

looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,
“estimate,

” ” < 2 2 <. ”

plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “project,” “contemplate,” “believe,”
potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions.

”

predict,

Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include statements about:

our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenue, cost of revenue, operating expenses, capital expenditures, our ability to
determine insurance, legal and other reserves and our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and positive free cash flows;

our restructuring actions, including the costs of such actions and the impact of such actions on our business and financial performance;

the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments to meet our liquidity needs;

the demand for our platform or for Transportation-as-a-Service networks in general;

our ability to attract and retain drivers and riders;

our ability to develop new offerings and bring them to market in a timely manner and make enhancements to our platform;

our ability to successfully acquire and integrate companies and assets, as well as our expectations regarding the anticipated benefits of such transactions over time;
our ability to compete with existing and new competitors in existing and new markets and offerings;

our prices and pricing methodologies and our expectations for the impact of pricing on our competitive position and our financial results;

our expectations regarding outstanding and potential litigation, including with respect to the classification of drivers on our platform;

our expectations regarding the effects of existing and developing laws and regulations, including with respect to the classification of drivers on our platform,
taxation, privacy and data protection;

our ability to manage and insure risks associated with our Transportation-as-a-Service network, including auto-related and operations-related risks, and our
expectations regarding insurance costs and estimated insurance reserves;

our expectations regarding new and evolving markets and our efforts to address these markets;
our ability to develop and protect our brand,;

our ability to maintain the security and availability of our platform;

our expectations and management of future growth and business operations;

our expectations concerning relationships with third-parties;

our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;

our expectations concerning macroeconomic conditions, including the impact of inflation, uncertainty in the global banking and financial services markets and
public health crises;

our expectations regarding our share repurchase program, including the timing of repurchases thereunder; and

our ability to service our existing debt.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those described
in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New
risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or
occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations
disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the
potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information
available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may
be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant
information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.



PART 1

Item 1. Business.
Overview

Lyft, Inc. (the “Company” or “Lyft”) operates as a global mobility platform offering a mix of rideshare, taxis, private hire vehicles, executive chauffeur services, car
sharing, bikes and scooters. Our established, scaled network of users is brought together by our robust technology platform (the “Lyft Platform”) that powers rides and
connections every day. Our Lyft mobile application (“Lyft App”) connect riders with drivers for on-demand ride services and supports a variety of other multimodal solutions.

Substantially all of our revenue is generated from our ridesharing marketplace that connects drivers and riders. We collect service fees and commissions from drivers
for their use of our ridesharing marketplace. We also generate revenue from licensing and data access agreements, the sale of bikes and bike station software and hardware,
advertising services, riders renting through our network of shared bikes and scooters, drivers renting vehicles through Express Drive and by making our ridesharing
marketplace available to organizations through our Lyft Business offerings.

In 2025, we expanded our operations beyond North America and strengthened our global footprint. We entered nine new countries and more than 180 cities through
our acquisition of Intelligent Apps GmbH (d/b/a Freenow) in July 2025, a leading European multimodal app with taxi offering at its core. In October 2025, we acquired
TheBookingRoomGroup Limited (d/b/a TBR Global Chauffeuring, or “TBR”), a global luxury chauffeuring company that operates in thousands of cities worldwide. As a result
of these acquisitions, as well as additional expansion of our business, we now operate in thousands of cities across six continents. For additional information, see Note 4
“Acquisitions” included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Transportation Network
Our transportation network is primarily comprised of:

*  Ridesharing Marketplace. Our core offering connects drivers with riders. The scale of our network enables us to predict demand and proactively incentivize drivers to
be available for rides in the right place at the right time. This allows us to optimize earning opportunities for drivers and offer convenient rides for riders, creating
sustainable value to both sides of our marketplace. Our ridesharing marketplace, inclusive of taxis, private hire vehicles, executive chauffeur services and car sharing,
connects drivers with riders in cities across six continents in select cities. In addition to our standard rideshare offering, riders can select a variety of other offerings
which include, but are not limited to, Wait & Save, Priority Pickup, XL, Extra Comfort, Black, Black SUV, and Green.

e Express Drive. Our car rental program for drivers, including those who want to drive using our platform but do not have access to a vehicle that meets our
requirements. Through our Express Drive program, drivers can enter into rental agreements with our independently managed subsidiary, Flexdrive Services, LLC
(“Flexdrive”), and our rental car partners for vehicles that may be used to provide ridesharing services on the Lyft Platform.

*  Bikes and Scooters. We have a network of shared bikes and scooters in a number of cities to address the needs of users who are looking for options that are more active
and often more cost-effective and efficient for shorter trips. These transportation modes can also help supplement the first-mile and last-mile of a multimodal trip with
public transit.

Drivers

The drivers on our platform are active members of their communities. They are parents, students, business owners, retirees and everything in between. We work hard
to serve the community of drivers on our platform, empowering them to drive on their own flexible terms while providing them the opportunity to focus their time on what
matters most. Drivers on our platform also generally have key benefits, which include:

*  Flexibility. We offer drivers the flexibility to generate income on their own schedule, so they can best prioritize what is important in their lives.

e Technology. Our predictive technology around ride volume and demand enables us to share key information with drivers about when and where to drive to maximize
their earnings on a real-time basis.

*  Transparent and Consistent Pay. We’ve released multiple products over the years such as upfront pay where drivers can see ride information and what they’ll earn
before accepting a ride. We also remain committed to a differentiated, fair and transparent approach to driver earnings.

*  Insurance. We procure insurance as required by transportation network company (“TNC”) regulations to protect drivers against financial losses related to automobile
accidents while on the platform.



e Community Standards. To help us uphold high community standards, we give both drivers and riders the opportunity to rate each other after a ride booked through the
Lyft apps.

*  Support. We offer drivers access to 24/7 support and earnings tools as well as education resources and other support to meet their personal goals.
Riders

Riders are as diverse and dynamic as the communities we serve. They represent all adult age groups and backgrounds and use Lyft to commute to and from work,
explore their cities, spend more time at local businesses and stay out longer knowing they can get a reliable ride home. Unless otherwise stated, riders are passengers who
request rides from drivers in our ridesharing marketplace, or renters of a shared bike or scooter available on the Lyft apps. We work hard to provide riders with a quality
experience every time they open the Lyft apps, so riders will continue to select Lyft as their transportation network of choice. Riders on our platform also have key benefits,
which include:

*  Selection and Convenience. We designed the Lyft App with a focus on simplicity, efficiency and convenience. Our proprietary technology efficiently matches riders
with drivers through advanced dispatching algorithms providing faster arrival times, localized pricing and maximum availability. Additional transportation modes,
such as our network of shared bikes and scooters, offer more options for shorter trips. We also continue to launch new features such as Lyft Silver and the ability to
“favorite” a driver. The more rides that are taken on our platform, the better we are able to offer riders personalized experiences most suitable to their trip.

e Availability and Reliability. We strive to ensure that riders can get a ride when they want one. We leverage our proprietary dispatch platform and data to help drivers
and riders connect efficiently and reduce wait times. Scheduled rides to the airport are backed by our on-time pickup promise in many major markets. If a ride is more
than ten minutes late for a scheduled pick-up to the airport, we will offer up to $100 in Lyft credits to make up for it.

*  Affordability. Our platform empowers riders to choose from a broad set of transportation options to easily optimize for cost, comfort and time. Wait & Save, a
substantial portion of rides on our platform, offers riders a way to save money when they aren’t in a hurry. In 2024, we launched Price Lock, a new subscription
offering that caps the price of a rider’s regular and scheduled rides on a specified route during the rider’s chosen pickup time.

e Safety. Since day one, we have worked continuously to enhance the safety of our platform and the ridesharing industry by developing products, policies and processes.
In the United States, we have a dedicated safety response team for live support available via phone or chat 24/7, Emergency Help with ADT, Inc. (“‘ADT”), and
partnerships with leading national organizations to inform our safety policies.

Business

We work with organizations across a wide range of industries to deliver transportation solutions. Our comprehensive set of solutions allows clients to design, manage,
and pay for ground transportation programs that contribute to productivity and satisfaction while reducing cost and streamlining operations.

Our Technology Infrastructure and Operations

We organize our product teams with a full-stack development model, integrating product management, engineering, analytics, data science and design. We focus on
affordability, reliability, efficiency, optimization and cohesion when developing our software. Our offerings are mobile-first and platform agnostic. We seek to continuously
improve the Lyft Platform and the Lyft apps. Our offerings are built on a scalable technology platform that enables us to manage peaks in demand.

We have a commercial agreement with Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) for cloud services to help deliver and host our platform. As a result of our partnership, we
believe we are more resilient to surges in demand on our platform or product changes we may introduce. Refer to Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the
consolidated financial statements for information regarding this agreement.

We designed our platform with multiple layers of redundancy to guard against data loss and deliver high availability. Both incremental and full backups are performed
and redundant copies of content are stored independently in separate geographic regions. We are also investing in iterating and continuously improving our data privacy and
security foundation, and continually review and implement the most relevant policies.

Our Proprietary Data-Driven Technology Platform

Our robust technology platform powers the millions of rides and connections that we facilitate every day and provides insights that drive our platform in real-time. We
leverage historical data to continuously improve experiences for drivers and riders. Our platform analyzes large datasets covering the ride lifecycle, from when drivers go
online and riders request rides, to when they match, which route to take and any feedback given after the rides. Utilizing machine learning capabilities to predict future behavior
based on many years of historical data and use cases, we employ various levers to balance supply and demand in the marketplace,



creating increased driver earnings while maintaining strong service levels for riders. We also leverage our data science and algorithms to inform our product development.

Our Intellectual Property

We believe that our intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business. We rely on trademarks, patents, copyrights, trade secrets, license
agreements, intellectual property assignment agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements and employee non-disclosure and invention assignment
agreements to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Though we rely in part upon these legal and contractual protections, we believe that factors such as the skills and
ingenuity of our employees and the functionality and frequent enhancements to our solutions and offerings are larger contributors to our success in the marketplace.

We have invested in a patent program to identify and protect a substantial portion of our strategic intellectual property in ridesharing, autonomous vehicle (“AV”’) and
AV-related technology, micro-mobility, telecommunications, networking and other technologies relevant to our business. We hold numerous issued and pending patents in the
U.S. and foreign jurisdictions and continually review our development efforts to assess the existence and patentability of new intellectual property.

We have an ongoing trademark and service mark registration program pursuant to which we seek to register our brand names and product names, taglines and logos in
the United States and other countries to the extent we determine appropriate and cost-effective. We also have common law rights in some trademarks. In addition, we have
registered domain names for websites that we use in our business, such as www.lyft.com and other variations.

We intend to pursue additional intellectual property protection to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost-effective. Despite our efforts to protect our
intellectual property rights, they may not be respected in the future or may be invalidated, circumvented or challenged. For additional information, see the sections titled “Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Regulatory and Legal Factors—Claims by others that we infringed their proprietary technology or other intellectual property rights could harm our
business” and “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulatory and Legal Factors—Failure to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.”

Competition

The market for Transportation-as-a-Service (“TaaS”) networks is intensely competitive and characterized by rapid changes in technology, shifting levels of demand
and frequent introductions of new services and offerings. We expect competition to continue, both from current competitors and new entrants in the market that may be well-
established and enjoy greater resources or other strategic advantages.

Our main ridesharing competitor is Uber and our main competitors for app-based intermediation services for taxi and private hire vehicles are Uber and Bolt, though
we also compete with other TNCs, taxi cab and livery companies as well as traditional automotive manufacturers and technology companies. Our main competitors in the bike
and scooter sharing market include Lime, Bird, Fifteen, nextbike and Dott. We also compete with other manufacturers of bike and scooter sharing equipment for sales of such
equipment, particularly in markets outside of the United States.

Additionally, there are other non-U.S.-based TaaS network companies, bike and scooter sharing companies, consumer vehicle rental companies, non-ridesharing TNCs
and traditional automotive manufacturers that may expand into North America and Europe. There are also a number of companies developing and introducing AV technology
and TaaS offerings that either are competing with us or may compete with us in the future, including Alphabet (Waymo), Amazon (Zoox), Baidu, Bolt, and Tesla as well as
many other technology companies and automobile manufacturers and suppliers. We have entered into strategic collaborations and partnerships with certain of the
aforementioned competitors, including with respect to AVs, and these partnerships may lead to actual or perceived conflicts of interest or misalignment of strategic objectives.
We anticipate continued challenges from current competitors as well as from new entrants into the TaaS market.

We believe we can compete favorably. However, many of our competitors and potential competitors are larger and have greater brand name recognition, longer
operating histories, larger marketing budgets and established marketing relationships, access to larger customer bases and significantly greater resources for the development of
their offerings. For additional information about the risks to our business related to competition, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Operational Factors—We
face intense competition and could lose market share to our competitors, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.”

Seasonality

The revenue we generate from our business may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to seasonal factors including the weather and certain holidays. Demand for our
transportation network has historically declined over the winter season and our network of shared bikes and scooters has historically had stronger demand during more
temperate and dry seasons.



Our Brand and Marketing

Our purpose is to serve and connect. The Lyft brand is rooted in expecting more from every journey. Our marketing efforts bring our brand to life across a variety of
communication channels ranging from national advertising campaigns to more direct communications like email and social media engagement. We also benefit from positive
word of mouth in the existing Lyft rider and driver communities.

Our marketing efforts educate people about Lyft products in creative and memorable ways and generate greater brand awareness among potential drivers and riders.
Our brand marketing includes but is not limited to Lyft-produced content, culture and entertainment partnerships, marketing partnerships, and outdoor advertisements. We use
specific channels and initiatives so we can measure the impact of our marketing spend. We attract new drivers and riders through referrals, partnerships, display advertising,
radio, video, social media, email, search engine optimization, keyword search campaigns, and more. We continue to engage with current riders through a variety of initiatives,
including emails, in-app notifications, social media content, promotions, and more.

Our Commitment to Safety

Everyone deserves to feel safe and respected on the Lyft Platform. We owe it to every rider and driver to continuously ensure our platform has appropriate safety
measures, and are continually investing in tools and policies to help ensure safety is embedded into every experience. We publish regular Community Safety Reports detailing
safety incidents, our response, and continuous improvements to our platform. This commitment to transparency holds us accountable to the communities we serve and drives
continuous improvement in our safety practices.

To ensure we are delivering exceptional service levels and upholding high quality standards, we have an established Safety and Customer Care (“SCC”) team as a key
part of our organization. SCC aims to listen to customers, quickly resolve problems when they occur, learn from problems that arise and maintain trust with drivers and riders.
Our safety strategy integrates multiple protection layers across the entire lifecycle, combining technology, policy and human expertise:

e Annual background checks and ongoing criminal monitoring for drivers. Every driver is required to pass a professionally administered criminal background check
before they drive and each year after that. In the United States, continuous criminal monitoring allows us to quickly deactivate drivers with disqualifying criminal
convictions. Similarly, in the United States, we also continuously check driving records so that we can promptly identify and remove drivers from the platform upon
detection of a disqualifying violation.

*  Safety education. Every driver completes mandatory safety education before driving with Lyft, with opportunities for continued safety education once they are Lyft
drivers.

*  Rider verification. We work to verify rider profiles so drivers know who they’re sharing the ride with. Drivers can see a rider’s verification status before they accept a
ride. Our process includes cross-checking a rider’s personal information using trusted, third-party databases. Any information provided is protected in accordance with
our privacy policy.

*  Location sharing. The Lyft App provides real-time ride tracking, so riders can share their exact location and route with family and friends. Once a user enables this
feature, a user’s trusted contacts (who they shared their location with) can see trip status and where they are on the map.

*  Emergency help. Lyft offers in-app emergency tools like direct 911 calling, live safety agent support and real-time location sharing with 911, to help riders and drivers
get assistance quickly when they need it. Additionally, if a rider or driver needs emergency assistance at any point, Lyft offers tools to help beyond 911 in-app
integration with partners like ADT and RapidSOS. Subject to geographic availability, Lyft offers customers tools — like opportunities to connect with live agents during
aride, and silent location sharing with 911 agents to ensure customers can receive emergency help faster.

*  Live safety support and specialized support and advocacy. Our SCC team is standing by, ready to help via phone or chat 24/7, and every member of the SCC team is a
credentialed victim advocate. Each member has training in trauma-informed care.

*  Smart trip check-in. Our platform employs machine learning to monitor rides in real-time, analyzing GPS trajectory, speed, stops, and historical patterns. When
systems detect unusual activity—such as route deviations or prolonged stops—we proactively reach out to riders and drivers through notifications, texts, or calls. If
assistance is needed, we connect them to emergency services or our SCC team.

*  Hidden contact information and ride history. The Lyft App hides contact information for both the rider and driver before, during and after the ride. While riders and
drivers are able to call or text one another through the app, personal information, including real user phone numbers, are not revealed. Drivers are also not able to see a
rider’s specific drop-off location, whether it’s a specific address or a cross-street, after the ride is complete.



*  Two-way ratings and feedback. At the end of each trip, drivers and riders are prompted to rate their ride. Low ratings and negative feedback trigger automated safety
reviews. Users with consistently low ratings or concerning patterns may face warnings, suspensions, or permanent deactivation.

*  Industry Sharing Safety Program. Lyft partners with certain companies to share information about the drivers who are deactivated from certain rideshare and delivery
platforms for specific select reasons. The program enables the sharing of information to equip participating companies with the information needed to take action on
their own platform.

Government Regulation

We are subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations in the United States and other jurisdictions. Laws, regulations and standards governing issues such as TNCs,
ridesharing, worker classification, labor and employment, payments, advertising, text messaging, intellectual property, taxation, privacy, data security, competition, unionizing
and collective action, antitrust, mobile application accessibility, AVs, bike and scooter sharing, and insurance are often complex and are subject to varying interpretations, in
many cases due to their lack of specificity. As a result, their application in practice may change or develop over time through judicial decisions or as new guidance or
interpretations are provided by regulatory and governing bodies, such as federal, state and local administrative agencies.

See the section titled “Risk Factors” including the subsection titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulatory and Legal Factors” included in Part 1, Item 1A and
Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2025, we had 3,913 full-time employees worldwide. None of our employees in the United States are represented by a labor union or covered by a
collective bargaining agreement. In certain foreign countries, some of our employees are represented by trade unions or work councils. We have not experienced any work
stoppages and we consider our relations with our employees to be positive. We also engage contractors, consultants, and vendors to support our operations.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, develop, and retain highly skilled employees across engineering, operations, product, and other critical functions. Our
human capital strategy is developed and managed under the leadership of our Chief People Officer, who reports through our Chief Legal and Business Officer to our Chief
Executive Officer, and is overseen by our board of directors.

Attracting and Retaining Talent
We are committed to providing competitive compensation and benefits that reward performance and support our employees’ professional growth and well-being.

*  Competitive Compensation. Our compensation philosophy is designed to be market-competitive and to incentivize high performance. We provide employees with
compensation packages that may include base salary, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”), and performance-based cash
incentives. To ensure our compensation remains competitive and fair, we regularly review our practices against external market data and make adjustments as needed
to attract and retain top talent in a highly competitive labor market, particularly for highly skilled software engineers, product managers, and other technical
professionals who are in high demand.

*  Comprehensive Benefits and Support. We take a holistic approach to supporting employee well-being. We provide eligible employees and their eligible dependents
with comprehensive health and wellness benefits, including medical, dental, and vision coverage, mental health resources, and wellness programs. Additionally, we
offer retirement savings programs, paid time off, parental leave, and other benefits designed to support our employees and their families.

Employee Development and Engagement

We believe that investing in our employees’ career development and maintaining high levels of engagement are essential to building and sustaining a high-performing
workforce and a values-driven culture.

*  Professional Growth and Development. We are committed to helping our employees achieve their career goals through learning and development opportunities. We
provide access to training programs, skill-building resources, mentorship, coaching and leadership development initiatives designed to help employees grow in their
current roles and prepare for future opportunities. We also support internal mobility, encouraging employees to explore different roles and teams within Lyft to broaden
their experience and advance their careers.

*  Employee Engagement and Feedback. We measure employee engagement through two surveys a year and other feedback mechanisms to understand our employees’
needs, concerns, and ideas for improvement. We use this feedback to inform decisions about our workplace policies, programs, and culture. Our leadership teams
review engagement data and work to address areas of opportunity while building on our strengths. We believe that listening to our employees and acting on their
feedback helps us create a work environment where people can perform at their best.



*  Performance Management. We maintain a performance management process designed to provide employees with clear expectations, regular feedback, and
opportunities for recognition and advancement. Our managers are trained and equipped with resources to conduct fair and objective performance reviews, identify
high performers, and support employees in reaching their full potential.

Our employees' talent, dedication, and innovation are critical to achieving our purpose and delivering value to our riders, drivers, the communities we serve and
shareholders.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in 2007 as Bounder Web, Inc., a Delaware corporation. In 2008, we changed our name to Zimride, Inc. We founded Lyft in 2012 and changed
our name to Lyft, Inc. in 2013 when we sold the assets related to our Zimride operations.

Available Information

Our website is located at www.lyft.com, and our investor relations website is located at investor.lyft.com. Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, are available free of charge on our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material electronically with or furnish it to
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The SEC also maintains a website that contains our SEC filings at www.sec.gov.

We announce material information to the public about us, our products and services and other matters through a variety of means, including filings with the SEC, press
releases, public conference calls, webcasts, the investor relations section of our website (investor.lyft.com), our X accounts (@lyft and @davidrisher), our Chief Executive
Officer’s LinkedIn account (linkedin.com/in/jdavidrisher) and our blogs (including: lyft.com/blog, lyft.com/hub and eng.lyft.com) in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary
distribution of information to the public and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. The contents of our websites and corporate reports mentioned
herein are not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites or
the contents of our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

10



Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of
the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before making a decision to invest in our Class A common stock. Our business, financial condition,
results of operations or prospects could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material. If any of the risks
actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock
could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. For the purposes of this “Item 1A. Risk Factors” section, riders are passengers who request rides from drivers
on our platform and renters of a shared bike or scooter.

Risk Factor Summary

Our business operations are subject to numerous risks, factors and uncertainties, including those outside of our control, that could cause our actual results to be
harmed, including risks regarding the following:

Operational Factors
* uncertainty regarding the growth of ridesharing and other markets and the unpredictability of our results of operations;
*  our financial performance and any inability to maintain profitability in the future;
*  competition in our industries;
*  our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers and riders;
*  our insurance coverage, the adequacy of our insurance reserves, and the ability of third-party insurance providers to service our auto-related insurance claims;
*  our reputation and brand;
» illegal or improper activity of users of our platform;
» the accuracy of background checks on potential or current drivers and our third-party providers’ ability to effectively conduct such background checks;
*  changes to our pricing practices;
*  the growth and development of our network of shared bikes and scooters and the quality of and supply chain for our network of shared bikes and scooters;
*  our AV technology, partnerships with other companies who offer AV technologies, and the overall development of the AV industry;
e claims from riders, drivers or third parties;
« actual or perceived security or privacy breaches or incidents and resulting interruptions in our availability or the availability of other systems and providers;
*  our reliance on third parties, such as Amazon Web Services, vehicle rental partners, payment processors and other service providers;
*  our ability to operate our Express Drive program;
*  our nascent advertising platform, Lyft Ads;
«  our use of artificial intelligence and machine learning;
+ the development of new offerings on our platform and management of the complexities of such expansion;
* inaccuracies in or changes to our key metrics and estimates;
*  our ability to offer high-quality user support and to deal with fraud;
*  our ability to effectively manage the offerings on our multimodal platform;
*  our ability to effectively manage our pricing methodologies;
e  our company culture;
*  our reliance on key personnel and our ability to attract and retain personnel;

« changes in the Internet, mobile device accessibility, mobile device operating systems and application marketplaces;



+ the interoperability of our platform across third-party applications and services;
»  defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our technology and that of third-party providers or system failures;
« factors relating to our intellectual property rights as well as the intellectual property rights of others;
*  our presence outside the U.S. and any future international expansion;
*  our share repurchase programs, including our ability to realize anticipated long-term stockholder value;
General Economic Factors
*  general macroeconomic conditions;
* natural disasters, public health crises or political crises;
Regulatory and Legal Factors
*  changes in laws and the adoption and interpretation of administrative rules and regulations;
« the classification status of drivers on our platform;
* intellectual property litigation;
«  compliance with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and the protection or transfer of personal data;
« litigation and other proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business;
*  our ability to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting;
* changes in tax laws;
+  assertions from taxing authorities that we should have collected or in the future should collect additional taxes;
*  costs related to operating as a public company;
* climate change and related regulatory developments;
Financing and Transactional Risks

*  our future capital requirements and our ability to service our current and future debt, financial covenants and other operational restrictions contained in our current
debt agreements, and counterparty risk with respect to our capped call transactions;

*  our ability to make and successfully integrate acquisitions and investments or complete divestitures, joint ventures, partnerships or other strategic transactions;
*  our tax liabilities, ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and future changes in tax matters;
Governance Risks and Risks related to Ownership of our Capital Stock
« the volatility of the trading price of our Class A common stock;
* provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that may make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult; and

*  exclusive forum provisions in our bylaws.

Risks Related to Operational Factors
Our evolving business makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter.

Since our ridesharing marketplace launched in 2012, we have primarily focused on ridesharing, particularly in North America. However, our business and strategy
continue to evolve. We regularly expand our platform features, offerings and services and change our pricing methodologies, and we have recently engaged in more significant
expansion of our operations to new geographies and new offerings. In July 2025, we expanded our operations beyond North America, entering nine new countries and more
than 180 cities through our acquisition of Freenow, a leading European multimodal app with taxi offering at its core. In October 2025, we acquired TBR, a global luxury
chauffeuring company that operates in thousands of cities worldwide. Our evolving business, industry and markets make it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the
risks and challenges we may encounter including our ability to:

«  forecast our Gross Bookings, revenue and operating results and budget for and manage our expenses;

«  attract new qualified drivers and new riders, and retain existing qualified drivers and existing riders in a cost-effective manner;
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« effectively and competitively price our services and determine appropriate pricing methodologies, including in reaction to competitive pressures;
*  successfully develop new platform features, offerings and services to enhance the experience of users;
*  comply with existing and new or modified laws and regulations applicable to our business;

* manage our platform and our business assets and expenses in light of economic and other developments, including changes in rider behavior and demand for our
services;

* plan for and manage capital expenditures for our current and future offerings, including our network of shared bikes and scooters and certain vehicles in the Express
Drive program, and manage our supply chain and supplier relationships related to our current and future offerings;

*  develop, manufacture, source, deploy, sell, maintain and ensure utilization of our assets, including our network of shared bikes and scooters and certain vehicles in the
Express Drive program;

« anticipate and respond to macroeconomic changes and changes in market dynamics in the markets in which we operate;

*  maintain and enhance the value of our reputation and brand;

»  successfully expand our geographic reach and manage our international operations, including new business models and regulatory environments;
* hire, integrate and retain talented people at all levels of our organization; and

« effectively manage our real estate footprint.

If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this “Risk
Factors” section, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Further, because we have an evolving business and financial model and
operate in rapidly evolving markets, any predictions about our future Gross Bookings, revenue, expenses and earnings may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a
static financial model or operated in a more predictable market. From time to time, we have also reevaluated and changed our cost structure and focused our business model,
which may result in increased expenses in the near term or reductions in revenue. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate
our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected, which could, in turn, cause our stock price to decline.

Our financial performance in recent periods may not be indicative of future performance, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We achieved net income, on a GAAP basis, in the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2025, however, we incurred net losses every other year since our inception, and
we may not be able to achieve or maintain GAAP profitability. We expect that our financial performance, including our net income and Adjusted EBITDA, will continue to
fluctuate in future periods. We can provide no assurances that we will achieve or maintain profitability in the future, on a quarterly or annual basis.

While we remain focused on operating efficiently, our expenses may increase in the future as we develop and launch new offerings and platform features, expand in
existing and new markets, including new geographies, and continue to invest in our platform and customer engagement. In addition, certain costs, such as insurance and driver
pay and incentives have increased or fluctuated as a result of macroeconomic factors and the development and maturation of our business and the rideshare industry, and may
continue to do so. We may be unable to accurately predict these costs and our investments may not result in increased revenue or growth in our business. For example, we have
incurred and will continue to incur additional costs and expenses associated with the passage of Proposition 22 in California, HB 2076 in Washington, and elsewhere, and
implementation of operational changes as part of agreements with the New York and Massachusetts Attorneys General, including providing drivers in these states with new
earnings opportunities and protections, including contributions towards on-the-job injury insurance, other benefits and minimum guaranteed earnings. In addition, various
jurisdictions have introduced legislation setting high earnings standards and increasing other costs to the business including insurance and industry-wide sectoral bargaining for
rideshare drivers. Due to various factors, including inflation, we anticipate that our insurance costs will continue to increase and will impact our profitability. Furthermore, we
have expanded over time to include more asset-intensive offerings such as our network of shared bikes and scooters, our purchase and/or operation of AVs and related
infrastructure, and Flexdrive. These offerings and programs require significant capital investments and recurring costs, including debt payments, maintenance, depreciation,
asset life and asset replacement costs, and if we are not able to maintain sufficient levels of utilization of such assets, such offerings are otherwise not successful or we decide to
shut down any such offerings, our investments may not generate sufficient returns and our financial condition may be adversely affected. In addition to the above, a
determination in, resolution of, or settlement of, any legal proceeding related to driver classification matters may require us to significantly alter our existing business model
and operations (including potentially suspending or ceasing operations in impacted jurisdictions), increase our costs and impact our ability to add qualified drivers to our
platform and grow our business, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and our ability to achieve or maintain
profitability
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in the future. Additionally, stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs and other equity awards is expected to continue to be a significant expense for the foreseeable
future, and as of December 31, 2025, we had $140.5 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to all unvested awards, net of estimated forfeitures, that
will be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 8 months. Any failure to increase our revenue sufficiently to keep pace with our investments and other
expenses could prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability or positive cash flow on a consistent basis. If we are unable to successfully address these risks and
challenges as we encounter them, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

As our business evolves, our revenue growth rates and results of operations will fluctuate due to a number of reasons, which may include changes in the
macroeconomic environment, slowing demand for our offerings, increasing competition or changes in market dynamics, a decrease in the growth of our overall market or
market saturation, varying profitability of different offerings, increased expenses due to investments, public health crises, increasing regulatory costs and challenges and
resulting changes to our business model and our failure to capitalize on growth opportunities. If we are unable to generate adequate revenue growth and manage our expenses,
we may continue to incur significant losses in the future and may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability.

We face intense competition and could lose market share to our competitors, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The market for TaaS networks is intensely competitive and characterized by rapid changes in technology, shifting levels of supply and demand and frequent
introductions of new services and offerings. We expect competition to continue, both from current competitors and new entrants in the market that may be well-established and
enjoy greater resources or other strategic or technological advantages. If we are unable to anticipate or successfully react to competitive challenges in a timely manner, our
competitive position could weaken, or fail to improve, and we could experience fluctuations or a decline in market share, a decline in Gross Bookings, revenue or growth
stagnation that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our market share has fluctuated over time and we have had to take actions,
such as price cuts, that have negative impacts on our financial results in the short term, either because of decreased revenue or increased investments, or both, that we believe
will benefit our company in the long term.

Our main ridesharing competitor in the U.S. and Canada is Uber, and in Europe, our main competitors for app-based intermediation services for taxi and private hire
vehicles are Uber and Bolt, though we also compete with other TNCs and taxicab and livery companies, as well as traditional automotive manufacturers and technology
companies. Our main competitors in bike and scooter sharing include Lime, Bird, Fifteen, nextbike and Dott. We also compete with other manufacturers of bike and scooter
sharing equipment for sales of such equipment, particularly in markets outside of the U.S.

Additionally, there are other non-U.S.-based TaaS network companies, bike and scooter sharing companies, consumer vehicle rental companies, non-ridesharing TNCs
and traditional automotive manufacturers that may expand into North America and Europe. There are also a number of companies developing and introducing AV technology
and TaaS offerings that either are competing with us or may compete with us in the future, including Alphabet (Waymo), Amazon (Zoox), Baidu, Bolt, and Tesla as well as
many other technology companies and automobile manufacturers and suppliers. We anticipate continued challenges from current competitors as well as from new entrants into
the TaaS market.

Within each of these markets, the cost to switch between products is low. Riders have a propensity to shift to the lowest-cost or highest-quality provider and could use
more than one platform; drivers have a propensity to shift to the platform with the highest earnings potential. In addition, certain of our competitors and potential competitors
have greater financial, technical, marketing, research and development, manufacturing and other resources, greater name recognition, longer operating histories or a larger user
base than we do. They may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of offerings and offer lower prices than we do, which could adversely
affect the health of our marketplace and our results of operations. Further, they may have greater resources to deploy towards the research, development and commercialization
of new technologies, including AV technology or networks of shared bikes and scooters, or they may have other financial, technical or resource advantages. These factors may
allow our competitors or potential competitors to derive greater Gross Bookings, revenue and profits from their existing user bases, attract and retain qualified drivers and riders
at lower costs, offer more attractive pricing on their platforms or respond more quickly to new and emerging technologies, revenue opportunities and trends. Our current and
potential competitors may also establish cooperative or strategic relationships, or consolidate, amongst themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources
and offerings. We have entered into strategic collaborations and partnerships with certain of the aforementioned competitors, including with respect to AVs, and these
partnerships may lead to actual or perceived conflicts of interest or misalignment of strategic objectives.

We believe that our ability to compete effectively depends upon many factors both within and beyond our control, and if we are unable to compete successfully, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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If our markets do not continue to grow, grow more slowly than we expect or fail to grow as large or otherwise develop as we expect, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

The U.S. ridesharing market was introduced in 2012 and has continued to grow over time. However, it is uncertain to what extent the market will continue to grow, if
at all. New technologies and changing consumer preferences may decrease or shift the ridesharing market. In addition, the market for our other offerings, such as our network
of shared bikes and scooters, is continuing to develop and change, and it is uncertain whether demand for bike and scooter sharing will continue to grow and achieve wide
market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the willingness of people to widely adopt ridesharing and our other offerings across a variety of use cases,
as well as our ability to shift our business model in line with consumer preferences. If the public does not perceive ridesharing or our other offerings as beneficial, or chooses
not to adopt them as a result of concerns regarding public health or safety, affordability, longer-term behavioral and social shifts, or for other reasons, whether as a result of
incidents on our platform or on our competitors’ platforms, health concerns, or otherwise, then the market for our offerings may not further develop, may develop more slowly
than we expect or may not achieve the growth potential we expect. Additionally, from time to time we re-evaluate the markets in which we operate and the performance of our
offerings, and we have discontinued and may in the future discontinue operations in certain markets if, among other reasons, such markets are not developing as we expected.
Any of the foregoing risks and challenges could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to cost-effectively attract and retain qualified drivers on our platform, or to increase the utilization of our platform by existing drivers, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be harmed.

Our continued growth depends in part on our ability to cost-effectively attract and retain qualified drivers who satisfy our screening criteria and procedures as well as
our ability to increase their utilization of our platform. To attract and retain qualified drivers, we have, among other things, offered sign-up and referral bonuses, various driver
incentives, developed new programs such as guaranteed earnings, and provided access to third-party vehicle rental programs for drivers who do not have or do not wish to use
their own vehicle. Drivers are generally able to switch between our platform and competing platforms. If we do not continue to provide drivers with flexibility on our platform,
compelling opportunities to increase earnings and other incentive programs, such as demand-based bonuses, that are comparable or superior to those of our competitors and
other companies in the app-based work industry or other industries, or if drivers become dissatisfied with our programs and benefits or our requirements for drivers, including
requirements regarding the vehicles they drive, we may fail to attract new drivers, retain current drivers or increase their utilization of our platform, or we may experience
complaints, negative publicity, strikes or other work stoppages that could adversely affect our users and our business. For example, from time to time, in order to attract and
retain drivers, and ensure an adequate supply of drivers to meet rider demand as well maintain our expectations for rider service, we offer increased incentives to improve driver
supply. Our revenue and results of operations have been and may in the future be negatively impacted by supply incentives to the extent such incentives do not result in
increased revenue or reduce our profitability. Additionally, we are required to provide benefits to drivers in certain markets in response to regulations or settlement agreements,
including in California, New York and Massachusetts. Other jurisdictions have adopted or may adopt similar laws and regulations, and we may reach similar or other
settlements with other jurisdictions, any of which may increase our expenses. Litigation seeking to reclassify drivers as employees is pending and/or threatened in multiple
jurisdictions, including as described in the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If such litigation is successful in one or more jurisdictions, we may be required to classify drivers as employees rather than independent
contractors in those jurisdictions. If we are required to shift our business model to classify drivers as employees, we would incur significant additional expenses that we may
need to develop new offerings and approaches to attract and retain such drivers. These changes in our model would have significant adverse impacts on our business and
operating results.

If drivers are unsatisfied with certain of our partners, including our third-party vehicle rental partners, our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers and to increase
their utilization of our platform could be adversely affected. Further, incentives we provide to attract drivers could fail to attract and retain qualified drivers or fail to increase
utilization, or could have other unintended adverse consequences. In addition, changes in certain laws and regulations, including immigration, labor and employment laws or
background check requirements, may result in a shift or decrease in the pool of qualified drivers, which may result in increased competition for qualified drivers or higher costs
of recruitment, operation and retention. As part of our business operations or research and development efforts, data on the vehicle may be collected and drivers may be
uncomfortable or unwilling to drive knowing that data is being collected. Other factors outside of our control, such as concerns about personal health and safety, increases in the
price of gasoline, vehicles or insurance, or concerns about the availability of government or other assistance programs if drivers continue to drive on our platform, may also
reduce the number of drivers on our platform or their utilization of our platform, or impact our ability to onboard new drivers. If we fail to attract qualified drivers on favorable
terms, fail to increase their utilization of our platform or lose qualified drivers to our competitors, we may not be able to meet the demand of riders, including maintaining a
competitive price of rides to riders, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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If we fail to cost-effectively attract new riders, or to increase utilization of our platform by existing riders, our business, financial condition and results of operations could
be harmed.

Our success depends in part on our ability to cost-effectively attract new riders, retain existing riders and increase utilization of our platform by current riders. Riders
have a wide variety of options for transportation, including personal vehicles, rental cars, taxis, public transit and other ridesharing and bike and scooter sharing offerings. Rider
preferences may also change from time to time. To expand our rider base, we must appeal to new riders who have historically used other forms of transportation or other
platforms. We believe that our paid marketing initiatives have been and will continue to be critical in promoting awareness of our offerings, which in turn drives new rider
growth and rider utilization. However, our reputation, brand and ability to build trust with existing and new riders may be adversely affected by complaints and negative
publicity about us, our offerings, our policies, including our pricing algorithms and pricing policies, the quality of our service, including timely pick-ups, drivers on our
platform, or our competitors, even if factually incorrect or based on isolated incidents. Further, if existing and new riders do not perceive the transportation services provided by
drivers on our platform to be reliable, safe and affordable, or if we fail to offer new and relevant offerings and features on our platform, we may not be able to attract or retain
riders or to increase their utilization of our platform. As we continue to expand into new geographic areas, we will be relying in part on referrals from our existing riders to
attract new riders, and therefore we must ensure that our existing riders remain satisfied with our offerings. In addition, we have experienced and may continue to experience
seasonality in both ridesharing and bikes and scooters rentals during the winter months, which may harm our ability to attract and retain riders during such periods. From time
to time, we have also experienced volatility in the health of our overall marketplace. We cannot predict whether these impacts will continue, including longer term. If we fail to
continue to grow our rider base, retain existing riders or increase the overall utilization of our platform by existing riders, we may not be able to provide drivers with an
adequate level of ride requests, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, if we do not achieve sufficient utilization
of our asset-intensive offerings such as our network of shared bikes and scooters, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We rely substantially on our wholly-owned subsidiary and deductibles to insure auto-related risks and on third-party insurance policies to insure and reinsure our
operations-related risks. If our insurance or reinsurance coverage is insufficient for the needs of our business or our insurance providers are unable to meet their
obligations, we may not be able to mitigate the risks facing our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We require drivers to carry automobile insurance in most countries we offer services in, and in many cases we also procure insurance on behalf of drivers. From the
time a driver becomes available to accept rides in the Lyft App until the driver logs off and is no longer available to accept rides, we, through our wholly-owned insurance
subsidiary and deductibles, often bear substantial financial risk with respect to auto-related incidents, including auto liability, uninsured and underinsured motorist, auto
physical damage, first party injury coverages including personal injury protection under U.S. state law and general business liabilities up to certain limits. To comply with
insurance regulatory requirements in jurisdictions we operate in, we procure a number of third-party insurance policies which provide the required coverage in such
jurisdictions. In nearly all U.S. states, our insurance subsidiary reinsures a portion, which may change from time to time, of the auto-related risk from some third-party
insurance providers. In connection with our reinsurance and deductible arrangements, we deposit funds into trust accounts with a third-party financial institution from which
some third-party insurance providers are reimbursed for claims payments. As we continue to expand our international footprint, we face increasingly complex and diverse
regulatory insurance frameworks. If we fail to comply with these evolving regulatory frameworks, or if our third-party insurance providers or claims administrators become
insolvent or otherwise fail to fulfill their obligations, we may be exposed to significant unmitigated losses. Such events could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We also procure third-party insurance policies to cover various operations-related risks including employment practices liability, workers’ compensation, business
interruptions, cybersecurity and data breaches, crime, directors’ and officers’ liability and general business liabilities. For certain types of operations-related risks or future risks
related to our new and evolving offerings, we may not be able to, or may choose not to, acquire insurance. In addition, we may not obtain enough insurance to adequately
mitigate such operations-related risks or risks related to our new and evolving offerings, and we may have to pay high premiums, self-insured retentions or deductibles for the
coverage we do obtain. Additionally, if any of our insurance or reinsurance providers becomes insolvent, it could be unable to pay any operations-related claims that we make.
Certain losses may be excluded from insurance coverage including, but not limited to losses caused by intentional act, pollution, contamination, virus, bacteria, terrorism, war
and civil unrest.

The amount of one or more auto-related claims or operations-related claims has exceeded and could continue to exceed our applicable aggregate coverage limits, for
which we have borne and could continue to bear a portion of the excess, in addition to amounts already incurred in connection with deductibles, self-insured retentions or
otherwise paid by our insurance subsidiary. Insurance providers have raised premiums and deductibles for many types of coverages and for a variety of commercial risks and
are likely to do so in the future. As a result, our insurance and claims expenses could increase, or we may decide to raise our deductibles or self-insured retentions when our
policies are renewed or replaced to manage pricing pressure. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected if (i) cost per claim,
premiums or the number of claims significantly exceeds our historical experience, (ii) we experience a claim in excess of our coverage limits, (iii) our insurance providers fail
to pay on our
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insurance claims, (iv) we experience a claim for which coverage is not provided, (v) the number of claims and average claim cost under our deductibles or self-insured
retentions differs from historic averages, (vi) an insurance policy is canceled or non-renewed, or (vii) other insurance providers for drivers on our platform become insolvent.

Our actual losses may exceed our insurance reserves, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We establish insurance reserves for claims incurred but not yet paid and claims incurred but not yet reported and any related estimable expenses, and we periodically
evaluate and, as necessary, adjust our actuarial assumptions and insurance reserves as our experience develops or new information is learned. We employ various predictive
modeling and actuarial techniques and make numerous assumptions based on available historical experience and industry statistics to estimate our insurance reserves.
Estimating the number and severity of claims, as well as related judgment or settlement amounts, is inherently difficult, subjective and speculative. While an independent
actuarial firm periodically reviews our reserves for appropriateness and provides claims reserve valuations, a number of external factors can affect the actual losses incurred for
any given claim, including but not limited to the length of time the claim remains open, increases in healthcare costs, increases in automotive costs (including rental vehicles),
legislative and regulatory developments, judicial developments and unexpected events. Such factors can impact the reserves for claims incurred but not yet paid as well as the
actuarial assumptions used to estimate the reserves for claims incurred but not yet reported and any related estimable expenses for current and historical periods. The
automotive insurance industry has experienced rising costs due to, among other things, inflation, supply chain challenges, and the increasing cost of medical care, which has
driven an increase in actual losses in recent periods, and we expect these costs to continue to drive increased actual losses. Additionally, our insurance providers have
encountered in the past, and may encounter in the future, instances of insurance fraud, which could increase our actual insurance-related costs. For any of the foregoing reasons,
our actual losses for claims and related expenses may deviate, individually or in the aggregate, from the insurance reserves reflected in our consolidated financial statements. If
we determine that our estimated insurance reserves are inadequate, we may be required to increase such reserves at the time of the determination, which could result in an
increase to our net loss in the period in which the shortfall is determined and negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations. For example, we have in the
past experienced adverse development where we have needed to increase historical reserves attributable to liabilities in prior periods.

We rely on a limited number of third-party insurance service providers for our auto-related insurance claims, and if such providers fail to service insurance claims to our
expectations or we do not maintain business relationships with them, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We rely on a limited number of third-party insurance service providers to service our auto-related claims. If any of our third-party insurance service providers fail to
service claims to our expectations, discontinues or increases the cost of coverage or changes the terms of such coverage in a manner not favorable to drivers or to us, we cannot
guarantee that we would be able to secure replacement coverage or services on reasonable terms in an acceptable time frame or at all. If we cannot find alternate third-party
insurance service providers on terms acceptable to us, we may incur additional expenses related to servicing such auto-related claims using internal resources.

In recent periods, the automotive insurance industry has experienced rising costs due to, among other things, inflation, supply chain challenges, insurance fraud, and
the cost of medical care, which has harmed our business, financial condition and results of operations, including through increased insurance renewal costs, and we expect it to
continue to negatively impact the automotive insurance industry and our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have, from time to time, ceded portions of retained insurance risk to third-parties, including as described in the “Insurance Reserves” subheading in Note 8
“Supplemental Financial Statement Information” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These transactions may cause us to
incur additional expenses in the total cost of this risk, and we are subject to recapture of the risk if any third-party reinsurer were to default on their reinsurance obligation.

Any negative publicity related to any of our third-party insurance service providers could adversely affect our reputation and brand and could potentially lead to
increased regulatory or litigation exposure. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our reputation, brand and the network effects among the drivers and riders on our platform are important to our success, and if we are not able to maintain and continue
developing our reputation, brand and network effects, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We believe that building a strong reputation and brand as a safe, reliable and affordable platform and continuing to increase the strength of the network effects among
the drivers and riders on our platform are critical to our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers and riders. The successful development of our reputation, brand and
network effects will depend on a number of factors, many of which are outside our control. Negative perception of our platform or company may harm our reputation, brand
and networks effects, including as a result of:
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« complaints or negative publicity about us, drivers on our platform, riders, our product offerings, our ability to deliver on product promises, pricing or our policies and
guidelines, including our practices and policies with respect to drivers, or the ridesharing industry, even if factually incorrect or based on isolated incidents;

« illegal, negligent, reckless or otherwise inappropriate behavior by drivers or riders or third parties, or concerns about the safety of our platform or ridesharing in
general;

» a failure to provide drivers with a sufficient level of ride requests, charge drivers fees and commissions that are competitive or provide drivers with competitive fares
and incentives;

« afailure to offer riders competitive ride pricing and pick-up times or the desired range of ride types;

* actual or perceived disruptions of or defects in our platform, such as privacy or data security breaches or incidents, site outages, payment disruptions or other incidents
that impact the reliability of our offerings;

« litigation over, or investigations by regulators into, our platform or our business, including any adverse resolution of such litigation or investigations;

» users’ lack of awareness of, or compliance with, our policies, changes to our policies that are negatively received, or a failure to enforce our policies in a manner
perceived as effective, fair and transparent;

* a failure to operate our business in a way that is consistent with our stated values and mission, including modification or discontinuation of our community or
sustainability programs, illegal or otherwise inappropriate behavior by our management team or other employees or contractors, or negative perception of our
treatment of employees;

* inadequate or unsatisfactory user support service experiences;

*  negative responses by drivers or riders to new offerings on our platform;

*  negative responses to our entry into new markets and geographies;

« accidents, defects or other negative incidents involving AVs or network of shared bikes and scooters on our platform or bikes and scooters sold to third parties;

«  political or social policies or activities, including our response to employee sentiment related to these matters; or

« any of the foregoing with respect to our competitors, to the extent such resulting negative perception affects the public’s perception of us or our industry as a whole.

If we do not successfully maintain and develop our brand, reputation and network effects and successfully differentiate our offerings from competitive offerings, our
business may not grow, we may not be able to compete effectively and we could lose existing qualified drivers or existing riders or fail to attract new qualified drivers or new
riders, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, changes we may make to enhance and improve our offerings
and balance the needs and interests of the drivers and riders on our platform may be viewed positively from one group’s perspective (such as riders) but negatively from
another’s perspective (such as drivers), or may not be viewed positively by either drivers or riders. If we fail to balance the interests of drivers and riders or make changes that
they view negatively, drivers and riders may stop using our platform, take fewer rides or use alternative platforms, any of which could adversely affect our reputation, brand,
business, financial condition and results of operations.

1llegal, improper or otherwise inappropriate activity of users, whether or not occurring while utilizing our platform, has and could continue to expose us to liability and
harm our business, brand, financial condition and results of operations.

Illegal, improper or otherwise inappropriate activities by users, including the activities of individuals who may have previously engaged with, but are not then
receiving or providing services offered through, our platform or individuals who are intentionally impersonating users of our platform could adversely affect our brand,
business, financial condition and results of operations. These activities may include criminal activity such as assault, theft, unauthorized use of credit and debit cards or bank
accounts, as well as other misconduct such as sharing of rider or driver accounts, and identity theft to create user accounts. While we have implemented various measures
intended to anticipate, identify and address the risk of these types of activities, these measures may not adequately address, and are unlikely to prevent, all illegal, improper or
otherwise inappropriate activity by these parties from occurring in connection with our offerings. Such conduct has and could continue to expose us to liability or adversely
affect our brand or reputation. At the same time, if the measures we have taken to guard against these illegal, improper or otherwise inappropriate activities, such as our
requirement that all U.S. drivers undergo annual background checks or our two-way rating system and related policies, are too restrictive and inadvertently prevent qualified
drivers and riders otherwise in good standing from using our offerings, or if we are unable to implement and communicate these measures fairly and transparently or are
perceived to have failed to do so, the growth and retention of the number of qualified drivers and riders on our platform and their utilization of our platform could be negatively
impacted. Further, any negative publicity related to the foregoing, whether such incident occurred on our platform, on our competitors’ platforms, or on any ridesharing
platform, could adversely affect our reputation and brand or public perception of the
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ridesharing industry as a whole, which could negatively affect demand for platforms like ours, and potentially lead to increased regulatory or litigation exposure. Any of the
foregoing risks could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on third-party background check providers to screen potential and existing drivers, and if such providers fail to furnish and/or provide accurate information, or if
such providers are unable to complete background checks or are delayed in completing background checks because of data access restrictions, software outages,
cyberattacks, or otherwise, or if we do not maintain business relationships with them, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

We rely on third-party background check providers to screen the records of potential and existing drivers to help identify those that are not qualified to utilize our
platform pursuant to applicable laws or our internal standards. Our business has been and may continue to be adversely affected to the extent we cannot attract or retain
qualified drivers as a result of such providers being unable to complete certain background checks, or being significantly delayed in completing certain background checks,
because of data access restrictions, software outages, cyberattacks, unforeseen court or Department of Motor Vehicle closures, or otherwise, or to the extent that they do not
meet their contractual obligations, our expectations or the requirements of applicable laws or regulations. If any of our third-party background check providers terminates its
relationship with us or refuses to renew its agreement with us on commercially reasonable terms, we may need to find an alternate provider, and may not be able to secure
similar terms or replace such partners in an acceptable time frame. If we cannot find alternate third-party background check providers on terms acceptable to us, we may not be
able to timely onboard potential drivers, and as a result, our platform may be less attractive to qualified drivers. Further, if the background checks conducted by our third-party
background check providers do not meet our expectations or the requirements under applicable laws and regulations, unqualified drivers may be permitted to provide rides on
our platform, and as a result, our reputation and brand could be adversely affected and we could be subject to increased regulatory or litigation exposure.

We are also subject to a number of laws and regulations applicable to background checks for potential and existing drivers on our platform. If we or drivers on our
platform fail to comply with applicable laws, rules and legislation, our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Any negative publicity related to any of our third-party background check providers, including publicity related to safety incidents or data security breaches or
incidents, could adversely affect our reputation and brand, and could potentially lead to increased regulatory or litigation exposure. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes to our pricing could adversely affect our ability to attract or retain qualified drivers and riders.

Demand for our offerings is highly sensitive to the price of rides, the rates for time and distance driven, incentives paid to drivers and the fees we charge drivers. Many
factors, including operating costs, legal and regulatory requirements or constraints and our current and future competitors’ pricing and marketing strategies including increased
incentives for drivers, could significantly affect our pricing strategies. Certain of our competitors offer, or may in the future offer, lower-priced or a broader range of offerings.
Similarly, certain competitors may use marketing strategies that enable them to attract or retain qualified drivers and riders at a lower cost than we do. This includes the use of
algorithms to set dynamic prices for riders and earnings for drivers that are dependent on various factors, such as the route, time of day, and pick-up and drop-off locations of
riders. From time to time, we have made pricing changes and spent significant amounts on marketing and both rider and driver incentives, and we expect that, from time to
time, we will be required, through competition, regulation or otherwise, to reduce the price of rides for riders, increase the incentives we pay to drivers on our platform or
reduce the fees we charge the drivers on our platform, or to increase our marketing and other expenses to attract and retain qualified drivers and riders in response to
competitive pressures. These actions may adversely affect our business and financial results and may not have the desired benefits. At times, in certain geographic markets, we
have offered, and may continue to offer, driver incentives that cause the total amount of the fare that a driver retains, combined with the driver incentives a driver receives from
us, to increase, at times meeting or exceeding the amount of Gross Bookings we generate for a given ride. Furthermore, the economic sensitivity of drivers and riders on our
platform may vary by geographic location, and as we expand, our pricing methodologies may not enable us to compete effectively in these locations. Local regulations may
affect our pricing in certain geographic locations, which could amplify these effects. For example, state and local laws and regulations regarding pricing limitations during
government declared States of Emergency have imposed limits on prices for certain services, and state and local laws and regulations have imposed minimum earnings
standards for drivers, which, at times, have caused us to increase prices in certain markets, including California, New York, Washington, Massachusetts and Minnesota. We
have tested or launched, and expect to in the future test or launch, new pricing strategies and initiatives, such as our earnings commitment, subscription packages and driver or
rider loyalty programs. We have also modified, and expect to in the future modify, existing pricing methodologies, such as our up-front pricing policy. To the extent any
strategies, initiatives or modifications to our pricing methodologies lead to real or perceived harm to driver earnings, our ability to attract or retain qualified drivers may be
adversely affected. Any of the foregoing actions may not ultimately be successful in attracting and retaining qualified drivers and riders or may result in loss of market share,
negative public perception and harm to our reputation.

While we continue to maintain that drivers on our platform are not employees in legal and administrative proceedings, our arguments may ultimately be unsuccessful.
A determination in, resolution of, or settlement of, any legal proceeding, whether we are party to such legal proceeding or not, that classifies a driver utilizing a ridesharing
platform as an employee, may require us to revise
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our pricing and earnings methodologies, or make other changes to our business and operations, to account for such a change to driver classification. Proposition 22 in
California, HB 2076 in Washington and agreements with the New York and Massachusetts Attorneys General have enabled us to provide additional earning opportunities to
drivers in those states, including guaranteed earnings. The transition has required, and will continue to require, additional costs and we expect to face other challenges as we
transition drivers to these new models, including changes to our pricing. We have also tested or launched, and may in the future test or launch, certain changes to the rates, fees
and payment structure for drivers on our platform, which may not ultimately be successful in attracting and retaining qualified drivers. Moreover, while the California Supreme
Court rejected a constitutional challenge to Proposition 22 on July 25, 2024, other potential litigation to overturn Proposition 22, litigation over Lyft’s compliance with
Proposition 22, or the reclassification of drivers on our platform as employees could reduce the available supply of drivers as drivers leave the platform due to the changes in
flexibility under an employment model, or other changes we may need to make to our business and operations. While we do and will attempt to optimize ride prices and
balance supply and demand in our ridesharing marketplace, our assessments may not be accurate. We have experienced in the past and may experience in the future
underpricing or overpricing of our offerings due to changes we make to the technology used in our pricing. In addition, if the offerings on our platform change, then we may
need to revise our pricing methodologies. As we continue to launch new and develop existing asset-intensive offerings such as our network of shared bikes and scooters and
certain vehicles in our Express Drive program, factors such as maintenance, debt service, depreciation, asset life, supply chain efficiency and asset replacement may affect our
pricing methodologies. In addition, we have established environmental programs that may also affect our pricing. Any such changes to our pricing methodologies or our ability
to efficiently price our offerings could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to efficiently grow and further develop our network of shared bikes and scooters, which may not grow as we expect or become profitable over time, and
manage the related risks, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

While some major cities have widely adopted bike and scooter sharing, there can be no assurance that new markets we enter will accept, or existing markets will
continue to accept, bike and scooter sharing, and even if they do, that we will be able to execute on our business strategy or that our related offerings will be successful in such
markets. For example, although we have exclusive rights to operate bike or scooter sharing programs in certain jurisdictions, we have faced competition in contravention of
such rights and have incurred costs to defend against such challenges. A negative determination in other legal disputes regarding bike and scooter sharing, including an adverse
determination regarding our existing rights to operate, could adversely affect our competitive position and results of operations. Additionally, we may from time to time be
denied permits to operate, or be temporarily restricted from operating our bike share program or scooter share program in certain jurisdictions due to, among other things,
public health and safety measures. While we do not expect any denial or suspension in an individual region to have a material impact, these denials or suspensions in the
aggregate could adversely affect our business and results of operations. Even if we are able to successfully develop and implement our network of shared bikes and scooters,
there may be heightened public skepticism of this nascent service offering. In particular, there could be negative public perception surrounding bike and scooter sharing,
including the overall safety and the potential for injuries occurring as a result of accidents involving an increased number of bikes and scooters on the road, and the general
safety of the bikes and scooters themselves. Such negative public perception may result from incidents on our platform or incidents involving our competitors’ offerings.

We design and contract to manufacture bikes and scooters using a limited number of external suppliers, and a continuous, stable and cost-effective supply of bikes and
scooters that meets our standards is critical to our operations. We expect to continue to rely on external suppliers in the future. There can be no assurance we will be able to
maintain our existing relationships with these suppliers and continue to be able to source our bikes and scooters on a stable basis, at a reasonable price or at all. We also design
and contract to manufacture certain assets related to our network of shared bikes and scooters and we rely on a small number of suppliers, and in some instances a sole supplier,
for components and manufacturing services. Similarly, we rely on external vendors to provide field services to our bike and scooter operations. There can be no assurance we
will be able to maintain our existing relationships with these vendors. Also, from time to time we transition these services in one or more geographies from one vendor to
another, and the transition process could interrupt or otherwise adversely affect our operations.

The revenue we generate from our network of shared bikes and scooters fluctuates from quarter to quarter due to, among other things, seasonal factors including
weather. Our limited operating history makes it difficult for us to assess the exact nature or extent of the effects of seasonality on our network of shared bikes and scooters,
however, we generally experience a decline in demand for our bike and scooter rentals over the winter season and an increase during more temperate and dry seasons.
Additionally, from time to time we may re-evaluate the markets in which we operate and the performance of our network of shared bikes and scooters, and we have
discontinued and may in the future discontinue operations in certain markets as a result of such evaluations. For example, in recent years, we discontinued our shared scooter
and/or shared bike programs in a number of cities due to a number of factors including onerous contractual requirements, institutionalized theft, and lack of public investment.
Any of the foregoing risks and challenges could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Challenges relating to the supply chain for our network of shared bikes and scooters could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The supply chain for our bikes and scooters exposes us to multiple potential sources of delivery failure or shortages. In the event that our supply of bikes and scooters
or key components is interrupted or there are significant increases in prices, such as due to actual or proposed tariff increases, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected. Changes in business conditions, force majeure, any public health crises or pandemics, governmental or regulatory changes and other
factors beyond our control have affected and could continue to affect our suppliers’ ability to deliver products and our ability to deploy products to the market, or deliver
products to third parties, on a timely basis.

We incur significant costs related to the design, purchase, sourcing and operations of our network of shared bikes and scooters and we expect to continue incurring
such costs. The prices and availability of bikes and scooters and related products may fluctuate depending on factors beyond our control including market and economic
conditions, tariffs, changes to import or export regulations and demand. Substantial increases in prices of these assets or the cost of our operations would increase our costs and
reduce our margins, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, customs authorities may challenge or disagree with our
classification, valuation or country of origin determinations of our imports. Such challenges could result in tariff liabilities, including tariffs on past imports, as well as penalties
and interest. Although we have reserved for potential payments of possible tariff liabilities in our consolidated financial statements, if these liabilities exceed such reserves, our
financial condition could be harmed.

Our bikes and scooters or components thereof, including bikes and scooters and components that we design and contract to manufacture using third-party suppliers,
have experienced and may in the future experience quality problems, product issues or acts of vandalism or theft from time to time, which could result in decreased usage of
our network of shared bikes and scooters or loss of our bikes or scooters. There can be no assurance we will be able to detect and fix all product issues, vandalism or theft of
our bikes and scooters. Failure to do so could result in lost revenue, litigation or regulatory challenges, including personal injury or products liability claims, and harm to our
reputation.

If we are unable to efficiently develop, enable, or implement partnerships with other companies to offer AV technologies on our platform in a timely manner, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We have invested, and plan to continue to invest, in the development of AV-related technology for use on our platform. We currently partner and have partnered in the
past with several companies to develop AV technology and offerings, and to make AV technology and offerings available on our platform. Autonomous driving is a new and
evolving market, which makes it difficult to predict its acceptance, its growth, and the magnitude and timing of necessary investments and other trends, including when it may
be more broadly or commercially available. Our initiatives may not perform as expected, which would reduce the return on our investments in this area and our current or
future partners may decide to terminate or scale back their partnerships with us. For example, in the past we have incurred impairment charges in connection with the wind-
down of an AV partner. Following the sale of our Level 5 self-driving vehicle division in 2021, we no longer develop our own AV technology, so we must develop and maintain
partnerships with other companies to offer AV technology on our platform, and if we are unable to do so, or if we do so at a slower pace or at a higher cost or if our technology
is less capable relative to our competitors, or if our strategy with regard to AV technology development is not successful, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected. Likewise, even if we successfully engage with AV technology partners, if our current or future AV technology partners are delayed or
prevented from developing AV technology, for example, due to regulatory scrutiny or a decrease in available capital, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected. Further, the ecosystem of AV development is complex and certain of our partners are also our competitors. Some of these partners also partner with
our other competitors. Accordingly, these partnerships and relationships may not result in the intended benefits or return on investment we expect, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The AV industry may not continue to develop, or AVs may not be adopted by the market, which could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Autonomous driving involves a complex set of technologies, including the continued development of sensing, computing and control technology. We have relied on
building strategic partnerships with third-party developers of such technologies, as such technologies are costly and in varying stages of maturity. There is no assurance that
these current or future partnerships will result in the development of market-viable technologies or commercial success in a timely manner or at all. In order to gain acceptance,
the reliability of AV technology must continue to advance.

Additional challenges to the development and deployment of AV technology, all of which are outside of our control, include:
*  market acceptance of AVs;
«  state, federal or municipal licensing requirements, safety standards, and other regulatory measures;
* necessary changes to infrastructure to enable adoption;

*  concerns regarding electronic security and privacy;
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* levels of investment by developers of AV technology; and
*  public perception regarding the safety of AVs for drivers, riders, pedestrians and other vehicles on the road.

There are a number of existing laws, regulations and standards that may apply to AV technology, including vehicle standards that were not originally intended to apply
to vehicles that may not have a human driver. Such regulations continue to rapidly evolve, which may increase the likelihood of complex, conflicting or otherwise inconsistent
regulations, which may delay our ability to bring AV technology to market or significantly increase the compliance costs associated with this business strategy. In addition,
there can be no assurance that the market will accept AVs or the timing of such acceptance, if at all, and even if it does, that we will be able to execute on our business strategy
or that our strategy and offerings will be successful in the market. Even if AV technology is successfully developed and implemented, there may be heightened public
skepticism of this nascent technology and its adopters. In particular, there could be negative public perception surrounding AVs, including the overall safety and the potential
for injuries or death occurring as a result of accidents involving AVs and the potential loss of income to human drivers resulting from widespread market adoption of AVs. Such
negative public perception may result from incidents on our platform, incidents on our partners’ or competitors’ platforms, or events around AVs more generally. Any of the
foregoing risks and challenges could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Claims from riders, drivers or third parties that allege harm, whether or not our platform is in use, adversely affect our business, brand, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are regularly subject to claims, lawsuits, investigations and other legal proceedings relating to injuries to, or deaths of, riders, drivers or third-parties. We are also
subject to claims alleging that we are directly or vicariously liable for the acts of the drivers on our platform or for harm related to the actions of drivers, riders, or third parties,
or the management and safety of our platform and our assets, including harm caused by criminal activity. We are also subject to personal injury claims whether or not such
injury actually occurred as a result of activity on our platform. For example, platform users and third parties have in the past asserted legal claims against us in connection with
personal injuries related to the actions of a driver or rider who may have previously utilized our platform, but was not at the time of such injury. We have incurred expenses to
settle personal injury claims, which we sometimes choose to settle for reasons including expediency, protection of our reputation and to prevent the uncertainty of litigating, and
we expect that such expenses will continue to increase as our business grows and we face increasing public scrutiny. Regardless of the outcome of any legal proceeding, any
injuries to, or deaths of, any riders, drivers or third parties could result in negative publicity and harm to our brand, reputation, business, financial condition and results of
operations. Our insurance policies and programs may not provide sufficient coverage to adequately mitigate the potential liability we face, especially where any one incident, or
a group of incidents, could cause disproportionate harm, and we may have to pay high premiums or deductibles for our coverage and, for certain situations and/or categories of
claims, we may not be able to secure coverage at all.

As we operate our network of shared bikes and scooters, we are subject to claims, lawsuits, investigations or other legal proceedings related to injuries to, or deaths of,
riders of our shared bikes and scooters, including potential indemnification claims. In some cases, we could be required to indemnify governmental entities or operating
partners for claims arising out of issues, including issues that may be outside of our control, such as the condition of the public right of way. Any such claims arising from the
use of our network of shared bikes and scooters, regardless of merit or outcome, could lead to negative publicity, harm to our reputation and brand, significant legal, regulatory
or financial exposure or decreased use of our network of shared bikes and scooters. Further, the bikes and scooters we design and contract to manufacture using third-party
suppliers and manufacturers, including certain assets and components we design and have manufactured for us, have in the past contained and could in the future contain design
or manufacturing product issues, which could also lead to injuries or death to riders. There can be no assurance we will be able to detect, prevent, or fix all product issues, and
failure to do so could harm our reputation and brand or result in personal injury or products liability claims or regulatory proceedings. Any of the foregoing risks could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our shared bikes and scooters have experienced product issues from time to time, which has in the past resulted in, and, in the future may result in, product recalls and
removal from service, injuries, litigation, enforcement actions and regulatory proceedings, and could adversely affect our business, brand, financial condition and results
of operations.

We design, contract to design and manufacture, sell, and directly and indirectly modify, maintain and repair bikes and scooters for our network of shared bikes and
scooters. Such bikes and scooters have in the past contained, and, in the future may contain, product issues related to their design, materials or construction, may be improperly
maintained or repaired or may be subject to vandalism. These product issues, improper maintenance or repair or vandalism have in the past unexpectedly interfered, and could
in the future unexpectedly interfere, with the intended operations of the bikes or scooters, and have resulted, and could in the future result, in other safety concerns, including
alleged injuries to riders or third parties. Although we, our contract manufacturers, and our third-party service providers test our bikes and scooters before they are deployed
onto our network or sold, there can be no assurance we will be able to detect or prevent all product issues.

Failure to detect, prevent, fix or timely report real or perceived product issues and vandalism, or to properly maintain or repair our bikes and scooters has resulted or
may result in a variety of consequences including product recalls and removal from service, service interruptions, alleged injuries, litigation, enforcement actions, including
fines or penalties, regulatory proceedings, and
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negative publicity. Even if injuries to riders or third parties are not the result of any product issues in, vandalism of, or the failure to properly maintain or repair our bikes or
scooters, we may incur expenses to defend or settle any claims or respond to regulatory inquiries, and our brand and reputation may be harmed. Any of the foregoing risks
could also result in decreased usage of our network of shared bikes and scooters and adversely affect our business, brand, financial conditions and results of operations.

Any actual or perceived security or privacy breach or incident could interrupt our operations, harm our brand and adversely affect our reputation, brand, business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our business involves the collection, storage, transmission and other processing of our users’ personal data and other sensitive data. Additionally, we maintain other
confidential, proprietary, or otherwise sensitive information relating to our business, including intellectual property, and similar information we receive from third parties.
Unauthorized parties have in the past gained access, and may in the future gain access, to systems or facilities we maintain or use in our business through various means,
including gaining unauthorized access into our systems or facilities or those of our service providers, partners or users on our platform, or attempting to fraudulently induce our
employees, service providers, partners, users or others into disclosing rider names, passwords, payment card information or other sensitive information, which may in turn be
used to access our information technology systems, or attempting to fraudulently induce our employees, partners, customers, users or others into manipulating payment
information, resulting in the fraudulent transfer of funds to criminal actors. In addition, users on our platform could have vulnerabilities on their own devices that are entirely
unrelated to our systems and platform, but could mistakenly attribute their own vulnerabilities to us. Further, breaches or incidents experienced by other companies may be
leveraged against us. For example, credential stuffing attacks are common and sophisticated actors can mask their attacks, making them difficult to identify and prevent. Certain
efforts may be state-sponsored or supported by significant financial and technological resources, making them more difficult to detect.

Although we have developed systems and processes designed to protect our users’ data and prevent breaches and incidents, these measures cannot guarantee total
security or prevent incidents from impacting our platform. Our information technology and infrastructure are subject to cyberattacks, breaches and incidents, including
ransomware or other malware, which have resulted in and may result in interruptions to our operations or unavailability of our platform. Further, unauthorized parties or
authorized third parties may be able to access our users’ personal information and payment card data that are accessible through those systems. Additionally, as we expand our
operations, including licensing or sharing data with third parties and acquiring or partnering with other companies, we increasingly have employees or third-party relationships
in jurisdictions outside the U.S., or expand work-from-home practices of our employees, our exposure to cyberattacks, breaches and incidents may increase. As a result of
conflicts such as the war in Ukraine, there may be a heightened risk of potential cyberattacks by state actors or others. Further, employee and service provider error,
malfeasance or other vulnerabilities, bugs or errors in the storage, use or transmission of personal information could result in an actual or perceived breach or incident. In the
past, there have been allegations regarding violations of our policies restricting access to personal information we store, and we may be subject to these types of allegations in
the future. Our service providers also face various security threats, and we and our third-party service providers may not have the resources or technical sophistication to
anticipate, prevent, respond to, or mitigate cyberattacks or security breaches or incidents, and we or they may face difficulties or delays in identifying and responding to
cyberattacks, breaches and incidents.

Any actual or perceived breach or incident affecting us or other parties with which we share data or that are processing data on our behalf could interrupt our
operations, result in our platform being unavailable or otherwise disrupted, result in loss, alteration, unavailability or unauthorized use, disclosure or other processing of data,
result in fraudulent transfer of funds, harm our reputation and brand, damage our relationships with third-party partners, result in regulatory investigations and other
proceedings, private claims, demands, litigation and other proceedings, loss of our ability to accept credit or debit card payments, increased card processing fees, and other
significant legal, regulatory and financial exposure and lead to loss of driver or rider confidence in, or decreased use of, our platform, any of which could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, any actual or perceived compromise, breach or incident impacting AVs, whether through our platform or our
competitors’, could result in legal, regulatory and financial exposure and lead to loss of rider confidence in our platform, which could significantly undermine our business.
Further, any cyberattacks directed toward, or breaches or incidents impacting, our competitors could reduce confidence in the ridesharing industry as a whole and, as a result,
reduce confidence in us.

We incur significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent security breaches and other security-related incidents and we expect our costs will increase as we continue
to implement systems and processes designed to prevent and address security breaches and incidents. In the event of a future breach or incident, we could be required to expend
additional significant capital and other resources in an effort to respond to or prevent further breaches or incidents, which may require us to divert substantial resources.
Moreover, we could be required or otherwise find it appropriate to expend significant capital and other resources to respond to, notify third parties of, and otherwise address the
breach or incident and its root cause.

Additionally, defending against claims or litigation based on any actual or perceived privacy or security breach or incident, regardless of their merit, could be costly
and divert management’s attention. We cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for such liabilities, that insurance will continue to be available to us on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that
exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of
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large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have an adverse effect on our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We primarily rely on Amazon Web Services to deliver our offerings to users on our platform, and any disruption of or interference with our use of Amazon Web Services
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently host our platform and support our operations using Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), a third-party provider of cloud infrastructure services. We do not
have control over the operations of the facilities of AWS that we use. AWS’ facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters, cyberattacks, terrorist
attacks, power outages and similar events or acts of misconduct, and AWS has experienced, and caused their users to experience, service outages and interruptions for a variety
of reasons which has impacted us in the past. Our platform’s continuing and uninterrupted performance is critical to our success. We have experienced, and expect that in the
future we will experience interruptions, delays and outages in service and availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or
software errors, website hosting disruptions and capacity constraints. In addition, any changes in AWS’ service levels may adversely affect our ability to meet the requirements
of users. Since our platform’s continuing and uninterrupted performance is critical to our success, sustained or repeated system failures would reduce the attractiveness of our
offerings. It may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our performance, especially during peak usage times, as we expand and the usage of our offerings
increases. Any negative publicity arising from these disruptions could harm our reputation and brand and may adversely affect the usage of our offerings.

Our commercial agreement with AWS will remain in effect until expiration in December 2030. AWS or Lyft may terminate the agreement for cause upon a material
breach of the agreement, subject to either party providing prior written notice and a 30-day cure period. In the event that our agreement with AWS is terminated or we add
additional cloud infrastructure service providers, we may experience significant costs or downtime in connection with the transfer to, or the addition of, new cloud
infrastructure service providers. Any of the above circumstances or events may harm our reputation and brand, reduce the availability or usage of our platform, lead to a
significant short term loss of revenue, increase our costs and impair our ability to attract new users, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

On December 30, 2025, we entered into an addendum to our commercial agreement with AWS, pursuant to which we committed to spend an aggregate of at least
$562.5 million between January 2026 and December 2030 on AWS services, with a minimum amount of $100 million in each of the five years. If we fail to meet the minimum
purchase commitment during any year, we may be required to pay the difference, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on third-party and affiliate vehicle rental partners for our Express Drive program, as well as third-party vehicle supply, fleet management and finance partners to
support our Express Drive program, and if we cannot manage our relationships with such parties and other risks related to our Express Drive program, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We rely on third-party and affiliate vehicle rental partners as well as third-party vehicle supply, fleet management and finance partners to supply vehicles to drivers for
our Express Drive program. If any of our third-party vehicle rental partners or third-party vehicle supply, fleet management and finance partners terminates its relationship with
us or refuses to renew its agreement with us on commercially reasonable terms, the availability of vehicles for drivers in certain markets could be adversely impacted, and we
may need to find an alternate provider, and may not be able to secure similar terms or replace such partners in an acceptable time frame. Similarly, in the event that vehicle
manufacturers issue recalls that affect the usage or the supply of vehicles or automotive parts is interrupted, including as a result of public health crises or pandemics, affecting
vehicles in these partners’ fleets, the supply of vehicles available from these partners could become constrained. If we cannot find alternate third-party vehicle rental providers
on terms acceptable to us, or these partners’ fleets are impacted by events such as vehicle recalls, we may not be able to meet the driver and consumer demand for rental
vehicles, and as a result, our platform may be less attractive to qualified drivers and consumers. In addition, due to a number of factors, including our agreements with our
vehicle rental partners and our auto-related insurance program, we incur an incrementally higher insurance cost from our Express Drive program compared to the corresponding
cost from the rest of our ridesharing marketplace offerings. If Flexdrive, Lyft’s independently managed subsidiary, is unable to manage costs of operating Flexdrive’s fleet and
potential shortfalls between such costs and the rental fees collected from drivers, Lyft and Flexdrive may update the pricing methodologies related to Flexdrive’s offering in
Lyft’s Express Drive program which could increase prices, and in turn adversely affect our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers through the Express Drive program.

Any negative publicity related to any of our third-party and affiliate vehicle rental partners, including publicity related to quality standards or safety concerns, could
adversely affect our reputation and brand and could potentially lead to increased regulatory or litigation exposure. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our Express Drive program and potential future fleet businesses expose us to certain risks, including reductions in the utilization of vehicles in the fleets.

Our independently managed subsidiary, Flexdrive operates a portion of the Express Drive vehicle rental program for drivers and sources its fleet from a range of auto
manufacturers. In addition, we have established environmental programs that may limit the range of auto manufacturers or vehicles that Flexdrive can source or purchase from.
To the extent that any of these auto manufacturers
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significantly curtail production, increase the cost of purchasing cars or decline to provide cars to Flexdrive on terms or at prices consistent with past agreements, Flexdrive may
be unable to obtain a sufficient number of vehicles for Lyft to operate the Express Drive business without significantly increasing fleet costs or reducing volumes. In the event
of natural disasters or public health crises or pandemics, operating rental locations may be difficult or impossible. Flexdrive’s ability to make vehicles available for rent through
the Express Drive program, or demand for the Express Drive Program, has been and could be adversely affected, resulting in reduced utilization of the vehicles in the fleets,
which would adversely affect our profitability.

In addition, macroeconomic factors such as tariffs and import restrictions may lead to an increase in new vehicle prices and/or availability. Flexdrive has previously
experienced and may in the future experience production and delivery delays which can hinder its ability to meet demand and grow the fleet. New vehicle production delays
also lead to holding onto existing vehicles longer which in turn leads to increased costs relating to those vehicles.

The costs of the fleet vehicles may also be adversely impacted by the relative strength of the used car market. Flexdrive currently sells vehicles through auctions, third-
party resellers and other channels in the used vehicle marketplace. Such channels may not produce stable used vehicle prices and Flexdrive has experienced fluctuations in the
used car market. It may be difficult to estimate the residual value of vehicles used in ridesharing, such as those rented to drivers through our Express Drive program. If
Flexdrive is unable to obtain and maintain the fleet of vehicles cost-efficiently or if Flexdrive is unable to accurately forecast the residual values of vehicles in the fleet, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We rely on third-party payment processors to process payments made by riders and payments made to drivers on our platform, and if we cannot manage our relationships
with such third parties and other payment-related risks, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We rely on a limited number of third-party payment processors to process payments made by riders and payments made to drivers on our platform. If any of our third-
party payment processors terminates its relationship with us or refuses to renew its agreement with us on commercially reasonable terms, we would need to find an alternate
payment processor, and may not be able to secure similar terms or replace such payment processor in an acceptable time frame. Further, the software and services provided by
our third-party payment processors may not meet our expectations, contain errors or vulnerabilities, be compromised or experience outages. Any of these risks could cause us to
lose our ability to accept online payments or other payment transactions or make timely payments to drivers on our platform, any of which could make our platform less
convenient and attractive to users and adversely affect our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers and riders.

Nearly all rider payments and driver payouts are made by credit card, debit card or through third-party payment services, which subjects us to certain payment network
or service provider operating rules, to certain regulations and to the risk of fraud. We may in the future offer new payment options to riders that may be subject to additional
operating rules, regulations and risks. We may also be subject to a number of other laws and regulations relating to the payments we accept from riders, including with respect
to money laundering, money transfers, privacy, data protection and information security. If we fail to comply with applicable rules and regulations, we may be subject to civil or
criminal penalties, fines or higher transaction fees and may lose our ability to accept online payments or other payment card transactions, which could make our offerings less
convenient and attractive to riders. If any of these events were to occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

For example, if we are deemed to be a money transmitter as defined by applicable regulation, we could be subject to certain laws, rules and regulations enforced by
multiple authorities and governing bodies in the U.S. and numerous state and local agencies who may define money transmitter differently. For example, certain states may
have a more expansive view of who qualifies as a money transmitter. Additionally, outside of the U.S., we could be subject to additional laws, rules and regulations related to
the provision of payments and financial services, and if we expand into new jurisdictions, the foreign regulations and regulators governing our business that we are subject to
will expand as well. If we are found to be a money transmitter under any applicable regulation and we are not in compliance with such regulations, we may be subject to fines
or other penalties in one or more jurisdictions levied by federal, state or local regulators, including state Attorneys General, as well as those levied by foreign regulators. In
addition to fines, penalties for failing to comply with applicable rules and regulations could include criminal and civil proceedings, forfeiture of significant assets or other
enforcement actions. We could also be required to make changes to our business practices or compliance programs as a result of regulatory scrutiny.

For various payment options, we are required to pay fees such as interchange and processing fees that are imposed by payment processors, payment networks and
financial institutions. These fees are subject to increases, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Additionally, our payment
processors require us to comply with payment card network operating rules, which are set and interpreted by the payment card networks and which include, among other
obligations, requirements to comply with security standards. The payment card networks could adopt new operating rules or interpret or re-interpret existing rules in ways that
might prohibit us from providing certain offerings to some users, be costly to implement or difficult to follow, and if we fail or are alleged to fail to comply with applicable
rules or requirements of payment card networks, we may be subject to fines or higher transaction fees and may lose our ability to accept online payments or other payment card
transactions. We have agreed to reimburse our payment processors for fines they are assessed by payment card networks if we or the
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users on our platform violate these rules. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on other third-party service providers and if such third parties do not perform adequately or terminate their relationships with us, our costs may increase and our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on our relationships with other third-party service providers. For example, we rely on third-party encryption and authentication
technologies licensed from third parties that are designed to securely transmit personal information provided by drivers and riders on our platform. Further, from time to time,
we enter into strategic commercial partnerships in connection with the development of new technology, the growth of our qualified driver base, the provision of new or
enhanced offerings for users on our platform and our expansion into new markets. If any of our partners terminates its relationship with us, or refuses to renew its agreement
with us on commercially reasonable terms, we would need to find an alternate provider, and may not be able to secure similar terms or replace such providers in an acceptable
time frame. Similarly, in the event that our strategic partners experience a disruption in their operations, our ability to continue providing certain product offerings could
become constrained. If we cannot find alternate partners, we may not be able to meet the demand for these product offerings, and as a result, these offerings and our platform
may become less attractive. We also rely on other software and services supplied by third parties, such as communications and internal software, and our business may be
adversely affected to the extent such software and services do not meet our expectations, contain errors or vulnerabilities, are compromised or experience outages. Any of these
risks could increase our costs and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, any negative publicity related to any of our third-party
partners, including any publicity related to quality standards or safety concerns, could adversely affect our reputation and brand, and could potentially lead to increased
regulatory or litigation exposure. In addition, in certain cases, we rely on these third-party partners to provide certain data that is important to the management of our business.
Errors in the data, or failure to provide data in a timely manner, could adversely affect our ability to manage our business and could impact the accuracy of our financial
reporting.

We use and incorporate technology and intellectual property from third parties into our platform, products, and services. We cannot be certain that such technology,
intellectual property, or third parties are not infringing the intellectual property rights of others or that these third parties have sufficient rights to the technology or intellectual
property in all jurisdictions in which we may operate. Some of our license agreements may be terminated by our licensors for convenience. If we are unable to obtain or
maintain rights to any of this technology because of intellectual property infringement claims brought by third parties against our suppliers and licensors or against us, or if we
are unable to continue to obtain the technology or enter into new agreements on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to develop our platform or products containing that
technology or provide services using that technology could be severely limited and our business could be harmed. Additionally, if we are unable to access necessary technology
from third parties, we may be forced to acquire or develop alternate technology, which may require significant time and effort and may be of lower quality or performance
standards and may subject us to certain risks discussed in the preceding paragraph that are currently borne by third parties. This would limit and delay our ability to provide
new or competitive offerings and increase our costs. If alternate technology cannot be obtained or developed or if we are unable to develop such alternate technology at
commercially reasonable levels of risk, we may not be able to offer certain functionality as part of our offerings, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our advertising platform, Lyft Ads, is nascent and subject to various risks and uncertainties, which may adversely affect our business and financial results.

We have introduced Lyft Ads, a media and advertising platform from which we earn revenue from third parties who advertise through various offerings on our
platform. We have limited experience and operating history offering media and advertising on our platform, and our efforts to develop Lyft Ads and generate revenue are still in
the early stages. We may never generate sufficient revenue to offset our investment or achieve the returns we expect.

Lyft Ads and our ability to generate and increase revenue from Lyft Ads are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including:

* our ability to compete effectively for advertising spend, including our ability to create valuable products, attract and retain advertisers, particularly because our
advertisers do not have long-term commitments with us;

« the impact of seasonal, cyclical or other shifts in advertising spend, including the impact of macroeconomic conditions, such as changes in market conditions due to
actual or proposed tariffs;

*  our ability to deliver advertisements, including the availability, accuracy, utility, and security of analytics and measurement solutions offered by us or third parties that
demonstrate the value of our ads to marketers, or our ability to further improve such tools;

* our failure to increase the number of riders who engage with Lyft Ads or changes in viewer demographics that impact advertiser spend;
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» adverse legal developments (regulatory, legislative, and industry) relating to advertising, including relating to the collection, use, and other processing of information
and other privacy considerations, including with respect to ad targeting and measurement tools;

*  our inability to deliver advertisements due to hardware, software or network limitations;

»  changes in third-party policies such as changes to mobile device operating systems that impose heightened restrictions on our access and use of user data by allowing
users to more easily opt-out of tracking of activity across devices, which may negatively impact the ability to measure, deliver and select ads to be served;

* adverse media reports or other negative publicity involving us, our business or advertisers on our platform that may impact our brand and reputation and the
willingness of advertisers to advertise on our platform, this could include any driver, rider, or third party dissatisfaction due to advertisements;

*  any liability, brand or reputational harm from advertisements shown on our platform; and
*  any uncertainty related to third-party agreements to manage, sell ads, or otherwise to provide services in the Lyft Ads ecosystem.

These and other factors could harm our Lyft Ads business and the ability of our Lyft Ads business to achieve the return on investment we expect which could harm our
business.

Use of artificial intelligence and machine learning may present additional risks, including risks associated with algorithm development or use, the data sets used, and/or a
complex, developing regulatory environment.

We use artificial intelligence (“Al”) (including machine learning and automated decision making) for our internal work streams and productivity as well as in our
platform, offerings, services and features, which may present additional risks, including risks inherent in its use. We are making investments in expanding our Al capabilities in
our platform, offerings, services and features, including ongoing deployment and improvement of existing machine learning and Al technologies, as well as developing new
features using Al technologies, including, for example, generative Al Al algorithms or automated processing of data may be flawed and datasets may be insufficient or contain
inaccurate or biased information, which can create discriminatory outcomes. Al algorithms may use third-party inputs with unclear intellectual property rights or interests.
Intellectual property ownership and license rights, including copyright, of generative and other Al output, have not been fully interpreted by courts or fully addressed by federal
or state regulations. The U.S. and other countries are considering comprehensive legal compliance frameworks specifically for AI, which is a trend that may increase now that
the European Union (the “EU”) has adopted the first such framework in its Artificial Intelligence Act. In addition, there may be additional legislation or regulations from
government bodies that similarly impose compliance obligations for Al. Any failure or perceived failure by us or our service providers to comply with such requirements could
have an adverse impact on our business. Al use or management by us or others, including decisions based on automated processing or profiling, inappropriate or controversial
data practices, or insufficient disclosures regarding machine learning, automated decision making, and algorithms, have and could impair the operationality or acceptance of Al
solutions or subject us to lawsuits, regulatory investigations or other harm, such as negative impacts to the value of our intellectual property or our brand. These deficiencies
could also undermine the decisions, predictions or analysis Al applications produce, or lead to unintentional bias and discrimination, subjecting us to competitive harm, legal
liability, and brand or reputational harm. The rapid evolution of Al may require us to allocate additional resources to help implement Al in order to minimize unintended or
harmful impacts, and may also require us to make additional investments in the development of proprietary datasets, machine learning models or other systems, which may be
costly.

If we are not able to successfully develop new offerings on our platform and enhance our existing offerings, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Our ability to attract new qualified drivers and new riders, retain existing qualified drivers and existing riders and increase utilization of our offerings will depend in
part on our ability to successfully create and introduce new offerings and to improve upon and enhance our existing offerings. As a result, we may introduce significant changes
to our existing offerings or develop and introduce new and unproven offerings. If these new or enhanced offerings are unsuccessful, including as a result of any inability to
obtain and maintain required permits or authorizations or other regulatory constraints or because they fail to generate sufficient return on our investments, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Furthermore, new driver or rider demands regarding service or platform features, the availability of
superior competitive offerings or a deterioration in the quality of our offerings or our ability to bring new or enhanced offerings to market quickly and efficiently could
negatively affect the attractiveness of our platform and the economics of our business and require us to make substantial changes to and additional investments in our offerings
or our business model. In addition, we frequently experiment with and test different offerings and marketing strategies, and some of our recent features have included Women+
Connect, Price Lock, Lyft Silver, and our driver earnings commitment. If our experiments and tests are unsuccessful, or if the offerings and strategies we introduce based on the
results of such experiments and tests do not perform as expected, our ability to attract new qualified drivers and new riders, retain existing qualified drivers and existing riders
and maintain or increase utilization of our offerings may be adversely affected.
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Developing and launching new offerings or enhancements to the existing offerings on our platform involves significant risks and uncertainties, including risks related
to the reception of such offerings by existing and potential future drivers and riders, increases in operational complexity, new or different regulatory and compliance
requirements, unanticipated delays or challenges in implementing such offerings or enhancements, increased strain on our operational and internal resources (including an
impairment of our ability to accurately forecast rider demand and the number of drivers using our platform), our dependence on strategic commercial partnerships, and negative
publicity in the event such new or enhanced offerings are perceived to be unsuccessful. We have scaled our business rapidly, and significant new initiatives have in the past
resulted in, and in the future may result in, operational challenges affecting our business. In addition, developing and launching new offerings and enhancements to our existing
offerings may involve significant up-front capital investments and such investments may not generate sufficient returns on investment. Further, from time to time we may
reevaluate, discontinue and/or reduce these investments and decide to discontinue one or more offerings, which may lead to additional expenses and loss of riders and drivers.
Any of the foregoing risks and challenges could negatively impact our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers and riders, our ability to increase utilization of our offerings
and our visibility into expected results of operations, and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, since we are focused on
building our community and ecosystems for the long-term, our near-term results of operations may be impacted by our investments in the future.

If we are unable to successfully manage the complexities associated with our multimodal platform, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

Our expansion, either through our first party offerings or third-party offerings through our partnerships, into bike and scooter sharing, taxi, private hire vehicles, car
sharing, and other modes of transportation and vehicle rental program has increased the complexity of our business. These new offerings have required us to develop new
expertise and marketing and operational strategies, and have subjected us to new laws, regulations and risks. For example, our Wait & Save and Priority Pickup offerings,
which enable riders to opt for a longer wait time for a lower fare or pay extra for prioritized matching, respectively, require ongoing maintenance and enhancement to efficiently
balance driver supply with rider demand, as well as to manage pricing methodologies and logistics. Additionally, from time to time we reevaluate our offerings on our
multimodal platform and have in the past decided and may again decide to discontinue or modify an offering or certain features. Such actions may negatively impact revenue in
the short term and may not provide the benefits we expect in the long term. If we are unable to successfully manage the complexities associated with our expanding multimodal
platform, including the effects our new and evolving offerings have on our existing business, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Our metrics and estimates, including the key metrics included in this report, are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in those
metrics may harm our reput, and negatively affect our business.

We regularly review and may adjust our processes for calculating our metrics used to evaluate our growth, measure our performance and make strategic decisions.
These metrics are calculated using internal company data and have not been evaluated by a third-party. Our metrics may differ from estimates published by third parties or from
similarly titled metrics of our competitors due to differences in methodology or the assumptions on which we rely, and from time to time we have made adjustments to our
processes for calculating our metrics in order to enhance accuracy, reflect newly available information, address errors in our methodologies, or other reasons, and we may make
material adjustments in the future, which may result in changes to our metrics. The estimates and forecasts we disclose relating to the size and expected growth of our
addressable market may prove to be inaccurate. Even if the markets in which we compete meet the size estimates and growth we have forecasted, our business could fail to
grow at similar rates, if at all. Further, as our business develops, we may introduce, revise or cease reporting certain metrics if we change how we manage our business such that
new metrics are appropriate, if we determine that revisions are required to accurately or appropriately measure our performance, or if one or more metrics no longer represents
an effective way to evaluate our business. If investors or analysts do not consider our metrics to be accurate representations of our business or compare our metrics to third-
party estimates or similarly titled metrics of our competitors or others in our industry that are not calculated on the same basis, or if we discover material inaccuracies in our
metrics, then the trading price of our Class A common stock and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Any failure to offer high-quality user support may harm our relationships with users and could adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our ability to attract and retain qualified drivers and riders is dependent in part on the ease and reliability of our offerings, including our ability to provide high-quality
support, including both in-person and remote support. Users on our platform depend on our support organization to resolve any issues relating to our offerings, such as being
overcharged for a ride, leaving something in a driver’s vehicle or reporting a safety incident. Our ability to provide effective and timely support is largely dependent on our
ability to attract and retain service providers who are qualified to support users and sufficiently knowledgeable regarding our offerings. As we continue to grow our business
and improve our offerings, we have faced and will continue to face challenges related to providing quality support services at scale. As we grow our international rider base and
the number of international drivers on our platform, our support organization has faced and will continue to face additional challenges, including those associated with
delivering support in languages other than English. Any failure to provide efficient and effective user support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality
support, could adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Failure to deal effectively with fraud could harm our business.

From time to time, we incur losses from various types of fraud, including use of stolen or fraudulent credit card data, claims of unauthorized payments by a rider,
attempted payments by riders with insufficient funds, fraud committed by drivers, riders or third parties, and fraud committed by riders in concert with drivers. Bad actors use
increasingly sophisticated methods to engage in illegal activities, including those involving personal information, such as unauthorized use of another person’s identity, account
information or payment information and unauthorized acquisition or use of credit or debit card details, bank account information and mobile phone numbers and accounts.
Under current card payment practices, we may be liable for rides facilitated on our platform with fraudulent credit card data, even if the associated financial institution
approved the credit card transaction. As we expand our business, particularly as we expand into new geographies and offerings, we will need to continue to expand our fraud
detection systems. Despite measures that we have taken to detect and reduce the occurrence of fraudulent or other malicious activity on our platform, we cannot guarantee that
any of our measures will be effective or will scale efficiently with our business. Our inability to adequately detect or prevent fraudulent transactions could harm our reputation
or brand, result in litigation or regulatory action and lead to expenses that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have also incurred, and may in the future incur, losses from fraud and other misuse of our platform by drivers and riders. As an example of losses, we have
previously and continue to experience reduced revenue from actual and alleged unauthorized rides fulfilled and miles traveled in connection with our Concierge offering. If we
are unable to adequately anticipate and address such misuse either through increased controls, platform solutions or other means, our partner relationships, business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we fail to effectively manage our pricing methodologies, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

With the exception of certain taxi markets in Europe and rides for which variable fares apply, we quote a price to riders of our ridesharing offering before they request
a ride. We earn platform and service fees from drivers. Service fees are a set fee per ride. Platform fees are variable fees, based upon the amount paid by a rider, which is
generally based on an up-front quoted fare, less the amount earned by the driver (which is based on one or both of the following: (a) the actual time and distance for the trip, or
(b) an up-front fare), the service fee, any applicable driver bonuses or incentives, and any pass-through amounts paid to drivers and third parties. For more information on
platform fees, see our Terms of Service, including the Driver Addendum. As we do not control the driver’s actions at any point in the transaction to limit the time and distance
for the trip, we take on risks related to the driver’s actions which may not be fully mitigated. Additionally, Shared Rides, a limited-scope offering for business-to-business
partnerships in select markets, as well as for rides originating at airports in select markets (in addition to rides to and from the airport in one market) as part of a pilot offering,
enables unrelated parties traveling along similar routes to generate a discounted fare at the cost of possibly longer travel times. The fare charged for the Shared Ride is
decoupled from the payment made to the driver, and for some Shared Ride types, we do not adjust the driver payment based on the success or failure of a match. We may incur
a loss from a transaction where an up-front quoted fare paid by a rider is less than the amount we committed to the driver. In addition, riders’ price sensitivity varies by
geographic location, among other factors, and if we are unable to effectively account for such variability in our breadth of offerings or up-front prices, our ability to compete
effectively in these locations could be adversely affected. From time to time we adjust our prices due to these factors, which may harm our results of operations. We also utilize
certain Al and machine-learning technologies and algorithms to optimize our pricing and marketplace. Errors in AI, machine-learning technologies, algorithms, or the inputted
data, including insufficient data sets or biased information, or the processing of the data may lead to discriminatory or other adverse outcomes. In addition to our ridesharing
and Shared Ride offerings, we offer taxi and private hire vehicle options in certain international markets. For these offerings, we receive a set percentage of the fare. We may
incur a loss from a transaction where driver or rider incentives are applied in excess of the commission we received on the fare. If we are unable to effectively manage our
pricing methodologies in conjunction with our existing and future pricing and incentive programs and/or products, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Our company culture has contributed to our success and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, our business could be harmed.

We believe that our company culture, which promotes authenticity, empathy and support for others, has been critical to our success. We face a number of challenges
that may affect our ability to sustain our corporate culture, including:

« failure to identify, attract, reward and retain people in leadership positions in our organization who share and further our culture, values and mission;
« the size and geographic diversity of our workforce;

«  our flexible workplace strategies, which enable certain of our employees to work in a hybrid workplace environment or remotely;

*  departure from our internal policies and core values;

*  competitive pressures to move in directions that may divert us from our mission, vision and values;
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« the continued challenges of a rapidly-evolving industry;

» the impact of our cost reduction initiatives, including reductions in force and other actions we may take to drive operating efficiencies;

« the increasing need to develop expertise in new areas of business that affect us;

* perception of our treatment of employees or our response to employee sentiment related to political or social causes or actions of management;
* transitions among our executive leadership;

» the provision of employee benefits in a hybrid and remote work environment; and

« the integration of new personnel and businesses from acquisitions.

From time to time, we have undertaken workforce reductions in order to better align our operations with our strategic priorities, manage our cost structure (including
in response to the effects of the macroeconomic environment and efforts to reduce operating expenses) or in connection with acquisitions. These actions may adversely affect
employee morale, our culture and our ability to attract and retain personnel. If we are not able to maintain our culture, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

We depend on our key personnel and other highly skilled personnel, and if we fail to attract, retain, motivate or integrate our personnel, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on the continued service of our senior management team, key technical employees and other highly skilled personnel and on our ability to
identify, hire, develop, motivate, retain and integrate highly qualified personnel for all areas of our organization. From time to time, we have experienced transitions in
executive leadership roles. We may not be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs and actions we take in response to
economic and other factors impacting our business may harm our reputation or impact our ability to recruit qualified personnel in the future. Also, all of our U.S.-based
employees, including our management team, work for us on an at-will basis, and there is no assurance that any such employee will remain with us. Our competitors may be
successful in recruiting and hiring members of our management team or other key employees, and it may be difficult for us to find suitable replacements on a timely basis, on
competitive terms or at all. If we are unable to attract and retain the necessary personnel, particularly in critical areas of our business, we may not achieve our strategic goals.

We face intense competition for highly skilled personnel, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area where we have a substantial presence and need for highly skilled
personnel. This competition has intensified in recent periods, and could continue to intensify for such personnel. To attract and retain top talent, we have had to offer, and we
believe we will need to continue to offer competitive compensation and benefits packages. Job candidates and existing personnel often consider the value of the equity awards
they receive in connection with their employment. Declines in our stock price and cost reduction or restructuring initiatives, which we have undertaken from time to time, may
adversely affect our ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, and we may experience increased attrition or we may need to provide additional cash or equity
compensation to retain employees. Many of our employees have received and may continue to receive significant proceeds from sales of our equity in the public markets,
which may reduce their motivation to continue to work for us. We may need to invest significant amounts of cash and equity to attract and retain new employees and expend
significant time and resources to identify, recruit, train and integrate such employees, and we may never realize returns on these investments. Additionally, changes in U.S.
immigration policy may make it difficult to renew or obtain visas for any highly skilled personnel that we have hired or may hire in the future. Furthermore, our business may
be materially adversely affected if legislative or administrative changes to immigration or visa laws and regulations impair our hiring processes or projects involving personnel
who are not citizens of the country where the work is to be performed. If we are unable to effectively manage our hiring needs or successfully integrate new hires, and add or
retain employees effectively, our efficiency, ability to meet forecasts and employee morale, productivity and retention could suffer, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our business could be adversely impacted by changes in the Internet and mobile device accessibility of users and unfavorable changes in or our failure to comply with
existing or future laws governing the Internet and mobile devices.

Our business depends on users’ access to our platform via a mobile device and the Internet. AVs rely on connectivity to perform their services; as our business with
AVs expands, our business will become even more dependent on reliable connectivity service. We may operate in jurisdictions that provide limited Internet connectivity,
particularly as we expand internationally. Internet access and access to a mobile device are frequently provided by companies with significant market power that could take
actions that degrade, disrupt or increase the cost of users’ ability to access our platform. In addition, the Internet infrastructure that we and users of our platform rely on in any
particular geographic area may be unable to support the demands placed upon it. Any such failure in Internet or mobile device accessibility, even for a short period of time,
could adversely affect our results of operations.
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Moreover, we are subject to a number of laws and regulations specifically governing the Internet and mobile devices that are constantly evolving. Existing and future
laws and regulations, or changes thereto, may impede the growth and availability of the Internet and online offerings, require us to change our business practices or raise
compliance costs or other costs of doing business. These laws and regulations, which continue to evolve, cover taxation, privacy and data protection, information security,
pricing, copyrights, distribution, mobile and other communications, advertising practices, consumer protections, web and app accessibility, antitrust and competition, the
provision of online payment services, unencumbered Internet access to our offerings and the characteristics and quality of online offerings, among other things. Any failure, or
perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regulations could result in damage to our reputation and brand, a loss in business and proceedings or actions against
us by governmental entities or others, which could adversely impact our results of operations.

We rely on mobile operating systems and application marketplaces to make our apps available to the drivers and riders on our platform, and if we do not effectively operate
with or receive favorable placements within such application marketplaces and maintain high rider reviews, our usage or brand recognition could decline and our
business, financial results and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend in part on mobile operating systems, such as Android and iOS, and their respective application marketplaces to make our apps available to the drivers and
riders on our platform. Any changes in such systems and application marketplaces that degrade the functionality of our apps or give preferential treatment to our competitors’
apps could adversely affect our platform’s usage on mobile devices. If such mobile operating systems or application marketplaces limit or prohibit us from making our apps
available to drivers and riders, make changes that degrade the functionality of our apps, increase the cost of using our apps, impose terms of use unsatisfactory to us or modify
their search or ratings algorithms in ways that are detrimental to us, or if our competitors’ placement in such mobile operating systems’ application marketplace is more
prominent than the placement of our apps, overall growth in our rider or driver base could slow. Our apps have experienced fluctuations in the number of downloads in the past,
and we anticipate similar fluctuations in the future. Any of the foregoing risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As new mobile devices and mobile platforms are released, there is no guarantee that certain mobile devices will continue to support our platform or effectively roll out
updates to our apps. Additionally, in order to deliver high-quality apps, we need to ensure that our offerings are designed to work effectively with a range of mobile
technologies, systems, networks and standards. We may not be successful in developing or maintaining relationships with key participants in the mobile industry that enhance
drivers’ and riders’ experience. If drivers or riders on our platform encounter any difficulty accessing or using our apps on their mobile devices or if we are unable to adapt to
changes in popular mobile operating systems, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend on the interoperability of our platform across third-party applications and services that we do not control.

We have integrations with a variety of productivity, collaboration, travel, data management and security vendors. As our offerings expand and evolve, including to the
extent we continue to develop autonomous technology, we may have an increasing number of integrations with other third-party applications, products and services. Third-party
applications, products and services are constantly evolving, and we may not be able to maintain or modify our platform to ensure its compatibility with third-party offerings
following development changes. In addition, some of our competitors or technology partners may take actions which disrupt the interoperability of our platform with their own
products or services, or exert strong business influence on our ability to, and the terms on which we operate and distribute our platform. As our respective products evolve, we
expect the types and levels of competition to increase. Should any of our competitors or technology partners modify their products, standards or terms of use in a manner that
degrades the functionality or performance of our platform or is otherwise unsatisfactory to us or gives preferential treatment to competitive products or services, our products,
platform, business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our applications, backend systems or other technology systems and those of third-party technology providers, or system failures and
resulting interruptions in our availability or the availability of other systems and providers, could harm our reputation and brand and adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The software underlying our platform is highly complex and may contain undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the code
has been released. We rely heavily on a software engineering practice known as “continuous deployment,” which refers to the frequent release of our software code, sometimes
multiple times per day. This practice increases the risk that errors and vulnerabilities are present in the software code underlying our platform. The third-party software that we
incorporate into our platform may also be subject to errors or vulnerability. Any errors or vulnerabilities discovered in our code or from third-party software after release could
result in negative publicity, a loss of users or loss of revenue and access or other performance issues. Such vulnerabilities could also be exploited by malicious actors and result
in exposure of data of users on our platform, or otherwise result in a security breach or incident. We may need to expend significant financial and development resources to
analyze, correct, eliminate or work around errors or defects or to address and eliminate vulnerabilities. Any failure to timely and effectively resolve any such errors, defects or
vulnerabilities could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations as well as negatively impact our reputation or brand.
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Further, our systems, or those of third parties upon which we rely, may experience service interruptions or degradation because of hardware and software defects or
malfunctions, distributed denial-of-service and other cyberattacks, human error, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, natural disasters, power losses, disruptions in
telecommunications services, fraud, military or political conflicts, terrorist attacks, computer viruses, ransomware, malware or other events. Our systems also may be subject to
break-ins, sabotage, theft and intentional acts of vandalism, including by our own employees. Some of our systems are not fully redundant and our disaster recovery planning
may not be sufficient for all eventualities. Our business interruption insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our losses that may result from interruptions in our service as
a result of systems failures and similar events.

We have experienced and will likely continue to experience system failures and other events or conditions from time to time that interrupt the availability or reduce or
affect the speed or functionality of our offerings. These events have resulted in, and similar future events could result in, losses of revenue or additional costs and expenses. A
prolonged interruption in the availability or reduction in the availability, speed or other functionality of our offerings could adversely affect our business and reputation and
could result in the loss of users. Moreover, to the extent that any system failure or similar event results in harm or losses to the users using our platform, we may make
voluntary payments to compensate for such harm or the affected users could seek monetary recourse or contractual remedies from us for their losses and such claims, even if
unsuccessful, would likely be time-consuming and costly for us to address.

Our platform contains third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could restrict
our ability to provide our offerings.

Our platform and offerings contain software modules licensed to us by third-party authors under “open source” licenses. Use and distribution of open source software
may entail greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide support, warranties, indemnification or other contractual
protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. In addition, the public availability of such software may make it easier for others to compromise our
platform and offerings.

Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based upon the type of open
source software we use, or grant other licenses to our intellectual property. If we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could,
under certain open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar offerings
with lower development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of our competitive advantages. Alternatively, to avoid the public release of the affected portions of
our source code, we could be required to expend substantial time and resources to re-engineer some or all of our software.

Although we have policies and processes for using open source software to avoid subjecting our platform and offerings to conditions we do not intend, the terms of
many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide or distribute our platform and offerings. From time to time, there have been claims challenging the ownership
of open source software against companies that incorporate open source software into their solutions. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming ownership
of what we believe to be open source software. Moreover, we cannot assure you that our processes for controlling our use of open source software in our platform will be
effective. If we are held to have breached or failed to fully comply with all the terms and conditions of an open source software license, we could face infringement or other
liability, or be required to seek costly licenses from third parties to continue providing our offerings on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our platform, to
discontinue or delay the provision of our offerings if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis or to make generally available, in source code form, our
proprietary code, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our presence outside the U.S. and our international expansion strategy will subject us to additional costs and risks and our plans may not be successful.

Since 2017, we have provided and expanded our offerings in international markets. In July 2025, we acquired Freenow, and in October 2025, we acquired TBR. In
addition, we have several international offices that support our business. We also transact internationally to source and manufacture bikes and scooters and may increase our
business in international regions in the future. Operating outside of the U.S., including expansion into livery and adding taxis, private hire vehicles and executive chauffeur
services to our service offerings, may require significant management attention to oversee operations over a broad geographic area with varying cultural norms and customs, in
addition to placing strain on our finance, analytics, human resources, compliance, legal, engineering and operations teams. We may incur significant operating expenses and
may not be successful in our international expansion for a variety of reasons, including:

* recruiting and retaining talented and capable employees in foreign countries and maintaining our company culture across all of our offices;

*  competition from local incumbents that better understand the local market, may market and operate more effectively and may enjoy greater local affinity or awareness;
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« differing demand dynamics, which may make our offerings less successful;
*  public health concerns or emergencies, such as natural disasters, pandemics and other highly communicable diseases or viruses;

* complying with varying laws and regulatory standards, including with respect to privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, tax, trade compliance, anti-bribery and anti-
corruption, antitrust, securities, environmental, employment, insurance, and local regulatory restrictions and disclosure requirements;

* ineffective legal protection of our intellectual property rights in certain countries or theft or unauthorized use or publication of our intellectual property and other
confidential business information;

*  obtaining any required government approvals, licenses or other authorizations;

*  varying levels of Internet and mobile technology adoption and infrastructure;

*  currency exchange restrictions or costs and exchange rate fluctuations;

*  political, economic, or social instability, which has caused disruptions in certain of our office locations, including in Ukraine as a result of the war;
* tax policies, treaties or laws that could have an unfavorable business impact; and

* limitations on the repatriation and investment of funds as well as foreign currency exchange restrictions.

Our limited experience in operating our business internationally increases the risk that our current and future expansion efforts may not be successful, which may
result in shutting down certain international operations or closing certain international offices, which could result in additional costs and cash requirements, any of which may
harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. As we have invested substantial time and resources to expand our operations internationally, if we are unable to
manage these risks effectively, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, international expansion has increased our risks in complying with laws and standards in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, including with respect to customs,
anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-fraud, political activity, export controls and trade and economic sanctions. Continued international expansion, including possible engagement
with foreign government entities and organizations as customers for our rideshare, bikes and scooters offerings, taxi, private hire vehicles and executive chauffeur offerings, and
emerging offerings may further increase such compliance risks. Our recent acquisitions further increase these risks. We cannot assure you that our employees and agents will
not take actions in violation of applicable laws, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. In particular, any violation of applicable anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-
fraud, lobbying, export controls, sanctions and similar laws could result in adverse media coverage, investigations, significant legal fees, loss of export privileges, severe
criminal or civil penalties or suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracts, and/or substantial diversion of management’s attention, all of which could have an
adverse effect on our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are currently subject to some foreign currency exchange risk because our international revenue, as well as costs and expenses denominated in foreign currencies,
expose us to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar. Freenow conducts all of its operations outside of the U.S. through its German
parent company and TBR conducts a majority of its operations, including its U.S. business, through its United Kingdom (the “U.K.”) parent company. Freenow and TBR each
have subsidiaries or affiliates, which also operate in their respective local currencies. As a result, our international operations will account for a more significant portion of our
overall operations, and our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates will increase. Because our consolidated financial statements will continue to be
presented in U.S. dollars, the local currencies will be translated into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rates for inclusion in our consolidated financial statements, thereby
increasing the foreign exchange risk.

We may not realize the anticipated long-term stockholder value of our share repurchase programs, and any failure to repurchase our Class A common stock after we have
announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our stock price.

In February 2026, we authorized a new share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $1.0 billion of the Company’s Class A common stock, in addition to
amounts remaining available under our existing repurchase program under which we were authorized to repurchase a total of $750 million of the Company’s Class A common
stock. Under existing or any future share repurchase programs, we may make share repurchases through a variety of methods, including open share market purchases or
privately negotiated transactions, in accordance with applicable federal securities laws. Our share repurchase programs generally have no time limit, do not obligate us to
repurchase any specific number of shares, and may be suspended at any time at our discretion and without prior notice. The timing and amount of repurchases, if any, will be
subject to liquidity, stock price, business and market conditions, compliance with applicable legal requirements, such as Delaware surplus and solvency tests, management
discretion, and other relevant factors. Any failure to repurchase stock after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our reputation and investor
confidence in us and may negatively impact our stock price. The existence of a share repurchase program could cause our stock price to be higher than it otherwise would be
and could potentially reduce the market liquidity for our stock. Although these programs are intended to enhance long-term stockholder value, there is no assurance they will do
so because the
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market price of our Class A common stock may decline below the levels at which we repurchased shares and short-term stock price fluctuations could reduce the effectiveness
of our repurchase programs. Repurchasing our Class A common stock will reduce the amount of cash we have available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, strategic
acquisitions or business opportunities, and other general corporate requirements, and we may fail to realize the anticipated long-term stockholder value of these share
repurchase programs.

Risks Related to General Economic Factors
A deterioration of general macroeconomic conditions could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results.

Our business and results of operations are subject to global economic conditions. Deteriorating macroeconomic conditions, including slower growth or recession,
inflation and related high interest rates, increases to fuel and other energy costs or vehicle costs, changes in the labor market or decreases in consumer spending power or
confidence, are likely to result in decreased discretionary spending and reduced demand for our platform. In addition, changes in macroeconomic conditions due to actual or
proposed tariff increases could change consumer behavior and adversely affect rider demand for our platform, advertiser demand for Lyft Ads, and costs related to our
operations, including but not limited to costs related to our bikes and scooters. Further, changes in corporate spending, including cost-cuts and layoffs, may adversely impact
business travel, commuting and other business-related expenditures and impact our Lyft Business customers. In addition, uncertainty and volatility in the banking and financial
services sectors, inflation and high interest rates, increased fuel and other energy costs, increased labor and benefits costs and increased insurance costs have, and may continue
to, put pressure on economic conditions, which has led, and could lead, to greater operating expenses. For example, inflation has increased in recent years and is expected to
further increase medical costs and vehicle repair costs, including increased prices of new and used vehicle parts, which has resulted in increases in our insurance costs.
Similarly, these factors, as well as increased fuel costs, increase our costs as well as costs for drivers on our platform. Many of these factors are out of our control and make it
difficult to accurately forecast Gross Bookings, revenues and operating results, particularly in the long-term, and could negatively affect our ability to meet our target operating
performance and our (and our strategic partners’) ability to make decisions about future investments and strategies. Further, we may need to make changes to our business to
respond to these conditions and be able to compete effectively. For example, we have adjusted our pricing in response to competitive pressures caused by changes in our
marketplace, which has in the past contributed to a decline in our revenue and may cause a decline in revenue in future quarters. An economic downturn resulting in a
prolonged recessionary period would likely have a further adverse effect on our revenue, financial condition and results of operations.

QOur business could be adversely affected by natural disasters, public health crises, political crises, or other unexpected events.

A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, hurricane, tornado, flood or significant power outage, could disrupt our operations, mobile networks, the
Internet or the operations of our third-party technology providers. In particular, our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for
seismic activity and increasingly for fires. The impact of climate change may increase these risks. In addition, any public health crises or pandemics, other epidemics, political
crises, such as terrorist attacks, war and other political or social instability and other geopolitical developments, or other catastrophic events, whether in the U.S. or abroad,
could adversely affect our operations or the economy as a whole. For example, we have an office and employees in Ukraine that have been and may continue to be adversely
affected by the current war in the region, including displacement of our employees. The impact of any natural disaster, act of terrorism or other disruption to us or our third-
party providers’ abilities could result in driver supply and rider demand imbalances, decreased demand for our offerings or a delay in the provision of our offerings, or increase
our costs and operating expenses, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. All of the aforementioned risks may be further
increased if our disaster recovery plans prove to be inadequate.

Risks Related to Regulatory and Legal Factors

Our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations, many of which are evolving, and failure to comply with such laws and regulations could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to a wide variety of laws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions in which we operate. Laws, regulations and standards governing issues such as TNCs,
livery, taxis, vehicles for hire, public companies, ridesharing, worker classification, labor and employment, anti-discrimination, payments, gift cards, whistleblowing and
worker confidentiality obligations, product liability, defects, recalls, personal injury, marketing, advertising, text messaging, subscription services, intellectual property, Al,
securities, consumer protection, taxation, privacy, data security, competition, unionizing and collective action, antitrust, arbitration agreements and class action waiver
provisions, terms of service, web and mobile application accessibility, AVs, bike and scooter sharing, insurance, vehicle rentals, money transmittal, non-emergency medical
transportation, healthcare fraud, waste, and abuse, environmental health and safety, greenhouse gas emissions and EVs, background checks, public health, anti-corruption, anti-
bribery, political contributions, lobbying, import and export restrictions, trade and economic sanctions, foreign ownership and investment, foreign exchange controls and
delivery of goods are often complex and subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity. As a result, their application in practice may change or
develop over time through judicial decisions or as new guidance or interpretations are provided by regulatory and governing bodies, such as federal, state and local
administrative agencies.
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The ridesharing industry, bikes and scooters sharing industry and our business model are relatively nascent and rapidly evolving. We have been proactively working
with federal, state and local governments and regulatory bodies to ensure that our ridesharing marketplace and other offerings are available broadly in North America and
Europe. New laws and regulations and changes to existing laws and regulations continue to be adopted, implemented and interpreted in response to our industry and related
technologies. As we expand our business into new markets or introduce new offerings into existing markets, regulatory bodies or courts may claim that we or users on our
platform are subject to additional requirements, or that we are prohibited from conducting our business in certain jurisdictions, or that users on our platform are prohibited from
using our platform, either generally or with respect to certain offerings. Certain jurisdictions and governmental entities, including airports, require us to obtain permits, pay fees
or comply with certain reporting and other operational requirements to provide our ridesharing, bike and scooter sharing, and Flexdrive offerings. These jurisdictions and
governmental entities may reject our applications for permits, revoke or suspend existing or deny renewals of permits to operate, delay our ability to operate, increase their fees,
charge new types of fees, or impose fines and penalties, including as a result of errors in, or failures to comply with, reporting or other requirements related to our product
offerings. Any of the foregoing actions by these jurisdictions and governmental entities could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Recent financial, political and other events have increased the level of regulatory scrutiny on larger companies, technology companies in general and companies
engaged in dealings with independent contractors, such as ridesharing and delivery companies. Regulatory bodies may enact new laws or promulgate new regulations that are
adverse to our business, or, due to changes in our operations and structure or partner relationships as a result of changes in the market or otherwise, they may view matters or
interpret laws and regulations differently than they have in the past or in a manner adverse to our business. See the risk factor entitled “Challenges to contractor classification of
drivers that use our platform may have adverse business, financial, tax, legal and other consequences to our business.” Such regulatory scrutiny or action may create different or
conflicting obligations from one jurisdiction to another, and may have a negative outcome that could adversely affect our business, operations, financial condition, and results
of operations. Additionally, we have invested and from time to time we will continue to invest resources in an attempt to influence or challenge legislation and other regulatory
matters pertinent to our operations, particularly those related to the ridesharing industry, which may negatively impact the legal and administrative proceedings challenging the
classification of drivers on our platform as independent contractors if we are unsuccessful or lead to additional costs and expenses even if we are successful. These activities
may not be successful, and any negative outcomes could adversely affect our business, operations, financial condition and results of operations.

The ridesharing industry is increasingly regulated. We have been subject to intense regulatory pressure from state, provincial and municipal regulatory authorities, and
a number of them have imposed limitations on ridesharing and bike and scooter sharing, and certain jurisdictions have adopted rules governing minimum driver earnings for
ridesharing platforms. Other jurisdictions in which we currently operate or may want to operate have and could continue to consider legislation regulating driver earnings. We
could also face similar regulatory restrictions from foreign regulators as we expand operations internationally, particularly in areas where we face competition from local
incumbents. In addition, we may face regulations relating to new or developing technologies. For example, the EU has adopted the Artificial Intelligence Act, which imposes
operational and regulatory requirements relating to the use of Al technologies, and other jurisdictions have adopted and may continue to adopt laws and regulations relating to
Al Adverse changes in laws or regulations at all levels of government or bans on or material limitations to our offerings could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Certain areas within our Lyft Business offerings also operate in regulated industries. For example, our healthcare business subjects us to laws and regulations (e.g.,
Medicaid, Medicare) that were adopted prior to the advent of the rideshare industry and that do not contemplate or address the unique issues the ridesharing industry faces.
Failing to comply with such requirements could lead to our loss of Medicaid provider enrollment status, exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare programs,
or fines. In addition, certain of Lyft Business’ customers may be government entities or receive government funding, which exposes us to risks such as the government’s ability
to unilaterally terminate contracts, the public sector’s budgetary cycles and funding authorization, and the government’s administrative and investigatory processes. Despite our
efforts to comply with applicable laws, regulations and other obligations relating to our offerings, it is possible that our practices, offerings or platform could be inconsistent
with, or fail or be alleged to fail to meet all requirements of, such laws, regulations or obligations. Our failure, or the failure by our third-party providers, customers, or partners,
to comply with applicable laws or regulations or any other obligations relating to our Lyft Business offerings could harm our reputation and brand, discourage new and existing
customers, drivers, and riders from using our platform, lead to refunds of ride fares or result in fines or proceedings by governmental agencies or private claims and litigation,
any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success, or perceived success, and increased visibility has driven, and may continue to drive, some businesses that perceive our business model negatively to raise
their concerns to local policymakers and regulators. These businesses and their trade association groups or other organizations have and may continue to take actions and
employ significant resources to shape the legal and regulatory regimes in jurisdictions where we may have, or seek to have, a market presence in an effort to change such legal
and regulatory regimes in ways intended to adversely affect or impede our business and the ability of drivers and riders to utilize our platform.
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Any of the foregoing risks could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Challenges to contractor classification of drivers that use our platform may have adverse business, financial, tax, legal and other consequences to our business.

We are regularly subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, administrative actions, government investigations and other legal and regulatory proceedings at
the federal, state and municipal levels challenging the classification of drivers on our platform as independent contractors. The tests governing whether a driver is an
independent contractor or an employee vary by governing law and are typically highly fact sensitive. Laws and regulations that govern the status and misclassification of
independent contractors are subject to changes and divergent interpretations by various authorities which can create uncertainty and unpredictability for us. For more
information regarding the litigation in which we have been involved, see the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. On June 13, 2023, the National Labor Relations Board issued a ruling in Atlanta Opera,
reverting back to a more expansive federal test for classifying independent contractors under the National Labor Relations Act, the federal law that governs collective
bargaining. On January 10, 2024, the U.S. Department of Labor (“USDOL”) issued a new final rule containing interpretive guidance for the classification of workers as
employees or independent contractors, reverting back to a multi-factor “economic realities” test to determine if a worker was properly classified under the federal Fair Labor
Standards Act. The rule became effective on March 11, 2024, and is currently under legal challenges. On September 4, 2025, the USDOL announced its intention to rescind the
2024 rule.

We continue to maintain that drivers on our platform are not employees in such legal and administrative proceedings and intend to continue to defend ourselves
vigorously in these matters, as applicable, but our arguments may ultimately be unsuccessful. A determination in, resolution of, or settlement of, any legal proceeding, whether
we are party to such legal proceeding or not, related to driver classification matters, could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations, including as a result
of:

* monetary exposure arising from or relating to alleged failure to withhold and remit taxes, unpaid wages and wage and hour laws and requirements (such as those
pertaining to failure to pay minimum wage and overtime, or to provide required breaks and wage statements), unlawful deductions, expense reimbursement,
restitution, statutory and punitive damages, penalties, including related to the California Private Attorneys General Act, and government fines;

*  injunctions prohibiting continuance of existing business practices;
* claims for employee benefits, social security, workers’ compensation and unemployment;
¢ claims of discrimination, harassment and retaliation under civil rights laws;

* claims under new or existing laws pertaining to unionizing, collective bargaining and other concerted activity (for example, Massachusetts Question 3 and California
AB 1340, which set up a sectoral bargaining framework between drivers and rideshare companies);

*  other claims, charges or other proceedings under laws and regulations applicable to employers and employees, including risks relating to allegations of joint employer
liability or agency liability; and

*  harm to our reputation and brand.

In addition to the harms listed above, in the event of a determination in, resolution of, or settlement of, any legal proceeding related to driver classification matters, we
may decide to, or be required to, significantly alter our existing business model and/or operations (including suspending or ceasing operations in impacted jurisdictions), our
costs may increase, and we may experience adverse impacts on our ability to add qualified drivers to our platform and grow our business, which could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We have been involved in numerous legal proceedings related to driver classification. We are currently involved in a number of putative class actions, several
representative actions brought, for example, pursuant to California’s Private Attorneys General Act, several multi-plaintiff actions and thousands of individual claims, including
those brought in arbitration or compelled pursuant to our Terms of Service to arbitration, challenging the classification of drivers on our platform as independent contractors.
We are also involved in administrative audits related to driver classification in multiple jurisdictions. For more information about these types of legal proceedings, please see
the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, with the breadth of our geographic scope, the classification of our drivers that utilize our platform as independent contractors may be subject to challenge
in non-US jurisdictions, especially following our recent acquisitions. For example, the EU’s Platform Work Directive, which entered into force in December 2024, requires EU
member states to transpose its requirements to their national laws, including enacting new national laws for determining worker classification of platform workers, and may
involve differing implementation by the various member states. Such EU-wide legislative reforms may adversely affect our ability to operate our current independent contractor
model within the European Economic Area.
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Claims by others that we infringed their proprietary technology or other intellectual property rights could harm our business.

Companies in the markets in which we operate are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property
rights. In addition, certain companies and rights holders seek to enforce and monetize patents or other intellectual property rights they own, have purchased or otherwise
obtained. As our business continues to evolve, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows based on the following: increase in public profile, increases
in the number of competitors in our markets, our continued development of new technologies, new products and services, and new intellectual property, as well as potential
international expansion. In addition, various products and services of ours host, integrate, or otherwise rely on third-party content or intellectual property, including our Lyft
Ads efforts, which provides a platform for third-party promotional advertisements, and our marketing and brand journalism efforts. From time to time third parties may assert,
and in the past have asserted, claims of infringement of intellectual property rights against us. See the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10 “Commitments and
Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about these types of legal proceedings. In
addition, third parties have sent us correspondence regarding various allegations of intellectual property infringement and, in some instances, have sought to initiate licensing
discussions. Although we believe that we have meritorious defenses, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in defending against these allegations or reaching a
business resolution that is satisfactory to us. Our competitors and others may now and in the future have significantly larger and more mature patent portfolios than us. In
addition, we have faced, and may again in the future face, litigation involving patent holding companies or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant product or service
revenue and against whom our own patents may therefore provide little or no deterrence or protection. Many potential litigants, including some of our competitors and patent-
holding companies, have the ability to dedicate substantial resources to assert their intellectual property rights. Any claim of infringement by a third party, even those without
merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim, could distract our management from our business and could require us to cease use of such
intellectual property. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, we risk compromising our
confidential information during this type of litigation. We may be required to pay substantial damages, royalties or other fees in connection with a claimant securing a judgment
against us, we may be subject to an injunction or other restrictions that prevent us from using or distributing our intellectual property, or we may agree to a settlement that
prevents us from distributing our offerings or a portion thereof, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

With respect to any intellectual property rights claim, we may have to seek out a license to continue operations found to be in violation of such rights, which may not
be available on favorable or commercially reasonable terms and may significantly increase our operating expenses. Some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore our
competitors may have access to the same technology licensed to us. If a third-party does not offer us a license to its intellectual property on reasonable terms, or at all, we may
be required to develop alternative, non-infringing technology or other intellectual property, which could require significant time (during which we would be unable to continue
to offer our affected offerings), effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Failure to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success is dependent in part upon protecting our intellectual property rights and technology (such as code, information, data, processes and other forms of
information, knowhow and technology), or “intellectual property,” and as we grow, we expect to continue to develop intellectual property that is important for our existing or
future business. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect
our intellectual property. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property may not be sufficient or effective, and may vary by jurisdiction. Even if we do detect
violations, we may need to engage in litigation to enforce our rights. Any enforcement efforts we undertake, including litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive and
could divert management attention. While we take precautions designed to protect our intellectual property, it may still be possible for competitors and other unauthorized third
parties to copy our technology, reverse engineer our data and use our proprietary information to create or enhance competing solutions and services, which could adversely
affect our position in our rapidly evolving and highly competitive industry. Some license provisions that protect against unauthorized use, copying, transfer and disclosure of
our technology may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries. The laws of some countries do not provide the same level of protection of
our intellectual property as do the laws of the U.S. and effective intellectual property protections may not be available or may be limited in foreign countries. Our domestic and
international intellectual property protection and enforcement strategy is influenced by many considerations including costs, where we have business operations, where we
might have business operations in the future, legal protections available in a specific jurisdiction, and/or other strategic considerations. As such, we do not have identical or
analogous intellectual property protection in all jurisdictions, which could risk freedom to operate in certain jurisdictions. As we expand our international activities, our
exposure to unauthorized use, copying, transfer and disclosure of proprietary information will likely increase. We may need to expend additional resources to protect, enforce or
defend our intellectual property rights domestically or internationally, which could impair our business or adversely affect our domestic or international operations. We enter
into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and enter into confidentiality agreements with our third-party providers and
strategic partners. We cannot assure you that these agreements will be effective in controlling access to, and use and distribution of, our platform and proprietary information.
Further, these agreements may not prevent our
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competitors from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our offerings. Competitors and other third parties may also attempt to
access, aggregate, and/or reverse engineer our data which would compromise our trade secrets and other rights. We also enter into strategic partnerships, joint development and
other similar agreements with third parties where intellectual property arising from such partnerships may be jointly-owned or may be transferred or licensed to the
counterparty. Such arrangements may limit our ability to protect, maintain, enforce or commercialize such intellectual property rights, including requiring agreement with or
payment to our joint development partners before protecting, maintaining, licensing or initiating enforcement of such intellectual property rights, and may allow such joint
development partners to register, maintain, enforce or license such intellectual property rights in a manner that may affect the value of the jointly-owned intellectual property or
our ability to compete in the market.

We may be required to spend significant resources in order to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights, and some violations may be difficult or impossible to
detect. Litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or
loss of portions of our intellectual property. Our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the
validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use,
as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and resources, could impair the functionality of our platform, delay introductions of enhancements to
our platform, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform or harm our reputation or brand. In addition, we may be required to license
additional technology from third parties to develop and market new offerings or platform features, which may not be on commercially reasonable terms or at all and could
adversely affect our ability to compete.

Our industry has also been subject to attempts to steal intellectual property, including by foreign actors. We, along with others in our industry, have been the target of
attempted thefts of our intellectual property and may be subject to such attempts in the future. Although we take measures to protect our property, if we are unable to prevent
the theft of our intellectual property or its exploitation, the value of our investments may be undermined and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
negatively impacted.

Changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection or the protection or transfer of personal data, or any actual or perceived failure by us to comply with
such laws and regulations or any other obligations relating to privacy, data protection or the protection or transfer of personal data, could adversely affect our business.

We receive, transmit, store and otherwise process a large volume of personal information and other data relating to users on our platform, as well as other individuals
such as our employees. Numerous local, municipal, state, federal and international laws and regulations address privacy, data protection and the collection, storing, sharing, use,
disclosure and other processing of certain data. The scope of these laws and regulations may continually change, through new legislation, amendments to existing legislation
and changes in enforcement, and may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another. New or modified laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection or information
security, particularly such laws or regulations that require enhanced protection of data or new data retention, transfer or disclosure obligations, could greatly increase the cost of
providing our offerings, require significant changes to our operations and our data processing practices and policies, and require us to incur additional compliance-related costs
and expenses, and may prevent us from providing certain offerings in certain jurisdictions. In addition, our Lyft Ads efforts provide third-party promotional advertisements,
including those that may be personalized to users. Current law and regulations, and potential changes in the law or regulatory landscape, limit and/or prohibit activities, and
could further limit and/or prohibit activities in regard to any current and new offerings we undertake.

Further, as we continue to expand our offerings and user base, and as we expand into new geographies, such as in connection with our acquisition of Freenow, we will
become subject to additional laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and information security. For example, Freenow operates in the EU and in the U.K.
Examples of laws applicable to Freenow in the EU and the U.K. are the EU General Data Protection Regulation and the U.K.’s Data Protection Act and General Data Protection
Regulation, which apply to the processing of personal data in the EU and U.K., respectively. Each of these jurisdictions’ data protection regimes provides for substantial
obligations applicable to the collection, use, transfer (including to the U.S.) and the processing of other personal data and imposes significant penalties for noncompliance. The
EU also has adopted numerous laws and regulations relating to cybersecurity that may apply to certain Lyft subsidiaries. Expansion of our offerings may include partnerships
and data sharing or transfers that could be subject to Title 28 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 202, which prohibits or restricts certain transactions that involve bulk
transfer of certain U.S. data to countries of concern and imposes significant penalties for noncompliance.

Additionally, the use of our Concierge and Lyft Pass for Public Funding offerings by healthcare customers, such as healthcare providers, health plans, and
transportation brokers, subject us to compliance requirements under Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) regarding the use, collection, security,
storage and disclosure of individuals’ protected health information (“PHI”). We must also comply with HIPAA as we use and disclose the PHI of riders in our capacity as a
Business Associate of Covered Entities or of other Business Associates. Compliance obligations under HIPAA include privacy, security and breach notification obligations and
could subject us to increased liability and significant civil penalties for any unauthorized uses or disclosures of PHI determined to be a “breach.”
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Additionally, we have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant expenses in an effort to comply with privacy, data protection and information security
standards imposed by law, regulation or contractual obligations. In particular, with numerous laws and regulations imposing new and relatively burdensome obligations, and
with substantial uncertainty over their interpretation and application, we may face challenges in addressing their requirements and making necessary changes to our policies and
practices, and may incur significant costs and expenses in our efforts to do so. As we consider expansion of business offerings and markets, and as laws and regulations change,
we expect to incur additional costs related to privacy, data protection and information security standards and protocols imposed by laws, regulations, industry standards or
contractual obligations related to such offerings and face additional risks that such expansion could be inconsistent with, or fail or be alleged to fail to meet, all requirements of
such laws, regulations or obligations.

Despite our efforts to comply with applicable laws, regulations and other obligations relating to privacy, data protection and information security, it is possible that our
practices, offerings or platform could be inconsistent with, or fail or be alleged to fail to meet all requirements of, such laws, regulations or obligations. Our failure, or the
failure by our third-party providers or partners, to comply with applicable laws, regulations or other actual or asserted obligations relating to privacy, data protection or
information security, or any compromise of security that results in unauthorized access to, or unauthorized loss, unavailability, corruption, use, release or other processing of
personal information or other driver or rider data, or the perception that any of the foregoing types of failure or compromise has occurred, could damage our reputation,
discourage new and existing drivers and riders from using our platform or result in fines or proceedings by governmental agencies and private claims and litigation, any of
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, the perception of concerns relating to privacy, data protection or
information security, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation and brand and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are regularly subject to claims, lawsuits, government and regulatory investigations and other proceedings that may adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We are regularly subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government and regulatory investigations and other legal and regulatory proceedings, and in some
situations we have received subpoenas and requests for documents and information, in the ordinary course of business, including those involving personal injury, property
damage, worker classification, driver earnings, labor and employment, anti-discrimination, commercial disputes, antitrust, competition, consumer complaints (e.g., claims
brought under the the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991 or other laws), intellectual property disputes, compliance with regulatory requirements, securities laws, and
other matters, and we may become subject to additional types of claims, lawsuits, government investigations and legal or regulatory proceedings as our business grows and as
we deploy new offerings, including proceedings related to product liability or our acquisitions, data privacy, advertising, securities issuances or business practices. We are also
regularly subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government investigations and other legal and regulatory proceedings seeking to hold us liable for the actions of
independent contractor drivers on our platform. For more information regarding these types of legal proceedings, please see the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10
“Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The results of any such claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings, government investigations or other legal or regulatory proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty.
Any claims against us, whether meritorious or not, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation, be harmful to our reputation, require significant management attention
and divert significant resources. Determining reserves for our pending litigation is a complex and fact-intensive process that requires significant subjective judgment and
speculation. It is possible that a resolution of one or more such proceedings could result in substantial damages, settlement costs, fines and penalties that could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. These proceedings could also result in harm to our reputation and brand, sanctions, consent decrees, injunctions or
other orders requiring a change in our business practices. Any of these consequences could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Furthermore, under certain circumstances, we have contractual and other legal obligations to indemnify and to incur legal expenses on behalf of our business, commercial, and
government partners and current and former directors and officers.

A determination in, resolution of, or settlement of, any legal proceeding, whether we are party to such legal proceeding or not, that involves our industry, could harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, a determination related to driver classification matters, whether we are party to such determination or
not, could cause us to incur significant expenses or require substantial changes to our business model.

In addition, we regularly include arbitration provisions in our Terms of Service with the drivers and riders and other parties on our platform. These provisions are
intended to streamline the litigation process for all parties involved, as arbitration can in some cases be faster and less costly than litigating disputes in state or federal court.
However, arbitration may become more costly for us or the volume of arbitration may increase and become burdensome, and the use of arbitration provisions may subject us to
certain risks to our reputation and brand, as these provisions have been the subject of increasing public scrutiny. In order to minimize these risks to our reputation and brand, we
have in the past and may continue to limit our use of arbitration provisions or be required to do so in a legal or regulatory proceeding, either of which could increase our
litigation costs and exposure. For example, effective May 2018, we ended mandatory arbitration of sexual misconduct claims by users and employees.
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Further, with the potential for conflicting rules regarding the scope and enforceability of arbitration on a state-by-state basis, as well as between state and federal law or
between U.S. and foreign law, there is a risk that some or all of our arbitration provisions could be subject to challenge or may need to be revised to exempt certain categories
of protection. If our arbitration agreements were found to be unenforceable, in whole or in part, or specific claims are required to be exempted from arbitration, we could
experience an increase in our costs to litigate disputes and the time involved in resolving such disputes, and we could face increased exposure to potentially costly lawsuits,
each of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls or internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements
or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), and the listing
standards of the Nasdaq Global Select Market. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we
have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight. If any of our
controls and systems do not perform as expected, we may experience deficiencies in our controls and we may not be able to meet our financial reporting obligations.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in the conditions in our business, including increased
complexity resulting from any international expansion, including our acquisitions of Freenow and TBR, flexible work arrangements, new offerings on our platform or from
strategic transactions. Further, weaknesses or deficiencies in our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting have been discovered in the past, and other
weaknesses or deficiencies may be discovered in the future. Our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting are not expected to prevent
all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Due to inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our results of operations or
cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Furthermore, ineffective controls could negatively
impact management’s assessment of our control environment. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could also adversely
affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting could also cause errors in our reporting. We may also be subject to public scrutiny, regulatory inquiries and legal proceedings if such failure results in an error in our
financial reporting. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over
financial reporting is documented, designed or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and could cause a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

Changes in U.S. and foreign tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of operations or financial conditions.

We are subject to tax laws, regulations, and policies of the U.S. federal, state, and local governments and of comparable taxing authorities in foreign jurisdictions. As
various levels of governments and international organizations become increasingly focused on tax reform, changes in tax laws, as well as other factors, could cause us to
experience fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rates and otherwise adversely affect our tax positions and/or our tax liabilities. For example, the U.S. passed the
Inflation Reduction Act in 2022, which introduced a 1% excise tax on stock buybacks that has impacted us in connection with the settlements of capped call transactions and
has increased the cost to us of share repurchases, which could reduce the number of shares we repurchase. Further, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development released Pillar Two model rules defining a 15% global minimum tax for large multinational companies. While the Pillar Two Framework has been or is expected
to be implemented in the tax laws of many jurisdictions, the current U.S. administration has signaled push-back against Pillar Two. Any of these or other developments or
changes in tax laws or rulings in jurisdictions in which we operate could adversely affect our effective tax rate and our operating results.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use, gross receipts, value added or similar taxes and may
successfully impose additional obligations on us, and any such assessments or obligations could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The application of indirect taxes, such as payroll tax, sales and use tax, value-added tax, goods and services tax, business tax and gross receipts tax, to businesses like
ours and to drivers is a complex and evolving issue. Significant judgment is required on an
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ongoing basis to evaluate applicable tax obligations, and as a result, amounts recorded are estimates and are subject to adjustments. Tax authorities have challenged and may
continue to challenge our calculation, reporting, or collection of such taxes, and may require us or our drivers to collect taxes in jurisdictions in which we do not currently do
so. For example, we have an ongoing dispute with the City and County of San Francisco (“San Francisco”) regarding the application of gross receipts taxes to businesses like
ours. For more information regarding this matter, please see the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, local governments are increasingly looking for ways to increase revenue, which has resulted in tax reform and other legislative action to increase tax
revenue, including through indirect taxes and fees. For example, it is becoming more common for local governments to impose per trip taxes or fees specifically on TNC rides.
Although we have reserved for potential payments of possible past tax liabilities in our consolidated financial statements, if these liabilities exceed such reserves, our financial
condition could be harmed.

Additionally, one or more states, localities or other taxing jurisdictions may seek to impose additional reporting, record-keeping or indirect tax collection obligations
on businesses like ours. For example, taxing authorities in the U.S. and other countries have identified e-commerce platforms as a means to calculate, collect, and remit indirect
taxes for transactions taking place over the Internet, and are considering related legislation. New legislation may require us or drivers to incur substantial costs in order to
comply, including costs associated with tax calculation, collection, remittance and audit requirements, which could discourage drivers and riders from utilizing our offerings
and make our offerings less attractive and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

2 e

Operating as a public company requires us to incur substantial costs and requires s ent attention.

As a public company, we incur substantial legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. For example, we are subject to the
reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock Market. For example, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual,
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are also required to maintain effective disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased and will continue to increase our legal and financial
compliance costs, and increase demand on our systems. In addition, as a public company, we have in the past and may in the future be subject to stockholder activism, which
can lead to substantial additional costs, distract management and impact the manner in which we operate our business. Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those
requirements are identified, we may incur additional costs rectifying those or new issues, and the existence of these issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor
perceptions of it.

Climate-related factors may have a long-term impact on our business.

We have established environmental programs, such as requiring our suppliers to ensure the efficient use of raw materials, water, and energy resources via our Supplier
Code of Conduct, and we recognize that there are inherent climate-related risks wherever business is conducted. For example, our San Francisco, California headquarters is
projected to be vulnerable to future water scarcity and sea level rise due to climate change, as well as increasing frequency of other climate-related events including wildfires
and associated power shut-offs. Similar risks may exist in other regions as well. Climate-related events, including the increasing frequency of extreme weather events and their
impact on critical infrastructure in the U.S. and elsewhere, have the potential to disrupt our business, including our available supply of drivers, our third-party suppliers, and the
business of our customers, and may cause us to experience higher attrition, losses and additional costs to maintain or resume operations. Further, climate change is expected to
increase the frequency and severity of certain such events, as well as contribute to chronic changes (such as changes to weather patterns) that may also impact the behaviors of
drivers and riders or infrastructure on which we rely.

Additionally, we are or may become subject to emerging climate-related policies such as California’s Clean Miles Standard and Incentive Program that imposes certain
greenhouse gas and EV requirements on the TNC industry, and California climate-related reporting requirements such as California’s Senate Bill 253 (SB 253), Senate Bill 261
(SB 261) and Senate Bill 219 (SB 219). Massachusetts, New York City and Toronto are developing or have developed rules to address the environmental impact of rideshare. In
the EU, the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (“CSRD”), which was adopted in 2022 and significantly amended in 2025, imposes requirements on certain
companies to disclose information regarding certain environmental, social and governance practices. While we have assessed that we will not be in scope for CSRD in 2026, we
will continue to monitor and evaluate as our business in the EU grows. Further, other jurisdictions are likely to consider similar rules, regulations and/or reporting requirements
in the future. Efforts to comply with these policies and reporting requirements are likely to increase our costs, including costs related to reporting, the implementation of
extensive internal controls processes and procedures regarding matters that have not been subject to such levels of controls in the past, and impose increased oversight
obligations on our management and board of directors, as well as require us to hire third party experts. Any failure to meet the requirements could impact our ability to operate
in the applicable jurisdiction. Failure to comply could also harm our reputation and brand.

As part of our long-term strategies to address climate risks and climate regulation, which we believe includes market shifts toward EVs and lower carbon-based
business models, we often advocate for EV programs that can be efficiently accessed by drivers
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on our platform and rental car operators. Any failure of such programs to address EV capital costs, EV charging costs, and EV charging infrastructure in the context of TNCs’
unique needs could challenge our ability to progress toward internal and external EV targets. Furthermore, these EV programs are asset-intensive and require significant capital
investments and recurring costs, including debt payments, maintenance, depreciation, asset life and asset replacement costs, and if we are not able to maintain sufficient levels
of utilization of such assets or such offerings are otherwise not successful, our investments may not generate sufficient returns and our financial condition may be adversely
affected. If we are not able to allocate sufficient capital or other resources to these programs and achievement of these goals, we may not be able to make progress toward or
achieve such commitments and goals in a timely manner or at all, or we may need to modify or terminate certain programs or goals. We may also enter into arrangements with
third parties for financing, leasing or otherwise, to enable us to meet our commitments and other legal or regulatory requirements. Such transactions may require us to provide
guarantees for financing. If we fail, or are perceived to fail, to make such progress or achievements, or to maintain environmental practices that meet evolving stakeholder
expectations, or if we revise any of our commitments, initiatives, or goals, our brand and reputation could be harmed and we may face criticism from the media or our
stakeholders, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Financing and Transactional Factors

We may require additional capital, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all, and which could reduce our ability to compete and could harm our
business.

Historically, we funded our capital-intensive operations and capital expenditures primarily through equity and debt issuances and cash generated from our operations.
To support our growing business, we must have sufficient capital to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures (including to continue to make
significant investments in our offerings, including potential new offerings). From time to time, we may seek additional equity or debt financing, including by the issuance of
securities, to finance our operations and growth or to refinance our existing indebtedness, among other things. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity,
equity-linked or debt securities, such as our convertible senior notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes™) and convertible senior notes due 2030 (the “2030 Notes”), those securities
may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our Class A common stock, and our existing stockholders may experience dilution. Further, we have secured debt
financing which has resulted in fixed obligations and certain restrictive covenants, and any debt financing secured by us in the future would result in increased fixed obligations
and could involve additional restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, as well as liens on some or all of our
assets, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities.

We evaluate financing opportunities from time to time, and our ability to obtain financing will depend, among other things, on our development efforts, business plans
and operating performance and the condition of the capital markets at the time we seek financing. Additionally, uncertain and volatile macroeconomic conditions, including
economic instability or uncertainty, and other events beyond our control, such as slowing growth in the worldwide economy, inflation and high interest rates, as well as the
instability and volatility in the banking and financial services sector, and the war in Ukraine, have negatively impacted the financing markets, and may impact our access to
capital and make additional capital more difficult or available only on terms less favorable to us. We cannot be certain that additional financing will be available to us on
favorable terms, or at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to compete and continue to
support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

If we are unable to make acquisitions and investments, or successfully integrate them into our business, or if we enter into strategic transactions that do not achieve our
objectives, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

As part of our business strategy, we will continue to consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including acquisitions of businesses, new technologies,
services and other assets, joint ventures and strategic investments that complement our business, such as our acquisition of Freenow in July 2025 and our acquisition of TBR in
October 2025, as well as divestitures, partnerships and other transactions. We have previously acquired and invested in, and we continue to seek to acquire and invest in
businesses, technologies, or other assets that we believe could complement or expand our business, including acquisitions of new offerings, new geographies and other
opportunities that operate in relatively nascent markets. We also may explore investments in new technologies, which we may develop or other parties may develop. The
identification, evaluation, and negotiation of potential acquisition or strategic investment transactions may divert the attention of management and entail various expenses,
whether or not such transactions are ultimately completed. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in identifying, negotiating, and consummating favorable
transaction opportunities.

These transactions involve numerous risks, whether or not completed, any of which could harm our business and negatively affect our financial condition and results
of operations, including:

* intense competition for suitable acquisition and investment targets, which could increase transaction costs and adversely affect our ability to consummate deals on
favorable or acceptable terms;

42



+ failure or material delay in closing a transaction;

e transaction-related lawsuits or claims;

*  our ability to successfully obtain indemnification or representation and warranty insurance;

« difficulties in integrating the technologies, operations, existing contracts and personnel of an acquired company;

* challenges related to entering into new markets or geographies;

« difficulties in retaining key employees or business partners of an acquired company;

* diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations or alternative acquisition opportunities;
« failure to realize the anticipated benefits or synergies of a transaction;

« failure to identify the problems, liabilities or other shortcomings or challenges of an acquired company or technology, including issues related to intellectual property,
regulatory compliance practices, litigation, revenue recognition or other accounting practices, or employee or user issues;

* acquired businesses or businesses that we invest in may not have adequate controls, processes, and procedures to ensure compliance with laws and regulations,
including with respect to data privacy, data protection, and data security, as well as anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, export controls, sanctions and industry-
specific-regulation;

« risks that regulatory bodies may enact new laws or promulgate new regulations that are adverse to an acquired company or business, or the risk that we become subject
to new or additional regulatory burdens that affect our business in potentially unanticipated and significantly negative ways;

» theft of our trade secrets or confidential information that we share with potential acquisition candidates;
«  risk that an acquired company or investment in new offerings cannibalizes a portion of our existing business; and
*  adverse market reaction to an acquisition.

In addition, we may divest businesses or assets or enter into joint ventures, strategic partnerships or other strategic transactions. In addition, as a result of our
acquisitions of Freenow and TBR, we became an indirect party to certain partnerships and joint ventures that we did not negotiate, and with partners with whom we are less
familiar. These types of transactions present certain risks; for example, we may not achieve the desired strategic, operational and financial benefits of a divestiture, partnership,
joint venture or other strategic transaction, or we may have difficulty operating together with another partner or joint venturer. In addition, in light of high interest rates and the
volatility of the financial markets, it may be more difficult to find suitable acquirors or business partners, and during the pendency of a divestiture or during the integration or
separation process of any strategic transaction, we may be subject to risks related to a decline in the business, loss of employees, customers, or suppliers, and the risk that the
transaction does not close.

Further, minority investments inherently involve a lesser degree of control over business operations, thereby potentially increasing the financial, legal, operational,
regulatory, and/or compliance risks associated with the investment. In addition, we may be dependent on other persons or entities who control the entities in which we invest,
including their management or controlling shareholders, and who may have business interests, strategies, or goals that are inconsistent with ours. Business decisions or other
actions or omissions of the joint venture partners, controlling shareholders, management, or other persons or entities who control them may adversely affect the value of our
investment or result in litigation or regulatory action against us. We can provide no assurance that our investments in other technologies or businesses will generate returns for
our business, or that we will not lose our initial investment in whole or in part. For example, in the past we have incurred impairment charges in connection with the wind-down
of an AV partner.

If we fail to address the foregoing risks or other problems encountered in connection with past or future acquisitions of businesses, new technologies, services and
other assets, strategic investments or other transactions, or if we fail to successfully integrate such acquisitions or investments, or if we are unable to successfully complete
other transactions or such transactions do not meet our strategic objectives, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Servicing our current and future debt may require a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our indebtedness. Our
payment obligations under such indebtedness may limit the funds available to us, and the terms of our debt agreements may restrict our flexibility in operating our
business or otherwise adversely affect our results of operations.

In February 2024 and September 2025, we issued our 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes, respectively, in a private placement to qualified institutional buyers. In addition, in
connection with our acquisition of Flexdrive, which is an independently managed, wholly-owned subsidiary, Flexdrive remained responsible for its obligations under a Loan
and Security Agreement, as amended, with a third-party lender, a Master Vehicle Acquisition Financing and Security Agreement, as amended, with a third-party lender and a
Vehicle Procurement Agreement, as amended, with a third-party; and, following the acquisition, we continued to guarantee the
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payments of Flexdrive for any amounts borrowed under these agreements. As of December 31, 2025, we had $1.1 billion of indebtedness for borrowed money outstanding. In
November 2022, we also entered into a revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility””) with certain lenders providing the ability to borrow an aggregate principal
amount of up to $420.0 million, none of which has been drawn as of December 31, 2025, and $61.3 million in letters of credit were issued under the Revolving Credit Facility
as of December 31, 2025. On December 12, 2023, we entered into an amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility which, among other things, permitted us to refinance the
2025 Notes and amends certain financial covenants. On February 21, 2024, the Revolving Credit Facility was further amended to, among other things: (a) solely for the
purposes of the financial covenant test, replace total leverage with total net leverage and (b) permit us to repurchase up to a specified amount of the Company’s common stock
with the proceeds of a convertible note offering. See Note 11 “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements, for further information on these agreements and our outstanding
debt obligations.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest or fees on or to refinance or repay our indebtedness depends on our future performance,
which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to
service our debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling
assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional debt financing or equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance any existing or future
indebtedness will depend on the capital markets, general macroeconomic conditions and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these
activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations. Events and circumstances may also occur which would cause
us to not be able to satisfy applicable draw-down conditions and utilize our revolving credit facility. In addition, any of our future debt agreements may contain restrictive
covenants that may prohibit us from adopting any of these alternatives. Our failure to comply with these covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or
waived, could result in the acceleration of our debt.

In addition, our indebtedness, combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments, could have other important consequences. For example, it
could:

* make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general U.S. and worldwide economic, industry and competitive conditions and adverse changes in government
regulation;

*  limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;

*  place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors who have less debt;

*  limit our ability to borrow additional amounts to fund acquisitions, for working capital and for other general corporate purposes; and
* make an acquisition of our company less attractive or more difficult.

In addition, under certain of our and our subsidiary’s existing debt instruments, we and Flexdrive are subject to customary affirmative and negative covenants
regarding our business and operations, including limitations on Flexdrive’s ability to enter into certain acquisitions or consolidations or engage in certain asset dispositions. If
we or Flexdrive, as applicable, do not comply with these covenants or otherwise default under the arrangements, and do not obtain an amendment, waiver or consent from the
lenders, then, subject to applicable cure periods, any outstanding debt may be declared immediately due and payable. Further, any such amendment, waiver or consent that we
are able to obtain may contain additional restrictions or terms that are less favorable to us. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve additional restrictive
covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital to pursue
business opportunities, including potential acquisitions or divestitures. Any default under our debt arrangements could require that we repay our loans immediately, and may
limit our ability to obtain additional financing, which in turn may have an adverse effect on our cash flows and liquidity.

Any of these factors could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, if we incur additional indebtedness, the risks related to our
business and our ability to service or repay our indebtedness would increase.

Our revolving credit facility contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions that may limit our operational flexibility or otherwise adversely affect our
results of operations.

The terms of our revolving credit facility include a number of covenants that limit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional
indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate with other companies or sell substantially all of our assets, pay dividends, make redemptions and repurchases of stock, make
investments, loans and acquisitions, or engage in transactions with affiliates. The terms of our revolving credit facility may restrict our current and future operations and could
adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs. In addition, complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully
execute our business strategy, including potential acquisitions, and compete against companies which are not subject to such restrictions.

A failure by us to comply with the covenants or payment requirements specified in our credit agreement could result in an event of default under the agreement, which
would give the lenders the right to terminate their commitments to provide additional
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loans under our revolving credit facility and to declare all borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. If the
debt under our revolving credit facility were to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash or be able to borrow sufficient funds to refinance the debt or sell sufficient
assets to repay the debt, which could immediately adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations, and financial condition. Even if we were able to obtain new
financing or negotiate an amendment, waiver or consent under our existing credit agreement, it may contain additional restrictions, or not be on commercially reasonable terms
or on terms that are acceptable to us.

We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions.

In connection with the issuance of our 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes, we entered into the capped call transactions (the “2029 Capped Calls” and “2030 Capped Calls”,
respectively) with certain financial institutions (the “option counterparties”). We are subject to the risk that any or all of the option counterparties might default under the 2029
Capped Calls and 2030 Capped Calls. Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties will not be secured by any collateral. Past global economic conditions have
resulted in the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of many financial institutions. If an option counterparty becomes subject to insolvency proceedings, we will
become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings with a claim equal to our exposure at that time under the 2029 Capped Calls and 2030 Capped Calls with such option
counterparty. Our exposure will depend on many factors but, generally, an increase in our exposure will be correlated to an increase in the market price and in the volatility of
our Class A common stock. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, we may suffer adverse tax consequences and more dilution than we currently anticipate with
respect to our Class A common stock. We can provide no assurance as to the financial stability or viability of the option counterparties.

QOur ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of December 31, 2025, we had $7.9 billion of federal, $6.4 billion of state, and $557.4 million of foreign net operating losses (“NOLs”) available to reduce future
taxable income, which will begin to expire in 2034 for federal income tax purposes and in 2026 for state and foreign income tax purposes. It is possible that we will not
generate taxable income in time to use NOLs before their expiration. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an
“ownership change,” the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOLSs to offset its post-change income may be limited. In general, an “ownership change” will occur if there
is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5-percent shareholders” that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Limitations may also apply under state
and foreign tax laws. For example, in June 2024, California enacted legislation that limits the use of state NOLs for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2024, and before
January 1, 2027.

Under current law, the use of federal NOLs arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 is limited to 80% of taxable income. Not all states conform to this
provision. In future years, this provision may limit the usability of our NOLs generated after December 31, 2017.

Risks Related to Governance and Ownership of our Capital Stock
The trading price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

The trading price of our Class A common stock may be volatile and could be subject to fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our
control. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our Class A common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our
Class A common stock include the following:

+  price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time, including fluctuations due to general economic uncertainty or negative market sentiment;

*  volatility in the trading prices and trading volumes of technology stocks generally, or those in our industry, including fluctuations unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those technology companies;

*  changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;

* sales or purchases of shares of our Class A common stock by us, our officers, or our significant stockholders, as well as the perception that such sales or purchases
could occur;

* issuance of shares of our Class A common stock, whether in connection with our equity incentive plans, an acquisition or upon conversion of our outstanding 2029
Notes and 2030 Notes;

« failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts who follow our company or our failure to meet these
estimates or the expectations of investors;

« the financial and business projections, targets or goals we provide to the public, any changes in those projections, targets or goals or our failure to meet those
projections, targets or goals;

* announcements by us or our competitors of new offerings or platform features;
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investor sentiment and the public’s reaction to our press releases, earnings and other public announcements, and filings with the SEC, or those of our competitors or
others in our industry;

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

short selling of our Class A common stock or related derivative securities;

actual or anticipated changes in our results of operations or fluctuations in our results of operations;

actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;
developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, services or technologies by us or our competitors;

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business or statements by public officials regarding potential new laws
or regulations;

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;
any significant change in our management or our board of directors; and
general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation

has often been instituted against these companies, including as described in the “Legal Proceedings” subheading in Note 10 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Although we believe these lawsuits are without merit and we intend to vigorously defend
against them, such matters could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
difficult, thereby depressing the market price of our Class A common stock.

Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control

by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became
an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including the following:

any amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amendments by stockholders to our amended and restated bylaws require the approval of
at least two-thirds of our then-outstanding voting power;

our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms and directors are only able to be removed from office for cause;
our stockholders are only able to take action at a meeting of stockholders and are not able to take action by written consent for any matter;

our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting;

vacancies on our board of directors are able to be filled only by our board of directors and not by stockholders;

a special meeting of our stockholders may only be called by the chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer, our President or a majority of our
board of directors;

certain litigation against us can only be brought in Delaware;

our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be
issued without further action by our stockholders; and

advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual meeting of stockholders.

These provisions, alone or together, could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company. These provisions could also

discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions they desire, any of
which, under certain circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Class A common stock, and could also affect
the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.
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Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us
and our stockholders and also provide that the federal district courts will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the Securities Act of 1933 (as amended, the “Securities Act”), each of which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or
our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and
exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors,
stockholders, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws or (4) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal district court for the District
of Delaware), in all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. Our amended and restated bylaws also provide that the federal
district courts of the U.S. are the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act against any person in
connection with any offering of our securities, including, without limitation and for the avoidance of doubt, any auditor, underwriter, expert, control person or other defendant.

Any person or entity purchasing, holding or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to these
provisions. These exclusive-forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or our directors, officers
or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find the exclusive-forum provisions in our
amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which
could harm our results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Risk Management and Strategy

We have established policies and processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risk from cybersecurity threats, and have integrated these processes into
our risk management systems and processes. We routinely assess material risks from cybersecurity threats, including any potential unauthorized occurrence on or conducted
through our information systems that may result in adverse effects on the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our information systems or any information residing
therein.

We conduct a regular risk assessment process with monthly management reviews of the cybersecurity risk landscape to identify threats and may conduct further
assessments in the event of a material change in our business practices that may affect information systems that are vulnerable to such cybersecurity threats. These risk
assessments include identification of reasonably foreseeable internal and external risks, the likelihood and potential damage that could result from such risks, and the
sufficiency of existing policies, procedures, systems, and safeguards in place to manage such risks.

Following these risk assessments, we may accept identified risks; re-design, implement, and maintain reasonable safeguards to minimize identified risks; reasonably
address any identified gaps in existing safeguards; and regularly monitor the effectiveness of our safeguards. We devote significant resources and designate high-level
personnel, including our Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), who reports to our Chief Information Officer (“CIO”), to manage the risk assessment and mitigation
process.

As part of our risk management processes, we monitor and test our safeguards and train our employees on these safeguards, in collaboration with human resources, IT,
and management. Personnel at all levels and departments are made aware of our cybersecurity policies through trainings. We require relevant third-party service providers to
confirm that they have the ability to implement and maintain appropriate security measures, consistent with all applicable laws, to implement and maintain reasonable security
measures in connection with their work with us, and to promptly report any breach of its security measures that may affect our company.

We regularly discuss our internal controls over financial reporting with our independent registered public accounting firm and other service providers assist us in
evaluating the design and implementation of our cybersecurity controls and procedures, as well as to monitor and test our safeguards.

For additional information regarding whether any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our company, including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition, please refer to Item 1A, “Risk
Factors,” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the risk factor entitled “Any actual or perceived security or privacy breach or incident could interrupt our operations,
harm our brand and adversely affect our reputation, brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.”
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Governance

One of the key functions of our board of directors is informed oversight of our risk management process, including risks from cybersecurity threats. Our board of
directors has oversight responsibilities for material risk for the company, and our executive officers are responsible for the day-to-day management of the material risks we face.
Our board of directors administers its cybersecurity risk oversight function as a whole, as well as through the audit committee.

Our CISO has primary responsibility for assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats in partnership with our CIO and other business leaders.
The CISO has served in various roles within the cybersecurity field for over 15 years, including security leadership roles in multiple organizations. The CISO holds an
undergraduate degree in information security and forensics and a graduate degree in information assurance and has attained various professional certifications within the field
including Certified Information Systems Security Professional and Certified Ethical Hacker certifications.

Our CISO oversees our cybersecurity policies and processes, including those described in “Risk Management and Strategy” above. The processes and procedures by
which our CISO is informed about and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents include our incident response process,
tracking in our centralized risk repository, and our vulnerability management process. Our Incident Response policy describes and supports the activities we take to prepare for
discovery, response, and recovery from cybersecurity incidents, which include processes to determine severity, escalation, and response to incidents, as well as those necessary
to comply with potentially applicable legal obligations and mitigate brand and reputational damage.

Our CISO or other business leaders provide quarterly updates to the audit committee regarding our company’s cybersecurity risks and activities. These updates include
any relevant recent cybersecurity incidents and related mitigation and remediation efforts, cybersecurity systems testing, status updates on Security and Privacy team efforts,
and the like. Our audit committee provides updates to the board of directors on material cybersecurity risks and activities.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Francisco, California, and consist of approximately 170,000 square feet under lease agreements. We maintain additional
offices in multiple locations in the U.S. and internationally.

We lease all of our facilities and do not own any real property. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable for our current needs and that, should it be needed,
suitable additional or alternative space will be available to accommodate our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

See discussion under the heading Legal Proceedings in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this report.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART I
Item 5. Market for registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information for Common Stock

Our Class A common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “LYFT.” Our Class B common stock is neither listed nor traded.

Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2025, there were approximately 218 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock. Because many of our shares of Class A common stock
are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial owners represented by these record holders. As of
December 31, 2025, there were no stockholders of record of our Class B common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, and do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or incorporated by reference into any filing of Lyft,
Inc. under the Securities Act.

The graph below compares the cumulative five-year total stockholder return on our Class A common stock with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Index and
the S&P 500 Information Technology Index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our Class A common stock and in each index from December 31, 2020
to December 31, 2025. Data for the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Information Technology Index assume reinvestment of dividends.

The comparisons in the graph below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future performance of our common stock.

Comparison of Cumulative Return for Lyft,
S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Information Technology Index
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Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds
Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds
None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table summarizes the share repurchase activity for the three months ended December 31, 2025 (in thousands, except per share data):

Total Number of Shares Purchased ~ Approximate Dollar Value of Shares

as Part of Publicly Announced that May Yet Be Purchased Under
Total Number of Shares Purchased Average Price Paid per Share® Program the Program®

October 1 - 31, 2025 2,113 § 20.54 2,113 § 306,604
November 1 - 30, 2025 1,676 $ 21.39 1,676 $ 270,755
December 1 - 31, 2025 967 $ 21.46 967 $ 250,008
Total 4,756 4,756
(1) Average price paid per share excludes broker commissions and fees.
?2) On February 11, 2025, we announced that our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $500 million of our Class A common stock. On May 8, 2025, we announced that our board of directors

authorized an increase to the share repurchase program of an additional $250 million of our Class A common stock, for a total overall authorization of up to $750 million. The repurchase program does not
obligate us to acquire any particular amount of our Class A common stock, has no expiration date and may be modified, suspended, or terminated at any time at our discretion. Please refer to Note 12 “Common
Stock and Employee Stock Plans” to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Item 6. [Reserved].
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations focuses
on a discussion of results for 2025 and 2024 and year-to-year comparisons between 2025 and 2024. For a discussion of results for 2023 and year-to-year comparisons between
2024 and 2023, see “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2024 filed with the SEC on February 14, 2025. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Factors that
could cause or contribute to such differences include those identified below and those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” and other parts of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future.

Financial and Operational Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2025

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change

(in millions, except percentages)

GAAP Financial Measures

Revenue $ 6,316.3 $ 5,786.0 9%

Net income) $ 2,8440 $ 22.8 NM
Net income as a percentage of revenue 45.0 % 0.4 %

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,1684  $ 849.7 38%

Key Metrics and Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Active Riders for the fourth quarter 29.2 24.7 18%
Rides 945.5 828.3 14%
Gross Bookings $ 18,507.0 $ 16,099.4 15%
Adjusted EBITDA® $ 528.8 $ 382.4 38%
Net income as a percentage of Gross Bookings 154 % 0.1%
Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) 29% 24%
Free cash flow®® $ 1,1156 $ 766.3 46%
(l)Nem" the year ended December 31, 2025 includes a $2.9 billion benefit from the release of our valuation allowance of U.S. federal and certain state deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter of 2025.
2) For more information regarding our use of our non-GAAP financial measures and reconciliations of these measures to the most comparable GAAP measures, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.
3) Free cash flow is defined as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less purchases of property and equipment and scooter fleet.

NM  Not meaningful.

Recent Developments

Acquisition of Freenow

On July 31, 2025, we completed the previously announced acquisition of Freenow, a European multimodal application with a taxi offering at its core. The acquisition
marked Lyft’s first expansion outside of North America, beyond bikes and scooters. The Company paid approximately €205.9 million ($236.8 million) in cash, inclusive of
closing adjustments. Refer to Note 4 “Acquisitions” to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information
regarding the acquisition.

Acquisition of TBR

On October 14, 2025, we completed the acquisition of TBR, a global premium ground transportation and chauffeur service company, for a total purchase price of
approximately £86.4 million ($115.2 million), inclusive of an immaterial amount of contingent consideration. Refer to Note 4 “Acquisitions” to the consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding the acquisition.

Definitions of Key Metrics
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Active Riders
The number of Active Riders is a key indicator of the scale of our user community.

Active Riders

2025 2024

(in millions)
Three Months Ended March 31 24.2 21.9
Three Months Ended June 30 26.1 23.7
Three Months Ended September 30 28.7 244
Three Months Ended December 31 29.2 24.7

We define Active Riders as all unique riders who have taken at least one ride during the quarter. If a ride is requested by another organization or person for the benefit
of a rider, that rider is only included in the calculation of Active Riders if the ride is accessible in the rider’s Lyft apps.

In the first quarter of 2025, we updated the definition of Active Riders to simplify the definition and better align the metric with future scaling of our business.
Additionally, unique riders were previously identified by phone number and are now identified through a unique internal identifier. The change was adopted prospectively and
periods prior to the first quarter of 2025 were not changed as the impact was not material.

In each of the three month periods ended March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2025, Active Riders increased compared to the same periods in 2024
primarily due to our focus on rider and driver engagement, improved retention, overall marketplace health and international expansion.

Rides
Rides represent the level of usage of our multimodal platform.

We define Rides as the total number of rides completed on our multimodal platform that contribute to our revenue. These include any Rides taken through our Lyft
apps. If multiple riders take a private rideshare ride, including situations where one party picks up another party on the way to a destination, or splits the bill, we count this as a
single rideshare ride. Each unique segment of a Shared Ride is considered a single Ride. For example, if two riders successfully match in Shared Ride mode and both complete
their Rides, we count this as two Rides. We have largely shifted away from Shared Rides, and now only offer Shared Rides in limited markets. We include all Rides taken by
riders via our Concierge offering, even though such riders may be excluded from the definition of Active Riders unless the ride is accessible in that rider’s Lyft apps.

The increase in Rides in the year ended December 31, 2025 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2024 was due primarily to our improved marketplace health
which also resulted in an increase in Active Riders.

Gross Bookings and Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings)
Gross Bookings is a key indicator of the scale and impact of our overall platform.

We define Gross Bookings as the total dollar value of transactions including any applicable taxes, tolls and fees, for rides and other offerings provided by Lyft,
excluding tips to drivers. In the fourth quarter of 2025, we simplified the definition of Gross Bookings to better align the metric with future scaling of our business. There was
no impact to prior periods. Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA for a period by Gross
Bookings for the same period. For the definition of Adjusted EBITDA, refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

The increase in Gross Bookings in the year ended December 31, 2025 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2024 was due to international expansion and
growth in Active Riders and Rides which benefited from continued improvements in marketplace health.

The improvements in net income as a percentage of Gross Bookings and Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) in the year ended
December 31, 2025 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2024 were due primarily to a $2.9 billion benefit from the release of our valuation allowance of U.S. federal
and certain state deferred tax assets in fourth quarter of 2025.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

Revenue consists of revenue recognized from fees paid by drivers for use of our Lyft Platform offerings, and gross amounts collected from riders in certain markets
where we control the transportation services provided, Concierge platform fees from organizations that use our Concierge offering, subscription fees paid by riders to access
transportation options through the Lyft
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Platform, bikes and bike station hardware and software sales, licensing and data access agreements and arrangements to provide advertising services to third parties that are
interested in reaching users of our platform. Revenue also consists of rental revenues recognized through leases or subleases of vehicles primarily from our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Flexdrive Services, LLC (“Flexdrive”). Revenue derived from these offerings is recognized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606 (“ASC
606”) and Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842 (“ASC 842”) as described in the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below and in Note 2 “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies”.

We offer various incentive programs to drivers that are recorded as a reduction to revenue if we do not receive a distinct good or service in consideration or if we
cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of goods or services received.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs directly related to generating revenue through our multimodal platform which primarily includes insurance costs, payment
processing charges, payments to drivers or driver incentive costs in certain markets where we control the transportation services provided, and other costs. Insurance costs
consist of insurance generally required under TNC and city regulations for ridesharing, and bike and scooter rentals and also includes occupational hazard insurance for drivers.
Payment processing charges include merchant fees, chargebacks and failed charges. Other costs included in cost of revenue are hosting and platform-related technology costs,
personnel-related compensation costs, depreciation, amortization of technology-related intangible assets, asset write-oft charges, and costs related to Flexdrive, which include
vehicle lease expenses and remarketing gains and losses related to the sale of vehicles.

Operations and Support

Operations and support expenses primarily consist of personnel-related compensation costs of local operations teams and teams who provide phone, email and chat
support to users, bikes and scooters fleet operations support costs, driver background checks and onboarding costs, fees paid to third-parties providing operations support,
facility costs and certain car rental fleet support costs. Bikes and scooters fleet operations support costs include general repairs and maintenance, and other customer support
activities related to repositioning bikes and scooters for rider convenience, cleaning and safety checks.

Research and Development

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses primarily consist of personnel-related compensation costs and facilities costs. Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of rider incentives, personnel-related compensation costs, certain driver incentives, advertising expenses, rider refunds,
amortization of certain intangible assets and marketing partnerships with third parties. Sales and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Incentive programs are intended to
improve our marketplace. In the second quarter of 2025, we determined that certain components should be excluded from our disclosure of incentives. Accordingly, prior period
amounts disclosed have been changed to conform to current period presentation.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel-related compensation costs, professional services fees, certain insurance costs that are generally
not required under TNC regulations, certain loss contingency expenses including legal accruals and settlements, insurance claims administrative fees, policy spend,
depreciation, facility costs, amortization of certain intangible assets and other corporate costs. General and administrative expenses are expensed as incurred.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of interest incurred on our convertible senior notes, as well as the related amortization of deferred debt issuance costs and debt
discount. Interest expense also includes interest incurred on our Non-Revolving Loan and our Master Vehicle Loan.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists primarily of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and restricted and unrestricted investments and realized and unrealized gains and
losses on foreign currency transactions and balances.

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes

Our (benefit from) provision for income taxes consists of federal and state taxes in the U.S. and foreign taxes in jurisdictions in which we conduct business. As we
expand the scale of our international business activities, any changes in the U.S. and foreign taxation of such activities may increase our overall (benefit from) provision for
income taxes in the future.
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For the year ended December 31, 2025, we recognized an income tax benefit of $2.9 billion, primarily due to the release of the valuation allowance on our U.S. federal
and state net deferred tax assets.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the net amount that we believe is more-likely-than-not to be realized. In assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical profitability, expectations and risks associated with future taxable
income, and ongoing tax planning strategies.

As of December 31, 2025, we have demonstrated sustained profitability in the U.S. based on pre-tax book income adjusted for permanent book-to-tax differences.
After weighing all available positive and negative evidence, including the objective and verifiable evidence described above and anticipated future earnings, we concluded that
it is more-likely-than-not that all of our U.S. federal and the majority of our state deferred tax assets will be realizable. We continue to maintain a valuation allowance against
our California R&D credits as we do not believe their realization is more-likely-than-not, as we expect R&D tax credit generation to exceed our ability to use these credits in
future periods.
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Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our historical consolidated statements of operations data (in thousands):

Revenue
Costs and expenses
Cost of revenue
Operations and support
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Other income, net
(Loss) income before income taxes
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes
Net income

The following table sets forth the components of our consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of revenue:

Revenue
Costs and expenses
Cost of revenue
Operations and support
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Other income, net
(Loss) income before income taxes
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes

Net income

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2025 and 2024

Revenue

Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024
$ 6,316,261 $ 5,786,016
3,697,653 3,337,714
478,332 443,821
451,419 397,073
875,101 788,972
1,002,130 937,348
6,504,635 5,904,928
(188,374) (118,912)
(20,755) (28,921)
155,882 173,183
(53,247) 25,350
(2,897,255) 2,566
$ 2,844,008 $ 22,784
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024
100.0 % 100.0 %
58.5 57.7
7.6 7.7
7.1 6.9
13.9 13.6
15.9 16.2
103.0 102.1
(3.0) @.1)
(0.3) (0.5)
2.5 3.0
(0.8) 0.4
(45.9) =
45.0 % 0.4 %
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
6,316,261 $ 5,786,016 9%

Revenue increased $530.2 million, or 9%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year, primarily due to an increase of 14% in Rides as we benefited from improvements in
marketplace health and international expansion which was reflected in the increases in Gross Bookings, Rides and Active Riders in 2025 as compared to 2024. Investments in
driver supply, which are recorded as a reduction to revenue, decreased by $121.4 million in 2025 as compared to the prior year as driver supply on the platform benefited from
organic growth. The increase was also offset by a $168 million impact from certain legal, tax, and regulatory reserve changes and settlements, which were recorded as a

reduction to revenue.



We expect revenue will fluctuate based upon factors such as ride volume, driver supply, pricing, incentives and seasonality specifically related to our network of
shared bikes and scooters.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Cost of revenue $ 3,697,653 $ 3,337,714 11 %

Cost of revenue increased $359.9 million, or 11%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to a $337.8 million increase in insurance
costs driven by increased ride volume paired with higher costs per mile. There were also increases of $29.6 million in transaction fees due to higher ride volume. These
increases were partially offset by a $35.0 million decrease in restructuring costs in 2025 compared to 2024.

We expect to see cost of revenue increase in the near term on a year-over-year basis due to higher insurance costs driven by recent economic factors and the renewals
of our third party insurance agreements, but we expect total insurance costs will increase at a lower rate than they have historically as a result of a recently passed rideshare
insurance reform bill, SB 371, which is expected to reduce our insurance rate in California.

Operations and Support
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Operations and support $ 478,332 $ 443,821 8%

Operations and support expenses increased $34.5 million, or 8%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to increases of $17.0 million in
driver onboarding costs and rider, driver and car rental fleet support costs and $8.6 million in personnel-related costs driven by increased headcount.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Research and development $ 451,419 $ 397,073 14 %

Research and development expenses increased $54.3 million, or 14%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to increases of
$32.5 million in personnel-related costs and $17.9 million in stock-based compensation driven by increased headcount.

Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Sales and marketing $ 875,101 $ 788,972 11 %

Sales and marketing expenses increased $86.1 million, or 11%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to investments in rider
engagement including (i) a $43.0 million increase of costs related to our incentive programs from $402.8 million to $445.8 million and (ii) a $32.9 million increase in
marketing partnerships with third parties. There was also a $14.0 million increase in brand and other marketing. These increases were partially offset by a $22.6 million
decrease in advertising expenses related to riders and drivers.
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General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change

(in thousands, except for percentages)

General and administrative $ 1,002,130 $ 937,348 7 %

General and administrative expenses increased $64.8 million, or 7%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to a $45.2 million increase
in consultant and advisory costs, a $35.5 million increase due to higher self-retained general business liabilities and the impact of a $29.6 million gain from lease termination
related to our San Francisco headquarters recorded in 2024 for which there was no equivalent impact in 2025. These increases were partially offset by decreases of
$27.0 million related to stock-based compensation and $23.3 million in certain loss contingencies including legal and tax accruals and settlements.

Interest Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Interest expense $ (20,755) $ (28,921) (28)%
Interest expense decreased $8.2 million, or 28%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year.
Other Income, Net
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Other income, net $ 155,882 $ 173,183 (10)%

Other income, net decreased $17.3 million, or 10%, in 2025 as compared to the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to a $19.1 million decrease in interest
income and a $5.1 million gain on extinguishment recognized in the first quarter of 2024 related to the partial repurchase of 2025 Notes. The decrease was partially offset by a
$12.6 million increase due to foreign currency exchange.

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 % Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $  (2,897,255) $ 2,566 NM

NM  Not meaningful.

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes decreased $2.9 billion in 2025 as compared to the prior year primarily due to the release of our valuation allowance of U.S.
federal and certain state deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter of 2025.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings)

Adjusted EBITDA is a key performance measure and Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) is a key metric, both of which our
management uses to assess our operating performance and the operating leverage in our business. Because Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a
percentage of Gross Bookings) facilitate internal comparisons of our historical operating performance on a more consistent basis, we use these measures for business planning
purposes. Net income (loss) is the most directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted EBITDA.

We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss), adjusted for:

. interest expense;

. other income, net;

. provision for (benefit from) income taxes;
. depreciation and amortization;
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. stock-based compensation;

. payroll tax expense related to stock-based compensation;

. sublease income;

. gain from lease termination, if any;

. costs related to acquisitions, divestitures and other corporate matters, if any;
. certain legal, tax, and regulatory reserve changes and settlements, if any; and
. restructuring charges, if any.

Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA for a period by Gross Bookings for the same
period.

We announced restructuring plans in the second quarter of 2023 and third quarter of 2024 to reduce operating expenses and align strategic priorities. We believe the
costs associated with the restructurings are distinguishable from ongoing operating costs and do not reflect current or expected performance of our ongoing operations. We
believe the adjustment to exclude the costs related to restructuring from Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors by enabling them to better assess our ongoing operating
performance and provide for better comparability with our historically disclosed Adjusted EBITDA amounts. Refer to Note 15 “Restructuring” to the consolidated financial
statements for information regarding these restructuring plans.

We sublease certain office space and earn sublease income. Sublease income is included within other income, net on our consolidated statement of operations, while
the related lease expense is included within operating expenses and loss from operations. We believe the adjustment to include sublease income in Adjusted EBITDA is useful
to investors by enabling them to better assess our operating performance, including the benefits of recent transactions, by presenting sublease income as a contra-expense to the
related lease charges within our operating expenses.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, we terminated a portion of the lease for our San Francisco headquarters. The right-of-use asset associated with the portion of this lease
was previously impaired as part of our restructuring plans in the fourth quarter of 2022 and second quarter of 2023, and the extinguishment of the remaining lease liability
resulted in the recorded gain within operating lease costs. We believe this does not reflect the current period performance of our ongoing operations and that the adjustment to
exclude this gain from lease termination from Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors by enabling them to better assess Lyft’s ongoing operating performance and provide for
better comparability with Lyft’s historically disclosed Adjusted EBITDA amounts. Refer to Note 9 “Leases” to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding
this gain from lease termination.

We exclude certain costs related to acquisitions including due diligence costs, professional fees in connection with an acquisition, certain financing costs, and certain
integration-related expenses. These expenses are unpredictable, and depend on factors that may be outside of our control and are not reflective of our ongoing core operations.
In addition, the size and complexity of an acquisition, which often drives the magnitude of costs related to acquisitions, may not be indicative of such future costs. We believe
excluding costs related to acquisitions, divestitures and other corporate matters facilitates the comparison of our financial results to our historical operating results and to other
companies in our industry.

Certain legal, tax, and regulatory reserve changes and settlements are primarily related to certain reserves and/or settlements for significant legal proceedings or
governmental investigations and the associated fees. These matters have limited precedent, cover extended historical periods and are unpredictable in both magnitude and
timing, therefore are distinct from normal, recurring legal, tax and regulatory matters and related expenses incurred in our ongoing operating performance.

For more information regarding the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) and a reconciliation of
net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA, see the section titled “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

Free Cash Flow

Free cash flow is a measure used by our management to understand and evaluate our operating performance and trends. We believe free cash flow is a useful indicator
of liquidity that provides our management, board of directors, and investors with information about our ability to generate or use cash to enhance the strength of our balance
sheet, further invest in our business and pursue potential strategic initiatives.

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less purchases of property and equipment and scooter fleet.

Free cash flow has certain limitations, including that it does not reflect our future contractual commitments and it does not represent the total increase or decrease in
our cash balance for a given period. Free cash flow does not necessarily represent funds available for discretionary use and is not necessarily a measure of our ability to fund
our cash needs. For more information regarding
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the limitations of free cash flow and a reconciliation of net cash provided by (used in) operating activities to free cash flow, see the section titled “Reconciliation of Non-GAAP
Financial Measures”.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use our non-GAAP financial measures in conjunction with GAAP measures as part of our overall assessment of our performance, including the preparation of our
annual operating budget and quarterly forecasts, to evaluate the effectiveness of our business strategies, and to communicate with our board of directors concerning our
financial performance. Our definitions may differ from the definitions used by other companies and therefore comparability may be limited. In addition, other companies may
not publish these or similar metrics. Furthermore, these measures have certain limitations in that they do not include the impact of certain expenses that are reflected in our
consolidated statements of operations that are necessary to run our business. Thus, our non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in addition to, not as substitutes for,
or in isolation from, measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

We compensate for these limitations by providing a reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure. We
encourage investors and others to review our financial information in its entirety, not to rely on any single financial measure and to view our non-GAAP financial measures in
conjunction with the respective most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.

Net income is the most directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted EBITDA. The following table provides a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA
(in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024
Net income $ 2,8440 $ 22.8
Adjusted to exclude the following:
Interest expense(" 25.5 34.7
Other income, net (155.9) (173.2)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes® (2,897.3) 2.6
Depreciation and amortization 135.2 148.9
Stock-based compensation 3223 330.9
Payroll tax expense related to stock-based compensation 13.0 14.8
Sublease income 0.9 3.5
Costs related to acquisitions, divestitures and other corporate matters 29.4 —
Certain legal, tax, and regulatory reserve changes and settlements 211.6 —
Gain from lease termination — (29.6)
Restructuring charges® — 26.9
Adjusted EBITDA® $ 528.8 $ 382.4
Gross Bookings $ 18,507.0 $ 16,099.4
Net income as a percentage of Gross Bookings 154 % 0.1%
Adjusted EBITDA margin (calculated as a percentage of Gross Bookings) 29% 24 %
(I)Inmmillion and $5.8 million related to the interest component of vehicle related finance leases in the year ended December 31, 2025 and 2024. Refer to Note 9 “Leases” to the consolidated financial
statements for information regarding the interest component of vehicle-related finance leases.
2) Includes a $2.9 billion benefit from the release of our valuation allowance of U.S. federal and certain state deferred tax assets in fourth quarter of 2025.
3) In the year ended December 31, 2024, we incurred restructuring charges of $14.1 million of fixed asset disposals, $11.1 million of other current assets disposals and other costs and $1.8 million of severance and

other employee costs. Restructuring related charges for accelerated depreciation of fixed assets of $10.6 million are included on its respective line item. Refer to Note 15 “Restructuring” to the consolidated
financial statements for information regarding the restructuring plan announced in September 2024.
“4) Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to the totals provided.
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Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities is the most directly comparable financial measure to free cash flow. The following table provides a reconciliation of
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities to free cash flow (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,168.4 $ 849.7
Less: purchases of property and equipment and scooter fleet (52.8) (83.5)
Free cash flow" $ 1,1156 § 766.3
(1) Due to rounding, numbers presented may not calculate precisely to the totals provided.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,168,438 $ 849,737
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 406,738 (517,978)
Net cash used in financing activities (685,528) (155,869)
Effect of foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,682 (1,636)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 891,330 § 174,254

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $1.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2025, which consisted of net income of $2.8 billion adjusted for $2.5 billion of
non-cash items, and changes in working capital of $829.0 million. The year over year improvement in net income was $2.8 billion, from a net income of $22.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 to a net income of $2.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2025 primarily due to the release of our valuation allowance on U.S. federal and
certain state deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter of 2025. Non-cash adjustments primarily consisted of deferred income tax of $2.9 billion due to the valuation allowance
release, stock-based compensation expense of $322.3 million, and depreciation and amortization expense of $135.2 million. The changes in working capital were primarily
driven by insurance, which saw (i) an increase in our insurance reserves due to a rise in commercial auto insurance rates on a per mile basis compared to the prior year, paired
with an increase in ride volume in 2025 compared to the previous periods and (ii) an increase in insurance-related accruals. There was also an increase in certain loss
contingencies, including legal accruals. These were partially offset by (i) an increase in accounts receivable due to growth in certain initiatives and (ii) ordinary payments for
our real estate operating leases.

Cash provided by operating activities was $849.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which consisted of a net income of $22.8 million adjusted for $375.1
million of non-cash items, and changes in working capital of $451.9 million. The year over year improvement in net income (loss) was $363.1 million, from a net loss of
$340.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to a net income of $22.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Non-cash adjustments included stock-based
compensation expense of $330.9 million, which decreased year over year due to a reduction in headcount driven by the restructuring activities initiated in prior years, and
depreciation and amortization expense of $148.9 million. The changes in working capital were primarily driven by insurance, which saw (i) an increase in our insurance
reserves due to a rise in commercial auto insurance rates on a per mile basis compared to the prior year, an increase in ride volume in 2024 compared to the previous period and
strategic risk management decisions to retain additional risk in certain markets, and (ii) an increase in insurance-related accruals. There was also an increase in certain loss
contingencies, including legal accruals. These were partially offset by (i) increases to prepaid expenses for cash outflows related to our insurance activities, including insurance
premium payments and (ii) ordinary payments for our real estate operating leases. The timing of our scheduled driver payments also impacted prepaid and other current assets
and accrued liabilities.

Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities was $406.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2025, which primarily consisted of purchases of marketable securities of
$3.3 billion, cash paid for the acquisition of Freenow and TBR of $307.3 million, net of cash acquired and purchases of property and equipment of $52.8 million, partially
offset by proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities of $4.1 billion and the sale of property and equipment of $52.9 million.

Cash used in investing activities was $518.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which primarily consisted of purchases of marketable securities of $4.2
billion and purchases of property and equipment of $83.5 million, partially offset by proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities of $3.6 billion and the sale of
property and equipment of $92.0 million.
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Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $685.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2025, which primarily consisted of repurchase of Class A common stock of
$500.0 million, repayment of our 2025 Notes of $390.7 million, taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards of $151.3 million, repayment of loans of $62.4
million and principal payments on finance lease obligations of $41.3 million. This was partially offset by $500.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of our 2030 Notes,
reduced by expenditures of $42.0 million related to the purchase of capped calls and $12.2 million in payments of debt issuance costs.

Cash used in financing activities was $155.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This included a net cash inflow of $0.2 million for transactions related to
the issuance of our 2029 Notes which included $460.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of the 2029 Notes and expenditures of $350.0 million related to the settlement of
the 2025 Notes, $50.0 million related to the repurchase of Class A common stock, $47.9 million related to the purchase of capped calls and $11.9 million in payments of debt
issuance costs. Additionally, our financing activities included a repayment of loans of $84.1 million, principal payments on finance lease obligations of $46.7 million and taxes
paid related to net share settlement of equity awards of $40.3 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2025, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.1 billion and short-term investments of approximately
$705.2 million, exclusive of restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted investments of $1.9 billion, and $420.0 million available to draw under our revolving credit
facility, as described below. We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and short term investments, along with the available borrowings under our revolving credit facility
will provide sufficient liquidity to meet our working capital needs, inclusive of short-term commitments such as capital expenditure needs, for at least the next 12 months.

The portion of our cash and cash equivalents that is not invested is held at several large financial institutions and our investments are focused on the preservation of
capital, fulfillment of our liquidity needs, and maximization of investment performance within the parameters set forth in our investment policy and subject to market
conditions. The investment policy sets forth credit rating minimums, permissible allocations, and limits our exposure to specific investment types. We believe these policies
mitigate our exposure to any risk concentrations.

Debt

On November 3, 2022, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement with certain lenders which provides for a $420 million senior secured revolving credit facility,
with a sublimit of $168 million for the issuance of letters of credit (as amended to date, the “Revolving Credit Facility”), maturing on November 3, 2027. As of December 31,
2025, no amounts have been drawn under the Revolving Credit Facility. Our available credit under the Revolving Credit Facility is reduced by $61.3 million in letters of credit
issued under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2025. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion on the Revolving
Credit Facility, including covenant requirements.

In February 2024, we issued $460 million aggregate principal amount of the 2029 Notes and in September 2025, we issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of
the 2030 Notes, maturing in March 2029 and September 2030, respectively, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” and Note 12 “Common
Stock and Employee Stock Plans” to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding these transactions.

Restricted Assets

We collect the fare and related charges from riders on behalf of drivers at the time the ride is delivered using the rider’s authorized payment method, and we retain any
fees owed to us before making the remaining disbursement to drivers. Accordingly, we maintain no accounts receivable from drivers. Our contracts with insurance providers
require reinsurance premiums to be deposited into trust accounts with a third-party financial institution from which the insurance providers are reimbursed for claims payments.
Our restricted reinsurance trust assets as of December 31, 2025 and 2024 were $1.9 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively.

Share Repurchase

In February 2025, we announced that our board of directors had authorized a program for the repurchase of up to $500.0 million of our Class A common stock. In May
2025, our board of directors authorized an increase to this initial share repurchase program of an additional $250.0 million of our Class A common stock, for a total overall
authorization of up to $750.0 million, and we announced our intent to utilize $500.0 million of this authorization before the end of the second quarter of 2026. As of
December 31, 2025, we had repurchased an aggregate amount of $500.0 million of our Class A common stock, and $250.0 million remained available under the initial
repurchase authorization. In February 2026, our board of directors authorized a new share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $1.0 billion of our Class A common
stock, in addition to amounts remaining available under our initial repurchase program. We have entered into, and from time to time expect to enter into, Rule 10b5-1 trading
plans to facilitate the repurchase of shares under the authorization. Repurchases may be made from time to time through open market purchases or through privately negotiated
transactions subject to market conditions, applicable legal requirements and other relevant factors. Refer to Note
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12 “Common Stock and Employee Stock Plans” and Note 16 “Subsequent Events” to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding these programs.

We plan to continue to focus on and actively manage our cash balances and liquidity, capital expenditures, working capital and operating expenses. In particular, we
continue to actively monitor the impact of the uncertain macroeconomic environment, including credit markets, inflation and interest rates, and have made adjustments to our
expenses and cash flow. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to, our growth, the effectiveness of our efforts to align our
expenses with our current operating needs and short-term commitments, our ability to attract and retain drivers and riders on our platform, the continuing market acceptance of
our offerings, the timing and extent of spending to support our efforts to develop our platform, actual insurance payments for which we have made reserves, and the expansion
of sales and marketing activities, as well as satisfaction of our obligations with respect to indebtedness. See the section titled “Risk Factors” including the subsection titled
“Risk Factors—Risks Related to Financing and Transactional Factors” included in Part 1, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion of risks that
our business faces.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2025 (in millions):

Payments Due by Period
Total® 12 months or less Thereafter
Operating lease commitments $ 2329 $ 382 § 194.7
Financing lease commitments 81.2 38.8 42.4
Long-term debt, including current maturities" 1,053.0 50.6 1,002.4
Purchase commitments 672.6 146.4 526.2

€3] Includes the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes with outstanding principal amounts of $460.0 million and $500.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2025. The 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes mature on March 1,
2029 and September 15, 2030, respectively, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding the 2029 Notes and 2030
Notes.

2) Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to the totals provided.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are prepared in accordance with GAAP.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements also requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and
expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results could differ significantly from our estimates. To the extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement
presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.

We believe that the accounting policies described below involve a significant degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, we believe these are the most critical to
aid in fully understanding and evaluating our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. For further information, see Note 2 “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

We generate substantially all our revenue from our ridesharing marketplace that connects drivers and riders. We recognize revenue from fees paid by drivers for use of
our Lyft Platform offerings in accordance with ASC 606 as described in Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.

We recognize revenue upon completion of a ride as the single performance obligation is satisfied and we have the right to receive payment for the services rendered
upon the completion of the ride. We evaluate the presentation of revenue on a gross versus net basis based on whether we act as a principal by controlling the transportation
service provided to the rider or whether we act as an agent by arranging for third parties to provide the service to the rider. Judgment is required in this assessment, and in most
cases, we act as an agent in facilitating the ability of a driver to provide a transportation service to a rider. Revenue generated in these cases is reported on a net basis, reflecting
the service fees and commissions owed to us from the drivers as revenue, and not the gross amount collected from the rider. In certain markets, we act as a principal for
transportation services as we control the services provided. Revenue generated in these markets is reported on a gross basis reflecting the gross amount collected from the rider,
with payments to the drivers recorded within cost of revenue.

We also offer various incentive programs to drivers and riders to encourage use of the Lyft Platform. Judgment is required to determine the appropriate classification of
these incentives. Incentives provided to drivers and bikes and scooters riders are generally recorded as reduction to revenue if we do not receive a distinct good or service in
consideration or if we cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of goods or services received. In markets where we control the transportation services provided, incentives
provided to
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drivers are recognized in cost of revenue. Incentives provided to riders are generally recognized as sales and marketing expense with the exception of market-wide marketing
promotions.

Insurance Reserves and Insurance-related Accruals

We utilize both a wholly-owned captive insurance subsidiary and third-party insurance, which may include deductibles and self-insured retentions, to insure or reinsure
costs including auto liability, uninsured and underinsured motorist, auto physical damage, first party injury coverages including personal injury protection under state law and
general business liabilities up to certain limits. The recorded liabilities reflect the estimated cost for claims incurred but not paid and claims that have been incurred but not yet
reported and any estimable administrative run-out expenses related to the processing of these outstanding claim payments. Liabilities are determined on a quarterly basis using
assumptions based on actuarial judgment through an analysis of historical trends, changes in claims experience including consideration of new information and application of
loss development factors for the insurance reserves and frequency and severity assumptions for the insurance-related accruals, among other inputs and assumptions.

Insurance claims may take years to completely settle. Accordingly, we make certain assumptions based on currently available information and industry statistics, with
the loss development factors as the most significant assumptions related to the insurance reserves and the frequency and severity assumptions as the most significant
assumptions related to insurance-related accruals, and utilize actuarial models and techniques to estimate the reserves. A number of factors can affect the actual cost of a claim,
including the length of time the claim remains open, economic and healthcare cost trends and the results of related litigation. Furthermore, claims may emerge in future years
for events that occurred in a prior year at a rate that differs from previous actuarial projections. The impact of these factors on ultimate costs for insurance is difficult to estimate
and could be material. However, while we believe that the insurance reserve and insurance-related accrual amounts are adequate, the ultimate liabilities may be in excess of, or
less than, the amounts provided. As a result, the net amounts that will ultimately be paid to settle the liabilities and when amounts will be paid may significantly vary from the
estimated amounts provided for in the consolidated balance sheets. We continue to review our insurance reserve estimates in a regular, ongoing process as historical experience
develops, additional claims are reported as settled, and the legal, regulatory and economic environment evolves.

Business Combinations

We account for our business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other things, allocation of the fair value of purchase
consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of purchase
consideration over the values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, we
make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but
which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date
of acquisition, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to goodwill if new information is obtained related to facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. After the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are reflected on the consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of the goodwill may not be recoverable. We first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary.
Judgment in the assessment of qualitative factors of impairment include, among other factors: financial performance; legal, regulatory, contractual, business, and other factors;
entity specific factors; industry and market considerations, macroeconomic conditions, and other relevant events and factors affecting the reporting unit. To the extent we
determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a quantitative test is then performed.

Loss Contingencies

We are involved in legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory and governmental inquiries and investigations in the ordinary course of business. Certain matters include
speculative claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts of damages. We record a liability when we believe that it is both probable that a loss has been incurred and the
amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated, we disclose the possible loss in
the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

We review the developments in our contingencies that could affect the amount of the provisions that have been previously recorded, and the matters and related
reasonably possible losses disclosed. We make adjustments to our provisions and changes to our disclosures accordingly to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements,
rulings, advice of legal counsel, and updated information. Significant judgment is required to determine both the probability and the estimated amount of loss. These estimates
have been based on our assessment of the facts and circumstances at each balance sheet date and are subject to change based on new information and future events.
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The outcomes of our legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties. For matters where we have recorded a probable and
estimable loss, until the final resolution of the matter, there may be exposure to a material loss in excess of the amount recorded.

Income Taxes

We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the net amount that we believe is more-likely-than-not to be realized. In assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical profitability, expectations and risks associated with future taxable
income, and ongoing tax planning strategies. We weigh positive and negative evidence based on the extent to which it can be objectively verified. The assessment of the
valuation allowance requires significant management judgment regarding future profitability, which may change due to many factors, including future market conditions and
our ability to successfully execute business plans. Changes in our assessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets could result in adjustments to the valuation allowance
and corresponding impacts to our income tax provision in future periods.

In recognizing tax benefits from uncertain tax positions, we assess whether it is more-likely-than-not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the
taxing authorities based on its technical merits. Evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes are inherently uncertain and requires judgment and
use of assumptions and estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for recent accounting pronouncements as of the date of
this report.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, which primarily relate to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange. Such
fluctuations to date have not been significant.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2025, we had unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $1.8 billion, which consisted primarily of
institutional money market funds, certificates of deposits, commercial paper, corporate bonds, and U.S. government and agency securities, which each carry a degree of interest
rate risk, and restricted cash, cash equivalents and restricted investments of $1.9 billion. As of December 31, 2025, we had long-term debt of $1.1 billion, which primarily
consisted of the fixed-rate 2029 Notes we issued in February 2024 and the 2030 Notes which have a 0% interest rate issued in September 2025. A hypothetical 100 basis points
change in interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our international revenue, as well as costs and expenses denominated in foreign currencies, expose us to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
against the U.S. dollar. We have experienced and will continue to experience fluctuations in our net income (loss) as a result of transaction gains or losses related to revaluing
and ultimately settling certain asset and liability balances that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities in which they are recorded. The
effect of a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Lyft, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lyft, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2025, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2025
and 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2025 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
taken as a
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whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it
relates.

Valuation of Certain Insurance Reserves and Insurance-Related Accruals

As described in Notes 2 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company utilizes both a wholly-owned captive insurance subsidiary and third-party insurance, which
may include deductibles and self-insured retentions, to insure or reinsure costs including auto liability, uninsured and underinsured motorist, auto physical damage, first party
injury coverages including personal injury protection under state law and general business liabilities up to certain limits. As of December 31, 2025, insurance reserves and
insurance-related accruals totaled $2,180.4 million and $892.8 million, respectively, of which a majority relates to certain insurance reserves and insurance-related accruals. The
recorded liabilities reflect the estimated cost for claims incurred but not paid and claims that have been incurred but not yet reported and any estimable administrative run-out
expenses related to the processing of these outstanding claim payments. These liabilities are determined on a quarterly basis using assumptions based on actuarial judgment
through an analysis of historical trends and changes in claims experience. Management makes certain assumptions based on currently available information and industry
statistics, with the loss development factors as the most significant assumption related to the insurance reserves and the frequency and severity assumptions as the most
significant assumptions related to the insurance-related accruals, and utilizes actuarial models and techniques to estimate the reserves.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of certain insurance reserves and insurance-related accruals is a critical
audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the estimate of certain insurance reserves and insurance-related accruals; (ii) a high degree of
auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to loss development factors for the certain
insurance reserves and the frequency and severity for the certain insurance-related accruals; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the valuation of insurance reserves and insurance-related accruals. These procedures also included,
among others (i) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data provided by management and (ii) the involvement of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of management’s estimates by (a) developing independent estimates of certain insurance reserves and insurance-related
accruals and comparing these independent estimates to management’s actuarially determined reserves; (b) evaluating the appropriateness of management’s actuarial models and
techniques and the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions related to loss development factors for the certain insurance reserves and frequency and severity for
the certain insurance-related accruals by considering historical loss experience and claims experience; and (c) evaluating the consistency of management’s actuarial models and
techniques period-over-period.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Francisco, California
February 10, 2026

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
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Lyft, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except for per share data)
December 31,

2025 2024
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,132,009 $ 759,319
Short-term investments 705,172 1,225,124
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,082,334 966,090
Total current assets 2,919,515 2,950,533
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 705,361 186,721
Restricted investments 1,230,758 1,355,451
Other investments 47,066 42,516
Property and equipment, net 418,530 444,864
Operating lease right-of-use assets 165,579 148,397
Intangible assets, net 178,944 42,776
Goodwill 439,754 251,376
Deferred tax assets 2,906,135 435
Other assets 18,411 12,000
Total assets $ 9,030,053 $ 5,435,069
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 120,464 $ 97,704
Insurance reserves 2,180,426 1,701,393
Accrued and other current liabilities 2,196,863 1,666,278
Operating lease liabilities, current 28,068 25,192
Convertible senior notes, current — 390,175
Total current liabilities 4,525,821 3,880,742
Operating lease liabilities 159,904 152,074
Long-term debt, net of current portion 1,002,404 565,968
Other liabilities 68,401 69,269
Total liabilities 5,756,530 4,668,053

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024; no shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2025 and 2024

Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 18,000,000 Class A shares authorized as of December 31, 2025 and 2024; 400,856 and 409,474 Class A

shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively; 87,220 and 100,000 Class B shares authorized as of 4 4
December 31, 2025 and 2024; no Class B shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2025 and 8,531 Class B shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2024

Additional paid-in capital 10,687,017 11,035,246
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 625 (10,103)
Accumulated deficit (7,414,123) (10,258,131)
Total stockholders’ equity 3,273,523 767,016
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 9,030,053 $ 5,435,069

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lyft, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except for per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023
Revenue $ 6,316,261 § 5,786,016 $ 4,403,589
Costs and expenses
Cost of revenue 3,697,653 3,337,714 2,543,954
Operations and support 478,332 443,821 427,239
Research and development 451,419 397,073 555,916
Sales and marketing 875,101 788,972 481,004
General and administrative 1,002,130 937,348 871,080
Total costs and expenses 6,504,635 5,904,928 4,879,193
Loss from operations (188,374) (118,912) (475,604)
Interest expense (20,755) (28,921) (26,223)
Other income, net 155,882 173,183 170,123
(Loss) income before income taxes (53,247) 25,350 (331,704)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (2,897,255) 2,566 8,616
Net income (loss) $ 2,844,008 $ 22,784  § (340,320)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders
Basic $ 692 § 006 $ (0.88)
Diluted $ 681 § 0.06 $§ (0.88)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute net income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders
Basic 410,840 409,181 385,335
Diluted 417,659 413,651 385,335
Stock-based compensation included in costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue $ 23,600 $ 24895 $ 30,170
Operations and support 10,244 8,397 15,468
Research and development 135,700 117,833 214,160
Sales and marketing 17,240 17,286 29,682
General and administrative 135,484 162,510 195,053

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lyft, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023

Net income (loss) $ 2,844,008 $ 22,784 $ (340,320)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes 8,960 (4,925) (2,851)

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net of taxes 1,768 (229) 3,656

Other comprehensive income (loss) 10,728 (5,154) 805

$ 2,854,736 $ 17,630 $ (339,515)

Comprehensive income (loss)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance as of December 31, 2022
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock
units

Shares withheld related to net share settlement

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan

Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Other

Balance as of December 31, 2023

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock
units

Shares withheld related to net share settlement

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan

Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Purchase of capped call

Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive loss

Net income

Other

Balance as of December 31, 2024

Issuance of common stock upon settlement of restricted stock
units

Shares withheld related to net share settlement

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase
plan

Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Purchase of capped call, net of tax
Stock-based compensation

Other comprehensive income

Net income

Balance as of December 31, 2025

Lyft, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands)

Class A and Class B Additional Accg)l:}‘ulated Total
C Stock 1tional . er otai
ommon Sto¢ Paid-in Capital Accumulated Deficit Comprehensive Stockholders’ Equity
Shares Amount Income (Loss)
370,155 § 4 3 10,335,013  $ (9,940,595) (5,754) $ 388,668
201 — 1,204 — — 1,204
28,397 — — — — —
(296) — (3,021) — — (3,021)
1,349 — 9,788 — — 9,788
— — 484,533 — — 484,533
— — — — 805 805
_ _ — (340,320) — (340,320)
— — (139) — — (139)
399,806 $ 4 10,827,378 (10,280,915) (4,949) § 541,518
780 — 3,613 — — 3,613
22,011 — — — — —
(2,529) — (40,328) — — (40,328)
1,080 — 11,438 — — 11,438
(3,143) — (50,000) — — (50,000)
_ — (47,886) — — (47,886)
— — 330,921 — — 330,921
_ — — — (5,154) (5,154)
— — — 22,784 — 22,784
— — 110 — — 110
418,005 $ 4 11,035,246 (10,258,131) (10,103) $ 767,016
21,065 — — — — —
(9,010) — (151,311) — — (151,311)
1,077 — 14,861 — — 14,861
(30,281) — (503,236) — — (503,236)
— — (30,811) — — (30,811)
— — 322,268 — — 322,268
— — — — 10,728 10,728
_ — — 2,844,008 = 2,844,008
400,856 $ 4 10,687,017 (7,414,123) 625 $ 3,273,523

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)

Lyft, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation

Deferred income tax

Amortization of premium on marketable securities
Accretion of discount on marketable securities
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Loss (gain) on sale and disposal of assets, net
Gain on lease termination

Other

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net effects of acquisition

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Operating lease right-of-use assets

Accounts payable

Insurance reserves

Accrued and other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities
Purchases of term deposits
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of term deposits
Purchases of property and equipment and scooter fleet
Sales of property and equipment
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Other investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of loans
Payment for settlement of convertible senior notes due 2025
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes due 2029
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes due 2030
Payment of debt issuance costs
Purchase of capped calls
Repurchase of Class A common stock

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and other common stock issuances

Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards
Principal payments on finance lease obligations
Contingent consideration paid
Other financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of period
End of period

Year Ended December 31,

2025 2024 2023
2,844,008 $ 22,784 $ (340,320)
135,227 148,892 116,513
322,268 330,921 484,533
(2,895,119) (1,876) (2,385)
307 284 117
(69,236) (89,425) (68,125)
3,655 3,737 2,877
7,569 7,831 (11,278)
— (29,610) -
(9,232) 2,469 (4,261)
(51,032) (76,440) (86,600)
26,978 26,276 20,046
21,684 21,712 (41,079)
479,033 363,524 (79.,482)
385,564 166,014 (73,508)
(33,236) (47,356) (15,292)
1,168,438 849,737 (98,244)
(3,344,891) (4,177,429) (3,288,659)
— (4,388) (3.539)
728,435 232,910 452,465
3,329,579 3,415,318 3,481,042
2,194 5,733 8,539
(52,822) (83,470) (149,819)
52,893 92,045 92,594
(307,320) — 1,630
(1,330) 1,303 5,500
406,738 (517,978) 599,753
(62,448) (84,070) (72,484)
(390,719) (350,000) —
— 460,000 =
500,000 — —
(12,229) (11,888) -
(41,950) (47,886) —
(499,992) (50,000) -
14,861 15,051 10,993
(151,311) (40,328) (3,021)
(41,250) (46,748) (43,466)
- — (14,100)
(490) — —
(685,528) (155,869) (122,078)
1,682 (1,636) 533
891,330 174,254 379,964
946,040 771,786 391,822
1,837,370 § 946,040 § 771,786

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lyft, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2025 2024 2023
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents to the consolidated balance sheets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,132,009 $ 759,319 §$ 558,636
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 705,361 186,721 211,786
Restricted cash, included in prepaid expenses and other current assets — — 1,364
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 1,837,370 § 946,040 $ 771,786
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for income taxes $ 7261 $ 11,207 $ 9,425
Cash paid for interest 19,821 28,304 20,176
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Financed vehicles acquired $ 78,134 $ 83,600 $ 127,095
Purchases of property and equipment and scooter fleet not yet settled 3,623 10,599 4,505
Right-of-use assets acquired under finance leases 30,338 45,207 79,102
Right-of-use assets acquired under operating leases 20,846 7,710 3,795
Remeasurement of finance and operating lease right-of-use assets (6,085) 54,689 (10,582)

Repurchase of Class A common stock, including excise tax, accrued and not yet paid 2,754 — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lyft, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Organization and Description of Business

Lyft, Inc. (the “Company” or “Lyft”) is incorporated in Delaware with its headquarters in San Francisco, California. The Company operates multimodal transportation
networks that offer access to a variety of transportation options through the Company’s global platform and mobile-based applications. This network enables multiple modes of
transportation including, primarily, the facilitation of peer-to-peer ridesharing by connecting drivers who have a vehicle with riders who need a ride. The Company’s robust
technology platform (the “Lyft Platform”) primarily provides a marketplace where drivers can be matched with riders via the Lyft mobile application (the “Lyft App”) where
the Company operates as a transportation network company (“TNC”).

Transportation options through the Company’s platform and mobile-based applications are primarily comprised of its ridesharing marketplace, inclusive of taxis,
private hire vehicles, executive chauffeur services and car sharing, that connects drivers and riders. Transportation options also include Lyft’s network of bikes and scooters and
the Express Drive program, where drivers can enter into short-term rental agreements with the Company’s wholly-owned and independently managed subsidiary, Flexdrive
Services, LLC (“Flexdrive”) or a third party for vehicles that may be used to provide ridesharing services on the Lyft Platform. In addition, the Company makes the ridesharing
marketplace available to organizations through Lyft Business offerings, such as the Concierge and Lyft Pass programs, and generates revenue from licensing and data access
agreements associated with the data from the Company’s platform, subscription fees, revenue from bikes and bike station hardware and software sales and revenue from
arrangements to provide advertising services.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”)
and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and entities consolidated under the variable interest entity model. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

Prior period amounts related to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported total assets, total liabilities, results of operations, comprehensive income or net cash flows from operating, financing or
investing activities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. The Company bases its estimates on various factors and information which may include, but are not limited to, historical experience,
where applicable, and on other assumptions that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include those related to losses resulting from insurance claims inclusive of insurance related accruals, fair value
of financial assets and liabilities, acquired identifiable intangible assets and goodwill and related impairment assessments, useful lives of amortizable long-lived assets, leases,
indirect tax obligations, legal contingencies, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the valuation of stock-based compensation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the
Company’s CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, and
evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has determined that it operates as one operating segment. The Company has concluded that consolidated net income
(loss) is the measure of segment profitability. The CODM assesses performance for the Company, monitors budget versus actual results, and determines how to allocate
resources based on consolidated net income (loss) as reported in the consolidated statements of operations. There are no other expense categories regularly provided to the
CODM that are not already included in the primary consolidated financial statements herein.

No individual country outside of the U.S. had long-lived assets that were material to the consolidated totals as of December 31, 2025 and 2024.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of institutional money market funds and certificates of deposits denominated in U.S. dollars as well as commercial paper and corporate bonds.
Cash equivalents are highly liquid, short-term investments having an original maturity of 90 days or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. Also included in
cash and cash equivalents are cash in transit from payment processors for credit and debit card transactions.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts held in separate trust accounts and restricted bank accounts as collateral for insurance purposes and
amounts pledged to secure certain letters of credit.

Investments
Debt Securities

The Company’s accounting for its investments in debt securities is based on the legal form of the security, the Company’s intended holding period for the security, and
the nature of the transaction. Investments in debt securities include commercial paper, certificates of deposit, corporate bonds and U.S. government and agency securities.
Investments in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair value.

The Company considers an available-for-sale debt security to be impaired if the fair value of the investment is less than its amortized cost basis. The entire difference
between the amortized cost basis and the fair value of the Company’s available-for-sale debt securities is recognized on the consolidated statements of operations as an
impairment if, (i) the fair value of the security is below its amortized cost and (ii) the Company intends to sell or is more likely than not required to sell the security before
recovery of its amortized cost basis. If neither criterion is met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair value is due to credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment, the Company considers the extent to which the security’s fair value is less than amortized cost, changes to the rating of the security by third-party rating agencies,
and adverse conditions specific to the security, among other factors. If the Company’s assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the credit loss is measured based on the
Company’s best estimate of the cash flows expected to be collected. When developing its estimate of cash flows expected to be collected, the Company considers all available
information relevant to the collectability of the security, including past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts.

Credit loss impairments are recognized through an allowance for credit losses adjustment to the amortized cost basis of the debt securities on the balance sheet with an
offsetting credit loss expense on the consolidated statements of operations. Impairments related to factors other than credit losses are recognized as an adjustment to the
amortized cost basis of the security and an offsetting amount in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. The Company determines realized gains or losses
on the sale of debt securities on a specific identification method.

Restricted Investments

Restricted investments are comprised of debt security investments in commercial paper, certificates of deposit, corporate bonds and U.S. government and agency
securities which are held in trust accounts at third-party financial institutions pursuant to certain contracts with insurance providers.

Non-marketable Equity Securities

The Company has elected to measure its investments in non-marketable equity securities at cost, with remeasurements to fair value only upon the occurrence of
observable transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer or impairment. The Company qualitatively assesses whether indicators of impairment exist.
Factors considered in this assessment include the investees’ financial and liquidity position, access to capital resources, and macroeconomic conditions, among others. If an
impairment exists, the Company estimates the fair value of the investment by using the best information available, which may include cash flow projections or other available
market data, and recognizes a loss for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the investment on the consolidated statements of operations.

Enterprise and Trade Receivables

The Company collects any fees owed for completed transactions on the Lyft Platform primarily from the rider’s authorized payment method. Uncollected fees are
included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets and represent receivables from (i) participants in the Company’s enterprise programs
(“Enterprise Users”), where the transactions have been completed and the amounts owed from the Enterprise Users have either been invoiced or are unbilled as of the reporting
date; and (ii) riders where the authorized payment method is a credit card but the fare amounts have not yet settled with third-party payment processors. Under the terms of
service (“ToS”), drivers agree that the Company retains the applicable fee as consideration for their use of the Lyft Platform and related activities from the fare and related
charges it collects from riders on behalf of drivers. Accordingly, the Company has no trade receivables from drivers. The portion of the fare receivable to be remitted to drivers
is included in accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
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The Company records an allowance for credit losses for fees owed for completed transactions that may never settle or be collected in accordance with Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13 “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses”. The allowance for credit losses reflects the Company’s current estimate of expected credit
losses inherent in the enterprise and trade receivables balance. In determining the expected credit losses, the Company considers its historical loss experience, the aging of its
receivable balance, current economic and business conditions, and anticipated future economic events that may impact collectability. The Company reviews its allowance for
credit losses periodically and as needed, and amounts are written off when determined to be uncollectible.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk. Although the Company deposits its cash with
multiple financial institutions, the deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash
equivalents. Management believes that the institutions are financially stable and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists. The Company limits purchases of debt securities to
investment-grade securities.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures assets and liabilities at fair value based on an expected exit price, which represents the amount that would be received on the sale of an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value may be based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability. The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value on either a recurring or
nonrecurring basis, whereby inputs used in valuation techniques, are assigned a hierarchical level. The following are the hierarchical levels of inputs to measure fair value:

Level 1 Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 Inputs reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; inputs other
than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities; or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation
or other means.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs reflecting our own assumptions incorporated in valuation techniques used to determine fair value. These assumptions are required to be consistent
with market participant assumptions that are reasonably available.

The carrying values of the Company’s debt securities, accounts payable and accrued and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the short
period of time to payment.

Software Development Costs

The Company incurs costs related to developing the Lyft Platform and related support systems. The Company capitalizes development costs related to the Lyft
Platform and related support systems once the preliminary project stage is complete and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used to
perform the function intended. Capitalized software development costs were not material as of December 31, 2025 and 2024.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using a straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
related asset, which is generally between one and eight years. Depreciation for property and equipment commences once they are ready for the Company’s intended use.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements and betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and
accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheet and any resulting gain or loss is reflected on the consolidated statement of operations in the period
realized. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the lease, or the useful life of the assets. Construction in progress is
related to property and equipment that has not yet been placed in service for its intended use.

Leases

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842 (“ASC 842”), the Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at contract inception
by assessing whether the arrangement contains an identified asset and whether the lessee has the right to control such asset. The Company determines the classification and
measurement of its leases upon lease commencement. The Company enters into certain agreements as a lessor and either leases or subleases the underlying asset in the
agreement to customers. The Company also enters into certain agreements as a lessee.

Lessor

76



The Company’s lease arrangements include vehicle rentals to drivers or renters under the Flexdrive program and bikes and scooters rentals to single-use riders. Due to
the short-term nature of these arrangements, the Company classifies these leases as operating leases. The Company does not separate lease and non-lease components, such as
insurance or roadside assistance provided to the lessee, in its lessor lease arrangements. Lease payments are primarily fixed and are recognized as revenue in the period over
which the lease arrangement occurs. The Company mitigates residual value risk of its leased assets by performing regular maintenance and repairs, as necessary, and through
periodic reviews of asset depreciation rates based on the Company’s ongoing assessment of present and estimated future market conditions.

Lessee

The Company’s leases include real estate property to support its operations and Flexdrive vehicles that may be used by drivers to provide ridesharing services on the
Lyft Platform. For leases with a term greater than 12 months, the Company records the related right-of-use asset and lease liability at the present value of lease payments over
the term. The lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. The Company does
not separate lease and non-lease components of contracts for real estate property leases, but has elected to do so for vehicle leases when non-lease components exist in these
arrangements. However, these vehicle leases generally do not contain any non-lease components and, as such, all payments due under these arrangements are allocated to the
respective lease component. For certain leases, the Company also applies a portfolio approach to account for right-of-use assets and lease liabilities that are similar in nature
and have nearly identical contract provisions.

The Company’s leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate. Therefore, the Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease
payments based on information available at lease commencement. The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate based on the rate of interest that the Company
would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term for an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

Lease payments may be fixed or variable; however, only fixed payments are included in the Company’s lease liability calculation. Operating leases are included in
operating lease right-of-use assets, operating lease liabilities, current and operating lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Lease costs for the Company’s operating
leases are recognized on a straight-line basis primarily within operating expenses over the lease term. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, net, accrued and
other current liabilities, and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Finance lease assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets or the lease term in cost of revenue on the consolidated statements of operations. The interest component of finance leases is included in cost of revenue on the
consolidated statements of operations and recognized using the effective interest method over the lease term. Variable lease payments are recognized primarily in operating
expenses in the period in which the obligation for those payments is incurred.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination.

Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis during the fourth quarter or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of the reporting unit may be in excess of its fair value. As part of the annual goodwill impairment test, the Company first performs a qualitative
assessment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. If, as a result of its qualitative assessment, it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the
Company’s reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test will be required. Alternatively, the Company may bypass the qualitative assessment
and perform a quantitative impairment test. There was no impairment of goodwill recorded for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are recorded at fair value as of the date of acquisition and amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives which range from two to
twelve years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in business
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. An asset is considered impaired if its carrying value exceeds the future undiscounted
cash flows the asset is expected to generate. With the exception of the impairment charge related to real estate operating right-of-use assets discussed in Note 9 “Leases” and
disposals of fixed assets and other current assets as a result of the restructuring events in prior years discussed in Note 15 “Restructuring”, there was no other material
impairment of long-lived assets recorded for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023.
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Insurance Reserves and Insurance-related Accruals

The Company utilizes both a wholly-owned captive insurance subsidiary and third-party insurance, which may include deductibles and self-insured retentions, to
insure or reinsure costs including auto liability, uninsured and underinsured motorist, auto physical damage, first party injury coverages including personal injury protection
under state law and general business liabilities up to certain limits. The recorded liabilities reflect the estimated cost for claims incurred but not paid and claims that have been
incurred but not yet reported and any estimable administrative run-out expenses related to the processing of these outstanding claim payments. Liabilities are determined on a
quarterly basis using assumptions based on actuarial judgment through an analysis of historical trends, and changes in claims experience, including consideration of new
information and application of loss development factors, and frequency and severity assumptions, among other inputs and assumptions for the insurance reserves and insurance-
related accruals.

Insurance claims may take years to completely settle. Accordingly, the Company makes certain assumptions based on currently available information and industry
statistics, with the loss development factors as the most significant assumption related to the insurance reserves and the frequency and severity assumptions as the most
significant assumptions related to insurance-related accruals, and utilizes actuarial models and techniques to estimate the reserves. A number of factors can affect the actual cost
of a claim, including the length of time the claim remains open, economic and healthcare cost trends and the results of related litigation. Furthermore, claims may emerge in
future years for events that occurred in a prior year at a rate that differs from previous actuarial projections. The impact of these factors on ultimate costs for insurance is
difficult to estimate and could be material. However, while the Company believes that the insurance reserve and insurance-related accrual amounts are adequate, the ultimate
liabilities may be in excess of, or less than, the amounts provided. As a result, the net amounts that will ultimately be paid to settle the liabilities and when amounts will be paid
may significantly vary from the estimated amounts provided for on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company continues to review its insurance estimates in a regular,
ongoing process as historical loss experience develops, additional claims are reported and settled, and the legal, regulatory and economic environment evolves.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency or U.S. dollar depending on the nature of the subsidiaries’ activities. For the
foreign subsidiary where the local currency is the functional currency, translation adjustments of foreign currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are recorded to a
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). For foreign subsidiaries where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, gains and losses from
remeasurement of foreign currency balances into U.S. dollars are included on the consolidated statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates its revenue from its multimodal transportation network that offers access to a variety of transportation options through the Lyft Platform and
mobile-based applications. Substantially all, or approximately 85% or more, of the Company’s revenue is generated from its ridesharing marketplace, inclusive of taxis, private
hire vehicles, executive chauffeur services and car sharing, that connects drivers and riders and is recognized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606
(“ASC 606”). In addition, the Company generates revenue in accordance with ASC 606 from licensing and data access, subscription fees, bikes and bike station hardware and
software sales and arrangements to provide advertising services to third parties, which are not significant components of the Company’s consolidated revenues. The Company
also generates rental revenue from Flexdrive and its network of shared bikes and scooters, which is recognized in accordance with ASC 842.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606)

The Company recognizes revenue for its rideshare marketplace in accordance with ASC 606. The Company generates revenue from service fees and commissions
(collectively, “fees”) paid by drivers for use of the Lyft Platform and related activities to connect drivers with riders to facilitate and successfully complete rides via the Lyft
apps. The Company recognizes revenue upon completion of each ride. Drivers enter into ToS with the Company in order to use the Lyft App. Under the ToS, drivers agree that
the Company retains the applicable fee as consideration for their use of the Lyft Platform and related activities from the fare and related charges it collects from riders on behalf
of drivers. In most cases, the Company is acting as an agent in facilitating the ability of a driver to provide a transportation service to a rider. In these cases, the Company
reports revenue on a net basis, reflecting the fee owed to the Company from a driver as revenue, and not the gross amount collected from the rider. In certain markets, the
Company acts as a principal for transportation services as the Company controls the services provided. Revenue generated in these markets is reported on a gross basis
reflecting the gross amount collected from the rider, with payments to the drivers recorded within cost of revenue.

As per the Company’s customary business practice, a contract exists between the driver and the Company when the driver’s ability to cancel the ride lapses, which
typically is upon pickup of the rider. The Company’s single performance obligation in the transaction is to connect drivers with riders to facilitate the completion of a successful
transportation service for riders. The Company recognizes revenue upon completion of a ride as its performance obligation is satisfied upon the completion of the ride. The
Company collects the fare and related charges from riders on behalf of drivers using the rider’s pre-authorized credit card or other payment mechanism and retains its fees
before making the remaining disbursement to drivers; thus the driver’s ability and intent to pay is not subject to significant judgment.
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The Company recognizes revenue from subscription fees paid to access transportation options through the Lyft Platform and mobile-based applications over the
applicable subscription period in accordance with ASC 606. The Company also recognizes revenue from bikes, bike station hardware and software sales when control is
transferred to the customer in accordance with ASC 606.

The Company generates revenue from licensing and data access agreements. Revenue is recognized ratably over the license period or upon delivery of data, as
applicable. These revenues are not significant to the Company’s consolidated revenue.

The Company has arrangements to provide advertising services to third parties that are interested in reaching users of the Company’s platform. These arrangements
generally require the Company to provide advertising services over a fixed period of time for which revenue is recognized ratably over the contractual period. These revenues
are not significant to the Company’s consolidated revenue.

Rental Revenue (ASC 842)

The Company generates rental revenues primarily from Flexdrive and its network of shared bikes and scooters. Rental revenues are recognized for rental and rental
related activities where an identified asset is transferred to the customer and the customer has the ability to control that asset in accordance with ASC 842.

The Company operates a fleet of rental vehicles through Flexdrive comprised of both owned vehicles and vehicles leased from third-party leasing companies. The
Company either leases or subleases vehicles to drivers, and as a result, the Company considers itself to be the accounting lessor or sublessor, as applicable, in these
arrangements in accordance with ASC 842. Fleet operating costs include monthly fixed lease payments and other vehicle operating or ownership costs, as applicable. For
vehicles that are subleased, sublease income and head lease expense for these transactions are recognized on a gross basis on the consolidated financial statements. Drivers who
rent vehicles are charged rental fees, which the Company collects from the driver by deducting such amounts from the driver’s earnings on the Lyft Platform.

The Company owns and operates its bikes and scooters in some cities and operates city-owned bikes and scooters in other cities. Though the specific terms of
arrangements with cities vary, the Company earns operations fees from cities or shares revenue generated by the systems with cities. Bikes and scooters revenue is accounted
for under ASC 842 for single-use rides. A single-use ride allows the user to select a specific bike or scooter at the time the arrangement is entered into and provides the user the
right to control the selected bike or scooter for the desired term of the arrangement.

Due to the short-term nature of the Flexdrive and bikes and scooters transactions, the Company classifies these rentals as operating leases. Revenue generated from
single-use ride fees paid by bikes and scooters riders is recognized upon completion of each related ride. Revenue generated from Flexdrive is recognized evenly over the rental
period, which is typically seven days or less.

Incentive Programs

The Company offers incentives to attract drivers, riders and bikes and scooters riders to use the Lyft Platform. Drivers generally receive cash incentives while riders
and bikes and scooters riders generally receive free or discounted rides under such incentive programs.

Driver Incentives

The Company offers various incentive programs to drivers. These driver incentives are similar to retrospective volume-based rebates and represent variable
consideration that is typically settled within a week. The Company reduces the transaction price by the estimated amount of the incentives expected to be paid upon completion
of the performance criteria by applying the most likely outcome method. Therefore, such incentives provided to drivers, as well as bikes and scooter riders, are recorded as a
reduction to revenue since the Company does not receive a distinct good or service in exchange for the payment or cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the good or
service received. Driver incentives for referring new drivers or riders are accounted for as sales and marketing expense. The amount recorded as an expense is the lesser of the
amount of the payment or the established fair value of the benefit received. The fair value of the benefit is established using amounts paid to third parties for similar services. In
certain markets, where the Company controls the transportation services provided, incentives to drivers are reflected in cost of revenue.

Rider Incentives

The Company has several rider incentive programs, which are offered to encourage rider activity on the Lyft Platform. Generally, the rider incentive programs are as
follows:

(1)  Market-wide marketing promotions. Market-wide promotions reduce the fare charged by drivers to riders for all or substantially all rides in a specific market. This
type of incentive effectively reduces the overall pricing of the service provided by drivers for that specific market and the gross fare charged by the driver to the
rider, and thereby results in a lower fee earned by the Company. Accordingly, the Company records this type of incentive as a reduction to revenue at the date it
records the corresponding revenue transaction.

(i)  Targeted marketing promotions. Targeted marketing promotions are used to promote the use of the Lyft Platform to a targeted group of riders. An example is a
promotion where the Company offers a number of discounted rides (capped at a
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given number of rides) which are valid only during a limited period of time to a targeted group of riders. The Company believes that the incentives that provide
consideration to riders to be applied to a limited number of rides are similar to marketing coupons. These incentives differ from the market-wide marketing
promotions because they do not reduce the overall pricing of the service provided by drivers for a specific market. During the promotion period, riders not
utilizing an incentive would be charged the full fare. When a rider redeems the incentive, the Company recognizes revenue equal to the transaction price and the
cost of the incentive is recorded as sales and marketing expense.

(iii)  Rider referral programs. Under the rider referral program, the referring rider (the referrer) earns referral incentives when a new rider (the referee) completes their
first ride on the Lyft Platform. The Company records the incentive as a liability at the time the incentive is earned by the referrer with the corresponding charge
recorded to sales and marketing expense. Referral incentives typically expire within one year.

In certain markets where the Company controls the transportation services provided, incentives to riders are recorded as a reduction to revenue at the date it records the
corresponding revenue transaction.

Refunds

From time to time the Company issues credits or refunds to riders unsatisfied by the level of service provided by the driver. There is no legal obligation to remunerate
such riders nor does the Company issue such credits or refunds to riders on behalf of the drivers. The Company accounts for credits or refunds, which are not recoverable from
the drivers as sales and marketing expenses when incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, rider refunds were $21.2 million, $13.3 million and $19.7
million, respectively. The Company accounts for credits and refunds issued to bikes and scooters riders as cost of revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and
2023, such credits and refunds were immaterial.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs directly related to generating revenue through the Company’s multimodal platform which primarily includes insurance
costs, payment processing charges, payments to drivers or driver incentive costs in certain markets where the Company controls the transportation services provided, and other
costs. Insurance costs consist of insurance generally required under TNC and city regulations for ridesharing and bike and scooter rentals and also include occupational hazard
insurance for drivers. Payment processing charges include merchant fees, chargebacks and failed charges. Other costs included in cost of revenue are hosting and platform-
related technology costs, personnel-related compensation costs, depreciation, amortization of technology-related intangible assets, asset write-off charges, and costs related to
Flexdrive, which include vehicle lease expenses and remarketing gains and losses related to the sale of vehicles.

Operations and Support

Operations and support expenses primarily consist of personnel-related compensation costs of local operations teams and teams who provide phone, email and chat
support to users, bikes and scooters fleet operations support costs, driver background checks and onboarding costs, fees paid to third-parties providing operations support,
facility costs and certain car rental fleet support costs. Bikes and scooters fleet operations support costs include general repairs and maintenance, and other customer support
activities related to repositioning bikes and scooters for rider convenience, cleaning and safety checks.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel-related compensation costs and facilities costs. Research and development costs are expensed as
incurred.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of rider incentives, personnel-related compensation costs, certain driver incentives, advertising expenses, rider refunds,
amortization of certain intangible assets and marketing partnerships with third parties. Sales and marketing costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $122.9
million, $136.9 million and $122.0 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel-related compensation costs, professional services fees, certain insurance costs that are generally
not required under TNC regulations, certain loss contingency expenses including legal accruals and settlements, insurance claims administrative fees, policy spend,
depreciation, facility costs, amortization of certain intangible assets and other corporate costs. General and administrative expenses are expensed as incurred.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company incurs stock-based compensation expense primarily from restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance based restricted stock units (“PSUs”), stock
options, and the 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) purchase rights.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted to employees, directors, and consultants and ESPP purchase rights using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The Black-Scholes model incorporates various assumptions, including expected stock price volatility, expected term and risk-free interest rates.

The Company estimates the expected term for stock options using the simplified method for “plain vanilla” stock option awards. The expected term of the ESPP
purchase rights is estimated using the period from the beginning of the offering period to the end of each purchase period. The Company estimates volatility for stock options
and ESPP purchase rights using the historical volatility of the stock price of the Company and similar publicly traded peer companies. The risk-free interest rate is based on the
yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues similar in duration to the expected term of the stock options or ESPP purchase rights granted.

The fair value of stock options that are expected to vest is recognized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The Company
recognizes compensation expense related to the ESPP purchase rights on a straight-line basis over the offering period, which is typically 12 months.

The Company estimates the fair value of RSUs based on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, which is determined based on the
closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock as reported on the date of grant.

The Company estimates the fair value of PSUs using a Monte Carlo valuation model to determine (i) the fair value and (ii) the requisite service period. The Monte
Carlo valuation model considers several variables and assumptions in estimating the fair value of stock-based awards including the Company’s stock price on grant date,
expected term, expected volatility, and risk-free interest rate.

Compensation expense for RSUs is generally recognized based on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period and compensation expense for PSUs is
generally recognized using the accelerated attribution method over the requisite service period of each individual tranche. Stock-based compensation expense is based on
awards ultimately expected to vest and reflects estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from initial estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the
estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and income tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. These differences are measured using the
enacted statutory tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income for the years in which differences are expected to reverse. The Company recognizes the effect on
deferred income taxes of a change in tax rates in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the
net amount that it believes is more-likely-than-not to be realized. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, management considers all available evidence, both positive
and negative, including historical profitability, expectations and risks associated with future taxable income, and ongoing tax planning strategies. The Company weighs positive
and negative evidence based on the extent to which it can be objectively verified.

Under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), the Company evaluates uncertain tax positions by reviewing
against applicable tax law for all positions taken by the Company with respect to tax years for which the statute of limitations is still open. ASC 740 provides that a tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, if any, as a
component of the income tax expense line in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders when shares are issued that meet the
definition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net income (loss) per common share for each class of common stock and participating securities
according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for
the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had been
distributed. The Company had no participating securities outstanding during any of the periods presented.

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. The diluted net income (loss) per share
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attributable to common stockholders is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period. For periods in which the Company reports net
losses, diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, because potentially dilutive
common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for its business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires, among other things, allocation of the fair value of
purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of
purchase consideration over the values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, management makes significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon
assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement
period, not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, the Company may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to
goodwill if new information is obtained related to facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. After the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are
reflected on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Acquisition costs, such as legal and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

Variable Interest Entities

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 810, Consolidation (“ASC 810”), the Company evaluates its ownership, contractual and other interests in
entities to assess whether it has a variable interest in entities in which it has a financial relationship and, if so, whether or not those entities are variable interest entities
(“VIEs”). These evaluations are complex, involving judgment and the use of estimates and assumptions based on available historical and prospective information, among other
factors. For an entity that qualifies as a VIE, ASC 810 requires the Company to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE, and, if so, to consolidate such
entity into its consolidated financial statements.

The Company consolidates VIEs in which it has a controlling financial interest and is therefore deemed the primary beneficiary. A controlling financial interest will
have both of the following characteristics: (a) the power to direct the VIE activities that most significantly impact economic performance; and (b) the obligation to absorb the
VIE losses and the right to receive benefits that are significant to the VIE. Periodically, the Company reevaluates its ownership, contractual and other interests in entities to
determine whether any changes in its interest or relationship with an entity impacts the determination of whether it is still the primary beneficiary of such entity. The Company
has determined that it was the primary beneficiary of one VIE as of December 31, 2025 which was not material to the consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2023-09, “Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures”, which requires
companies to provide disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. The new requirement is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2025 on a prospective basis. While the
standard requires additional disclosures, there was no impact to the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, or statements of cash flows. Refer to Note
13 “Income Taxes” of these notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses”, which requires companies to provide new financial statement
disclosures disaggregating prescribed expense categories within relevant income statement expense captions. Early adoption and retrospective application is permitted.
Additionally, in January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-01, “Claritying the Effective Date” which clarifies that the guidance for ASU 2024-03 is to be adopted by all public
entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, on a
prospective basis. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting these standards on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-04, “Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20): Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt
Instruments”, which seeks to clarify the requirements for determining whether certain settlements of convertible debt instruments should be accounted for as induced
conversions. This amendment is effective for annual periods and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
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In September 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-06, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Targeted Improvements to the
Accounting for Internal-Use Software”, which updates the capitalization criteria for internal-use software development costs and removes references to software development
stages. This standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2027, and interim periods within those annual reporting periods. Early adoption is permitted.
The standard should be applied using a prospective, retrospective, or a modified transition approach. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on the
consolidated financial statements.

3. Revenue

The table below presents the Company’s revenues as included on the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023
Revenue from contracts with customers (ASC 606) $ 5,895,475 $ 5,365,534 $ 4,116,216
Rental revenue (ASC 842) 420,786 420,482 287,373
Total revenue $ 6,316,261 $ 5,786,016 $ 4,403,589

Revenue by geographic area in the case of the ridesharing marketplace and bikes and scooters is determined by where the transaction occurred. In other cases, revenue
by geographic area is determined by the address of the Company's contracting entity. Revenue by geographic area was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2025 2024 2023
United States $ 6,060,220 $ 5,645,922 $ 4,245,078
International 256,041 140,094 158,511
Total revenue $ 6,316,261 $ 5,786,016 $ 4,403,589

No individual country outside of the U.S. had total revenue that represented 10% or more of total consolidated revenue for the periods presented.
4. Acquisitions
Acquisition of TBR Global Chauffeuring

On October 14, 2025, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding equity of TheBookingRoomGroup Limited (d/b/a TBR Global Chauffeuring
or “TBR”), a global premium ground transportation and chauffeur service company, for a total purchase price of £86.4 million ($115.2 million), inclusive of an immaterial
amount of contingent consideration. The acquisition, which was accounted for as a business combination, strengthens Lyft’s position in the high-value premium chauffeur space
and creates an opportunity to combine Lyft’s global platform and technology expertise with TBR’s bespoke service. Acquisition-related costs of $6.9 million, primarily
consisting of advisory fees, were incurred in the year ended December 31, 2025. There were no acquisition-related costs for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
These costs are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):

Current assets $ 20,416
Identifiable intangible assets 51,756
Goodwill 64,167
Other non-current assets 575
Current liabilities (15,888)
Non-current liabilities (5,828)

Total acquisition consideration $ 115,198

Goodwill of $64.2 million recognized in connection with the acquisition is primarily attributable to anticipated synergies arising from the integration of TBR’s
operations with Lyft such as opportunities to expand the Company’s geographic footprint and enhance product offerings. Goodwill also reflects the value of TBR’s assembled
workforce and other intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. The goodwill recognized was not considered deductible for tax purposes.
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The Company recorded intangible assets at their fair value, which consisted of the following (in thousands):

Estimated Useful Life Gross Carrying
(in Years) Amount
Customer relationships 10.0 $ 34,015
Developed technology 4.0 12,539
Trade name 8.0 5,202
Total intangible assets $ 51,756

The fair value of the customer relationships intangible asset was determined to be $34.0 million with an estimated useful life of 10 years. The fair value of the
relationships was determined using the multi-period excess earnings approach, which involves forecasting the net earnings expected to be generated by the asset, reducing them
by appropriate returns on contributory assets, and then discounting the resulting net cash flows to a present value using an appropriate discount rate.

The fair value of the developed technology intangible asset was determined to be $12.5 million with an estimated useful life of 4 years. Fair value was estimated using
the relief-from-royalty method, an income approach that measures the present value of after-tax royalty savings attributable to the developed technology. The applied royalty
rate was based on market data and company analysis, and the projected cash flows were discounted using a rate commensurate with the risk of the asset and adjusted for
expected obsolescence.

The fair value of the trade name intangible asset was determined to be $5.2 million with an estimated useful life of 8 years. Fair value was estimated using the relief-
from-royalty method, an income approach that measures the present value of after-tax royalty savings attributable to the trade name. The applied royalty rate was based on
market data and company analysis, and the projected cash flows were discounted using a rate commensurate with the risk of the asset.

Judgment was applied for several assumptions in valuing the identified intangible assets, including revenue and cash flow forecasts, technology life, royalty rate,
obsolescence and discount rate.

The results of operations for the acquired business have been included in the consolidated statements of operations for the period subsequent to the acquisition date
which contributed an immaterial amount of revenue and income before taxes during the year ended December 31, 2025. TBR’s results of operations for periods prior to the
acquisition were not material to the consolidated statements of operations and, accordingly, pro forma financial information has not been presented.

Acquisition of Freenow

On July 31, 2025, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding equity of Intelligent Apps GmbH (d/b/a Freenow), a European multimodal
application with a taxi offering at its core, for a total purchase price of €204.1 million ($234.8 million). The acquisition, which was accounted for as a business combination,
expands Lyft’s presence outside North America and provides access to Freenow’s established platform, customer base, and local market expertise. Acquisition-related costs of
$13.0 million, primarily consisting of advisory fees, were incurred during the year ended December 31, 2025. There were no acquisition-related costs for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. These costs are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Subsequent to the acquisition date,
the Company recognized an update to provisional amounts, bringing the total purchase consideration to €205.9 million ($236.8 million), increasing prepaid expenses and other
current assets by $16.2 million, accrued and other liabilities by $1.0 million, and other liabilities by $0.2 million, and decreasing goodwill by $15.4 million.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,859
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 41,693
Other investments 1,396
Property and equipment 1,507
Operating lease right-of-use assets 16,667
Identifiable intangible assets 101,234
Other assets 11,175
Total identifiable assets acquired 205,531
Accounts payable (2,123)
Accrued and other liabilities (51,138)
Operating lease liabilities, current (2,712)
Operating lease liabilities (13,957)
Other liabilities (16,323)
Total liabilities assumed (86,253)
Net assets acquired 119,278
Goodwill 117,529
Total acquisition consideration $ 236,807

Goodwill of $117.5 million recognized in connection with the acquisition is primarily attributable to expected synergies from integrating Freenow’s operations with
Lyft’s existing platform. Goodwill also reflects the value of Freenow’s assembled workforce and other intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. The
goodwill recognized was not considered deductible for tax purposes.

The Company recorded intangible assets at their fair value, which consisted of the following (in thousands):

Estimated Useful Life Gross Carrying
(in Years) Amount
Developed technology 5.0 $ 57,519
User and driver relationships 4.0 40,263
Trade name licensing agreement 3.0 3,452
Total intangible assets $ 101,234

The fair value of the developed technology intangible asset was determined to be $57.5 million with an estimated useful life of 5 years. The fair value of the developed
technology was determined using the relief-from-royalty method. Under this method, an intangible asset’s value is based on the premise that ownership of the asset relieves the
owner of the need to pay a royalty to a third party for use of the asset. Under this method, value is estimated by discounting the royalty savings as well as any tax benefits
related to ownership to a present value.

The fair value of the user and driver relationships intangible asset was determined to be $40.3 million with an estimated useful life of 4 years. The fair value of the
relationships was determined using the multi-period excess earnings approach, which involved forecasting the net earnings expected to be generated by the asset, reducing them
by appropriate returns on contributory assets, and then discounting the resulting net cash flows to a present value using an appropriate discount rate.

Judgment was applied for several assumptions in valuing the identified intangible assets, including revenue and cash flow forecasts, technology life, royalty rate,
obsolescence and discount rate.

The results of operations for the acquired business have been included in the consolidated statements of operations for the period subsequent to the acquisition date
which did not contribute a significant amount of revenue or income before taxes during the year ended December 31, 2025. Freenow’s results of operations for periods prior to
the acquisition were not material to the consolidated statements of operations and, accordingly, pro forma financial information has not been presented.
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5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the periods presented (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 257,791
Additions —
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments (6,415)

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 251,376
Additions 181,696
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments 6,682

Balance as of December 31, 2025 $ 439,754

Intangible assets, net consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

December 31, 2025

Weighted-average

Remaining Useful Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Life (Years) Amount Amortization Amount
Developed technology and patents 44 $ 112,821 § 45,636 $ 67,185
Contractual relationships 6.1 176,035 72,475 103,560
Trade name and licensing agreements 5.9 8,770 571 8,199
Total intangible assets $ 297,626 $ 118,682 §$ 178,944

December 31, 2024

Weighted-average

Remaining Useful Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Life (Years) Amount Amortization Amount
Developed technology and patents 1.7 $ 40,477 $ 36,683 § 3,794
Contractual relationships 5.8 99,669 60,687 38,982
Total intangible assets $ 140,146  § 97,370 $ 42,776

Amortization expense was $20.6 million, $15.0 million and $16.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of December 31, 2025, future amortization of intangible assets that will be recorded in costs and expenses on the consolidated statement of operations is estimated
as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31:

2026 $ 38,689
2027 38,689
2028 38,200
2029 32,249
2030 12,857
Thereafter 18,260

Total remaining amortization $ 178,944
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6. Cash Equivalents and Investments

The following tables summarize the cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized gain, gross unrealized loss and fair value of the Company’s cash equivalents and
investments as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

December 31, 2025
Cost or Unrealized .
Amortized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Unrestricted Balances®
Money market funds $ 276,077 $ — 8 — 3 276,077
Money market deposit accounts 360,127 — — 360,127
Certificates of deposit 143,325 146 — 143,471
Commercial paper 216,420 105 — 216,525
Corporate bonds 266,199 1,300 8) 267,491
U.S. government and agency securities 134,210 70 — 134,280
Total unrestricted cash equivalents and short-term investments 1,396,358 1,621 8) 1,397,971
Restricted Balances®
Money market funds 47,264 — — 47,264
Certificates of deposit 104,310 60 — 104,370
Commercial paper 921,902 462 — 922,364
Corporate bonds 15,022 15 — 15,037
U.S. government and agency securities 843,661 402 — 844,063
Total restricted cash equivalents and investments 1,932,159 939 — 1,933,098
Total unrestricted and restricted cash equivalents and investments $ 3,328,517 § 2,560 §$ 8 $ 3,331,069
(I)EXWQ million of cash, which is included within the $1.8 billion of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
2) Excludes $3.0 million of restricted cash, which is included within the $1.9 billion of restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
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December 31, 2024

Cost or Unrealized .
Amortized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Unrestricted Balances®
Money market funds $ 189,839 §$ — 3 — 3 189,839
Money market deposit accounts 304,716 — — 304,716
Certificates of deposit 171,352 150 (144) 171,358
Commercial paper 762,405 529 (388) 762,546
Corporate bonds 70,207 29 (5) 70,231
U.S. government and agency securities 352,984 295 5) 353,274
Total unrestricted cash equivalents and short-term investments 1,851,503 1,003 (542) 1,851,964
Restricted Balances
Money market funds 42,699 — — 42,699
Term deposits 2,194 — — 2,194
Certificates of deposit 189,694 144 (242) 189,596
Commercial paper 782,491 433 (368) 782,556
Corporate bonds 59,254 19 (7) 59,266
U.S. government and agency securities 465,516 349 (8) 465,857
Total restricted cash equivalents and investments 1,541,848 945 (625) 1,542,168
Total unrestricted and restricted cash equivalents and investments $ 3,393,351 $ 1,948 $ 1,167) $ 3,394,132
(l)Exm.S million of cash, which is included within the $2.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s investments consist of available-for-sale debt securities and term deposits. The term deposits are at cost, which approximates fair value. The Company
considers debt securities as available for use in current operations, including those with maturity dates beyond one year, and therefore classifies these securities as short-term
investments on the consolidated balance sheets. No individual security incurred continuous unrealized losses for greater than 12 months.

Interest income earned by the Company included in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations was $147.2 million, $166.3 million and $145.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Company does not intend to sell the investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the investments before recovery of
their amortized cost basis. The Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require the Company to change its quarterly assessment of credit losses
for any marketable available-for-sale debt security as of December 31, 2025. These estimates may change, as new events occur and additional information is obtained, and will
be recognized on the consolidated financial statements as soon as they become known. No credit losses were recognized as of December 31, 2025 for the Company’s
marketable and non-marketable debt securities.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position for which no allowance for credit losses was recorded,
aggregated by major security type and maturity (in thousands):

December 31, 2025

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Estimated Fair Value Unrealized Losses Estimated Fair Value Unrealized Losses Estimated Fair Value Unrealized Losses
Certificates of deposit $ 9,720 $ — 3 2,000 $ — 3 11,720 § —
Corporate bonds 9,084 Q) 8,368 (6) 17,452 @®)
Commercial paper 2,612 — — — 2,612 —
Total available-for-sale debt securities inan g 21416 $ Q) $ 10368 $ 6) $ 31,784 $ (8)

unrealized loss position

December 31, 2024

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Estimated Fair Value Unrealized Losses Estimated Fair Value Unrealized Losses Estimated Fair Value Unrealized Losses
Certificates of deposit $ 99,144 § (386) $ — % — 99,144 $ (386)
Corporate bonds 49,516 (12) — — 49,516 (12)
Commercial paper 241,805 (756) — — 241,805 (756)
U.S. government and agency securities 62,787 (13) — — 62,787 (13)
Total available-for-sale debt securities in an $ 453252 (1,167) $ _ g _ g 453252 § (1,167)

unrealized loss position

The following table classifies the Company’s available-for-sale debt securities by contractual maturities (in thousands):

December 31,

2025 2024
Due within one year $ 1,745834 $ 2,578,381
Due within one year to three years 190,096 —
Total $ 1,935,930 $ 2,578,381
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7. Fair Value Measurements
Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables set forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of the dates indicated by level
within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

December 31, 2025

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Unrestricted cash equivalents and investments(")
Money market funds $ 276,077 $ — $ — 3 276,077
Certificates of deposit — 143,471 — 143,471
Commercial paper — 216,525 — 216,525
Corporate bonds — 267,491 — 267,491
U.S. government and agency securities — 134,280 — 134,280
Total unrestricted cash equivalents and short-term investments 276,077 761,767 — 1,037,844
Restricted cash equivalents and investments®
Money market funds 47,264 — — 47,264
Certificates of deposit — 104,370 — 104,370
Commercial paper — 922,364 — 922,364
Corporate bonds — 15,037 — 15,037
U.S. government and agency securities — 844,063 — 844,063
Total restricted cash equivalents and investments 47,264 1,885,834 — 1,933,098
Total financial assets $ 323,341 § 2,647,601 § — $ 2,970,942
(nmm of cash and $360.1 million of money market deposit accounts are not subject to recurring fair value measurement and therefore excluded from this table. However, these balances are included
within the $1.8 billion of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
2) Excludes $3.0 million of restricted cash, which is included within the $1.9 billion of restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
December 31, 2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Unrestricted cash equivalents and investments("
Money market funds $ 189,839 § — 8 — 8 189,839
Certificates of deposit — 171,358 — 171,358
Commercial paper — 762,546 — 762,546
Corporate bonds — 70,231 — 70,231
U.S. government and agency securities — 353,274 — 353,274
Total unrestricted cash equivalents and investments 189,839 1,357,409 — 1,547,248
Restricted cash equivalents and investments®
Money market funds 42,699 — — 42,699
Certificates of deposit — 189,596 — 189,596
Commercial paper — 782,556 — 782,556
Corporate bonds — 59,266 — 59,266
U.S. government and agency securities — 465,857 — 465,857
Total restricted cash equivalents and investments 42,699 1,497,275 — 1,539,974
Total financial assets $ 232,538 $ 2,854,684 $ — 3 3,087,222
(l)ﬂﬂm of cash and $304.7 million of money market deposit accounts are not subject to recurring fair value measurement and therefore excluded from this table. However, these balances are included
within the $2.0 billion of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
2) $2.2 million of term deposits are not subject to recurring fair value measurement and therefore excluded from this table. However, this balance is included within the $1.5 billion of restricted cash and cash

equivalents and restricted short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
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During the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company did not make any transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.

During the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company entered into foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce exposure in foreign currency translation for a total
notional amount of €50 million. The forward contracts were settled in the same period and immaterial gains were recognized in the statement of operations during the year
ended December 31, 2025 from such derivatives which were not designated as hedging instruments.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

The Company’s non-marketable equity securities are investments in privately held companies without readily determinable fair values and the carrying value of these
non-marketable equity securities are remeasured to fair value based on price changes from observable transactions of identical or similar securities of the same issuer (referred
to as the measurement alternative) or for impairment. Any changes in carrying value are recorded within other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

There were $12.2 million and $9.1 million of financial instruments measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis within other investments on the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

8. Supplemental Financial Statement Information

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

December 31,

2025 2024
Prepaid insurance $ 438,448 $ 428,884
Enterprise and trade receivables, net) 383,903 334,843
Other 259,983 202,363
Prepaid expenses and other current assets® $ 1,082,334 § 966,090
ms receivable balance included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets, which consists primarily of amounts due from Enterprise Users and bikes and scooters

partners, was $394.9 million and $347.0 million as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, while the allowance for credit losses was $11.0 million and $12.2 million as of December 31, 2025 and 2024,
respectively. The changes in the allowance of credit losses were not material for the periods presented.

2) Scooters and related assets with estimated useful lives of less than 12 months are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Depreciation expense for these assets
was $7.9 million, $12.4 million and $3.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

December 31,
2025 2024

Bike and scooter fleet $ 265,828 $ 237,535
Owned vehicles 238,936 211,904
Finance lease right-of-use assets 128,470 79,704
Leasehold improvements 73,275 75,480
Computer equipment and software 44,036 39,018
Furniture and fixtures 6,599 6,046
Construction in progress 28,185 56,998
785,329 706,685

Less: Accumulated depreciation (366,799) (261,821)
Property and equipment, net $ 418,530 § 444,864

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $106.8 million, $121.4 million, and $96.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Accrued and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued and other current liabilities consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

December 31,
2025 2024

Insurance-related accruals® $ 892,757 $ 763,842
Legal and tax related accruals® 540,042 333,979
Ride-related accruals 208,317 178,114
Insurance claims payable and related fees 56,307 58,135
Long-term debt, current® 50,607 38,904
Finance lease liabilities, current® 35,750 31,268
Other 413,083 262,036

Accrued and other current liabilities $ 2,196,863 § 1,666,278
(1) Refer to Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” above for more information on these insurance-related accruals.
2) Contains $211.6 million in certain reserves and/or settlements for significant legal proceedings or governmental investigations and the associated fees.
3) Represents current portion of long-term debt primarily related to the Non-revolving Loan and Master Vehicle Loan. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” for more information.
“4) Certain balances previously presented in Other as of December 31, 2024 have been reclassified to Finance lease liabilities, current to conform to current period presentation.
Insurance Reserves

The following table presents the changes in the Company’s insurance reserve for the periods presented (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,701,393  $ 1,337,868 $ 1,417,350

Additions® 1,029,097 813,725 516,337

Deductions® (550,064) (450,200) (595,819)
Balance at end of period $ 2,180,426 § 1,701,393  § 1,337,868
(1) Additions to insurance reserves primarily include reserves from claims originating from the current year of $975.1 million, $813.7 million and $512.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and

2023, respectively. Additions also primarily include $54.0 million of reinsurance recoverable for the year ended December 31, 2025.

2) Deductions primarily include losses paid of $440.1 million, $447.1 million and $580.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Deductions also primarily include
$27.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2025 for favorable changes in estimates resulting from new developments in claims originating from prior years and reinsurance recoverable established within the
period of $82.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2025.

Reinsurance of Certain Legacy Auto Liability Insurance

On February 19, 2025, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific Valley Insurance Company, Inc. (“PVIC”), entered into a Loss Portfolio Transfer Reinsurance
Agreement (the “Reinsurance Agreement”) with Riverstone International Insurance, Inc. (“Riverstone”), under which Riverstone reinsured a legacy portfolio of auto insurance
policies, based on reserves in place as of January 1, 2025, of certain legacy insurance liabilities for policies underwritten during the period of October 1, 2020 to September 30,
2022, with an aggregate limit of $120.5 million, for a premium of $85.1 million (the “Reinsurance Transaction”). A substantial portion of the premium ceded is on a funds
withheld basis, meaning that the premium withheld by PVIC is used to pay future reinsurance claims on Riverstone’s behalf. Upon consummation of the Reinsurance
Transaction, a reinsurance recoverable was established, and since a contractual right of offset exists, the reinsurance recoverable has been netted against the funds withheld
liability balance for an immaterial net reinsurance recoverable balance included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. In addition to
the premium ceded to the reinsurer, the Company prepaid $8.4 million in interest related to the funds withheld. An immaterial amount of interest expense was recognized on the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2025. An immaterial loss was recognized on the consolidated statement of operations in the year ended
December 31, 2025, in cost of revenue upon completion of the Reinsurance Transaction.

The Reinsurance Transaction does not discharge PVIC of its obligations to the policyholder. Management evaluated reinsurance counterparty credit risk and does not
consider it to be material since a substantial portion of the premium of $85.1 million was retained by PVIC on a funds withheld basis on behalf of the reinsurer.
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9. Leases

Real Estate Operating Leases

The Company has real estate property leases which are classified as operating leases. As of December 31, 2025, the remaining lease terms vary from approximately

three months to nine years. For certain leases, the Company has options to extend the lease term for periods varying from one month to ten years. These renewal options are not
considered in the remaining lease term unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options.

In the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company amended the lease for its San Francisco headquarters, to terminate certain suites and extend the term of other suites to

2034. As a result of terminating certain suites, a $29.6 million gain was recognized within general and administrative expenses as the right-of-use asset associated with a
portion of this lease was previously impaired in prior years as part of restructuring, and the extinguishment of the remaining lease liability resulted in the recorded gain.

Flexdrive Program

The Company operates a fleet of rental vehicles through Flexdrive, a portion of which are leased from third-party vehicle leasing companies. As of December 31,

2025, the remaining lease terms vary between one month to four years.

Lease Position

The table below presents the lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands, except for remaining lease terms and

percentages):
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024
Operating Leases
Assets
Operating lease right-of-use assets" 165,579 148,397
Liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, current()) 28,068 25,192
Operating lease liabilities, non-current" 159,904 152,074
Total operating lease liabilities 187,972 177,266
Finance Leases
Assets
Finance lease right-of-use assets® 69,522 79,704
Liabilities
Finance lease liabilities, current® 35,750 31,268
Finance lease liabilities, non-current® 39,572 54,351
Total finance lease liabilities 75,322 85,619
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases 7.0 7.7
Finance leases 2.1 2.6
Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases 6.5 % 6.6 %
Finance leases 6.0 % 6.4 %

O}

In the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company recognized a $29.6 million gain in general and administrative expense as a result of a lease termination. The right-of-use asset associated with the portion of this
lease was previously impaired in prior years as part of restructuring, and the extinguishment of the remaining lease liability resulted in the recorded gain.

2) This balance is included within property and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets and is primarily related to Flexdrive.
3) This balance is included within other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and is primarily related to Flexdrive.
“4) This balance is included within other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and is primarily related to Flexdrive.
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Lease Costs

The table below presents certain information related to the costs for operating leases and finance leases (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2025 2024 2023

Operating Leases
Operating lease cost $ 36,266 $ 38,056 $ 40,450
Finance Leases
Amortization of right-of-use assets 31,563 29,565 19,847
Interest on lease liabilities 4,740 5,782 3,449
Other Lease Costs
Short-term lease cost 2,806 3,380 3,749
Variable lease cost(" 7,168 9,867 10,270

Total lease cost $ 82,543 $ 86,650 $ 77,765

(1) Consists primarily of common-area maintenance, taxes and utilities for real estate leases.

Sublease income was immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. Sublease income is included within other income, net on the consolidated
statement of operations. The related lease expense for these leases is included within costs and expenses on the consolidated statement of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company committed to a plan of termination which included restructuring charges related to a decision to exit and
sublease or cease use of certain facilities to align with the Company’s anticipated operating needs and incurred charges related to real estate operating right-of-use assets of
$13.0 million. There was no such charge during the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024. Refer to Note 15 “Restructuring” to the consolidated financial statements for
information regarding this transaction.

The table below presents certain supplemental information related to the cash flows for operating and finance leases recorded on the consolidated statements of cash
flows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2025 2024 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 42,474 $ 60,479 $ 59,318
Operating cash flows from finance leases 4,184 5,312 3,558
Financing cash flows from finance leases 41,250 46,748 43,466
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Undiscounted Cash Flows

The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years to the lease liabilities recorded on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2025 (in thousands):

Operating Leases Finance Leases Total Leases

2026 $ 38,168 § 38,799 $ 76,967
2027 38,733 23,573 62,306
2028 31,876 18,480 50,356
2029 30,503 309 30,812
2030 21,561 — 21,561
Thereafter 72,063 — 72,063

Total minimum lease payments 232,904 81,161 314,065
Less: amount of lease payments representing interest (44,932) (5,839) (50,771)
Present value of future lease payments 187,972 75,322 263,294
Less: current obligations under leases (28,068) (35,750) (63,818)

Long-term lease obligations $ 159,904 § 39,572 § 199,476

Future lease payments receivable in car rental transactions under the Flexdrive program are not material since the lease term is less than a month.
10. Commitments and Contingencies

Noncancellable Purchase Commitments

The Company entered into a noncancellable arrangement with Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), a web-hosting services provider, under which the Company had an
obligation to purchase a minimum amount of services from this vendor. Under the most recent amended arrangement, the Company committed to spend an aggregate of at least
$562.5 million between January 1, 2026 and December 31, 2030, with a minimum amount of $100 million in each of the five contractual periods, on services with AWS. As of
December 31, 2025, the Company has made no payments under the amended arrangement.

As of December 31, 2025, the future minimum payments under the Company’s noncancellable purchase commitments, which are inclusive of the arrangements
mentioned above, were as follows (in thousands):

2026 $ 146,396
2027 163,711
2028 100,000
2029 100,000
2030 162,500
Thereafter e
Total future minimum payments $ 672,607

Letters of Credit

The Company maintains certain stand-by letters of credit from third-party financial institutions in the ordinary course of business to guarantee certain performance
obligations related to leases, insurance policies and other various contractual arrangements. The outstanding letters of credit are issued under the Revolving Credit Facility (as
defined below) and none are collateralized by cash. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company had letters of credit outstanding that reduced the available credit under
the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) of $61.3 million and $72.6 million, respectively.

Indemnification

The Company enters into indemnification provisions under agreements with other parties in the ordinary course of business, including certain business partners,
investors, contractors, parties to certain acquisition or divestiture transactions and the Company’s officers, directors, and certain employees. The Company has agreed to
indemnify and defend the indemnified party’s claims and related losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party resulting from actual or threatened third-party claims
because of the Company’s activities or, in some cases, non-compliance with certain representations and warranties made by the Company. It is not possible to determine the
maximum potential loss under these indemnification provisions due to the Company’s limited history of
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prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular provision. To date, losses recorded on the consolidated statements of operations
in connection with the indemnification provisions have not been material.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is currently involved in, and may in the future be involved in, legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory and governmental inquiries and investigations,
and in some situations has received subpoenas and requests for documents and information, in the ordinary course of business, including drivers, riders, renters, third parties
and governmental entities (individually or as class actions) alleging, among other things, various wage and expense related claims, violations of state or federal laws, improper
disclosure of the Company’s fees, rules or policies, that such fees, rules or policies violate applicable law, or that the Company has not acted in conformity with such fees, rules
or policies, as well as proceedings related to product liability, antitrust, competition, its acquisitions, securities issuances or business practices, or public disclosures about the
Company or the Company’s business. In addition, the Company has been, and is currently, named as a defendant in a number of litigation matters related to allegations of
accidents or other trust and safety incidents involving drivers or riders using the Lyft Platform.

The outcomes of the Company’s legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties. The Company accrues for losses that may
result from these matters when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable and such accruals are recorded within accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets. For certain matters for which a material loss is reasonably possible, an estimate of the amount of loss or range of losses is not possible nor is the Company able
to estimate the loss or range of losses that could potentially result from the application of nonmonetary remedies. For matters where the Company has recorded a probable and
estimable loss, until the final resolution of the matter, there may be exposure to a material loss in excess of the amount recorded.

Independent Contractor Classification Matters

With regard to independent contractor classification of drivers on the Lyft Platform, the Company is regularly subject to claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings,
administrative actions, government investigations and other legal and regulatory proceedings at the federal, state and municipal levels challenging the classification of these
drivers as independent contractors, and claims that, by the alleged misclassification, the Company has violated various labor and other laws that would apply to driver
employees. Laws and regulations that govern the status and classification of independent contractors are subject to change and divergent interpretations by various authorities,
which can create uncertainty and unpredictability for the Company.

For example, California Assembly Bill 5 (now codified in part at Cal. Labor Code sec. 2775) codified and extended an employment classification test set forth by the
California Supreme Court that established a new standard for determining employee or independent contractor status. The passage of this bill led to additional challenges to the
independent contractor classification of drivers using the Lyft Platform. For example, on May 5, 2020, the California Attorney General and the City Attorneys of Los Angeles,
San Diego and San Francisco filed a lawsuit against the Company and Uber for allegedly misclassifying drivers on the companies’ respective platforms as independent
contractors in violation of Assembly Bill 5 and California’s Unfair Competition Law, and on August 5, 2020, the California Labor Commissioner filed lawsuits against the
Company and Uber for allegedly misclassifying drivers on the companies’ respective platforms as independent contractors, seeking injunctive relief and material damages and
penalties. On August 10, 2020, the court granted a motion for a preliminary injunction, forcing the Company and Uber to reclassify drivers in California as employees until the
end of the lawsuit. Subsequently, voters in California approved Proposition 22, a state ballot initiative that provided a framework for drivers utilizing platforms like Lyft to
maintain their status as independent contractors under California law. Proposition 22 went into effect on December 16, 2020. On April 20, 2021, the court granted the parties’
joint request to dissolve the preliminary injunction in light of the passage of Proposition 22. On May 5, 2021, the California Labor Commissioner filed a petition to coordinate
its lawsuit with the Attorney General lawsuit and three other cases against the Company and Uber. The coordination petition was granted and the coordinated cases have been
assigned to a judge in San Francisco Superior Court. On December 19, 2022, the California Attorney General’s and California Labor Commissioner’s cases were stayed in San
Francisco Superior Court pending the appeal of a Superior Court order denying Lyft’s and Uber’s motions to compel arbitration. On September 28, 2023, the California Court
of Appeal issued a decision upholding the trial court’s order denying Lyft’s and Uber’s motions to compel arbitration. On November 7, 2023, the Company filed a petition
requesting that the California Supreme Court review the Court of Appeal’s decision; the petition was denied on January 17, 2024, and the case was remitted to San Francisco
Superior Court on January 29, 2024. The stay was lifted by the trial court on July 2, 2024, and the parties are exploring mediation. On October 7, 2024, the U.S. Supreme Court
denied the Company’s petition for writ of certiorari. Certain adverse outcomes of such actions would have a material impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations, including damages, penalties and potential suspension of operations in impacted jurisdictions, including California. Such regulatory scrutiny or action may
create different or conflicting obligations from one jurisdiction to another. While the ultimate resolution of this matter is uncertain, the Company recorded an accrual for this
matter reflected within accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2025.

The Company is currently involved in a number of putative class actions, thousands of individual claims, including those brought in arbitration or compelled pursuant
to the Company’s ToS to arbitration, matters brought, in whole or in part, as representative actions under California’s Private Attorneys General Act, Labor Code Section 2698,
et seq., alleging that the Company
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misclassified drivers as independent contractors and other matters challenging the classification of drivers on the Company’s platform as independent contractors. The
Company is also defending against allegations that the Company has failed to properly classify drivers and provide those drivers with sick leave and related benefits during the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Company’s chances of success on the merits are still uncertain and any possible loss or range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated.

The Company disputes any allegations of wrongdoing and intends to continue to defend itself vigorously in these matters. However, results of litigation, arbitration
and regulatory actions are inherently unpredictable and legal proceedings related to these driver claims, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material impact on the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Regardless of the outcome, litigation and arbitration of these matters can have an adverse impact on the
Company because of defense and settlement costs individually and in the aggregate, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Unemployment Insurance Assessment

The Company is involved in administrative audits with various state employment agencies, including audits related to driver classification, in Oregon, Wisconsin,
Illinois, New York, Pennsylvania and New Jersey. The Company believes that drivers are properly classified as independent contractors and plans to vigorously contest any
adverse assessment or determination. The Company’s chances of success on the merits are still uncertain. The Company accrues for liabilities that may result from assessments
by, or any negotiated agreements with, these employment agencies when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable, and the expense is recorded to general and administrative
expenses.

In 2018, the New Jersey Department of Labor & Workforce Development (“NJDOL”) opened an audit reviewing whether drivers were independent contractors or
employees for purposes of determining whether unemployment insurance regulations apply for 2014 through 2017; in 2022, the NJDOL opened a similar audit for 2019
through 2021. The NJDOL issued an assessment for 2014 through 2017 on June 4, 2019, and subsequently issued updated assessments for this time period on March 31, 2021
and August 2, 2024. The Company filed a petition to challenge the assessments and later notified the NJDOL that it would pay the assessment under protest; as of September
30, 2025, the assessment was paid under protest. The audit for 2019 through 2021 remains open. The ultimate resolution of this matter is uncertain and any possible loss or
range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated.

In 2021, the New York State Department of Labor (“NYSDOL”) opened an audit reviewing whether drivers were independent contractors or employees for purposes
of determining whether unemployment insurance regulations apply for 2019. The NYSDOL subsequently extended the audit back to 2016. On December 22, 2022, the
Company received an assessment for the 2016 to 2019 time period and on December 27, 2023, the Company received a revised assessment covering 2016 to 2020. The
Company has appealed these assessments. While the ultimate resolution of this matter is uncertain, the Company recorded an accrual for this matter reflected within accrued
and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2025.

Indirect Taxes

The Company is under audit by various tax authorities with regard to indirect tax matters. The subject matter of indirect tax audits primarily arises from disputes on tax
treatment and tax rates applied to the sale of the Company’s services in these jurisdictions. The Company accrues indirect taxes that may result from examinations by, or any
negotiated agreements with, these tax authorities when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable and the expense is recorded to general and administrative expenses.

The Company is currently engaged in an ongoing dispute with the City and County of San Francisco (“San Francisco”) regarding the application of gross receipts
taxes to rideshare. On December 20, 2024, the Company filed suit against San Francisco and San Francisco’s Office of the Treasurer and Tax Collector seeking refund of
approximately $100 million in payroll expense tax, gross receipts tax, homelessness gross receipts tax, penalties, and interest for the 2019 through 2023 tax years. The outcome
of this matter is uncertain.

Starting in June 2022, in compliance with local regulations, Transopco UK Ltd. (“Transopco”), a newly acquired subsidiary of the Company, modified its private hire
business model in London and began applying the Tour Operator Margin Scheme (“TOMS”) to its services, including value added tax (“VAT”). In June 2023, Transopco
received assessments from His Majesty’s Revenue and Customs office in the U.K. (the “HMRC”) disputing the application of TOMS to Transopco’s services for the period of
August 2022 to May 2024. Transopco appealed HMRC’s decision to the First-tier Tax Tribunal. The proceeding is currently pending resolution of the appeal of a competitor on
a related matter. The Company intends to vigorously defend its position regarding the application of TOMS and will assess any developments following the Court of Appeal’s
decision in the competitor’s case. The Company disputes any allegations of wrongdoing and intends to continue to defend itself vigorously in these matters for the periods
through January 1, 2026. On January 2, 2026, new VAT rules went into effect where TOMS can no longer apply to taxi and private hire vehicles services.

Patent Litigation

The Company is currently involved in legal proceedings related to alleged infringement of patents and other intellectual property and, in the ordinary course of
business, the Company receives correspondence from other purported holders of patents and other intellectual property offering to sell or license such property and/or asserting
infringement of such property. While the ultimate
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resolution of these matters is uncertain, the Company accrues for losses that may result from these matters when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable.
Other Class Actions and Consumer Matters

From time to time, the Company becomes involved in putative class actions, investigations, and other matters alleging violations of consumer protection, civil rights,
and other laws; antitrust and unfair competition laws such as California’s Cartwright Act, Unfair Practices Act and Unfair Competition Law; and the Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ADA”), among others. In July 2024, the Company went to trial in federal court in New York to defend against a class action alleging ADA and New York law
violations with respect to the Company’s wheelchair accessible vehicle (“WAV™) offerings, seeking injunctive and other relief, in Lowell v. Lyfi, Inc. On September 30, 2024,
the district court ruled that plaintiffs failed to sustain their burden of proof that the modifications they proposed at trial would result in nationwide WAV service. The district
court dismissed the suit and entered judgment in favor of the Company. The plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal on October 29, 2024, and the appeal is now pending before the
Second Circuit Court of Appeal. The Company disputes any allegations of wrongdoing and intends to continue to defend itself vigorously in these matters. The Company’s
chances of success on the merits are still uncertain and any possible loss or range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated.

Personal Injury and Other Safety Matters

In the ordinary course of the Company’s business, various parties have from time to time claimed, and may claim in the future, that the Company is liable for damages
related to accidents or other incidents involving drivers, riders or renters using or who have used services offered on the Lyft Platform, as well as from third parties. The
Company is currently named as a defendant in a number of matters related to accidents or other incidents involving drivers, riders, renters and third parties. The Company
believes it has meritorious defenses, disputes the allegations of wrongdoing and intends to defend itself vigorously in these matters. There is no pending or threatened claim that
has arisen from these accidents or incidents that individually, in the Company’s opinion, is likely to have a material impact on its business, financial condition or results of
operations; however, results of litigation and claims are inherently unpredictable and legal proceedings related to such accidents or incidents, in the aggregate, could have a
material impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, on January 17, 2020, the Superior Court of California, County of Los
Angeles, granted the petition of multiple plaintiffs to coordinate their claims relating to alleged sexual assault or harassment by drivers on the Lyft Platform, and a Judicial
Council Coordinated Proceeding has been created before the Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco, where the claims of multiple plaintiffs are currently
pending. Other legal proceedings related to accidents, alleged sexual assault or harassment, or other safety incidents are pending in various jurisdictions and may similarly
proceed to trial or final adjudication. Regardless of the outcome of these or other matters, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense and
settlement costs individually and in the aggregate, diversion of management resources and other factors. Although the Company intends to vigorously defend against these
lawsuits, its chances of success on the merits are still uncertain as these matters are at various stages of litigation and present a wide range of potential outcomes. The Company
accrues for losses that may result from these matters when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable.

Securities Litigation

From time to time, the Company becomes involved in putative class actions, investigations, and other matters alleging violations of securities laws, breaches of
fiduciary duties, and other causes of actions relating to the Company’s securities, financial disclosures, corporate governance and/or offerings.

11. Debt
Outstanding debt obligations as of December 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows (in thousands, except for percentages):

Interest Rates as of

Maturities December 31, 2025 December 31, 2025 December 31, 2024

Convertible senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes™) May 2025 —% $ — 3 390,175
Convertible senior notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes™) March 2029 0.625% 452,421 450,081
Convertible senior notes due 2030 (the “2030 Notes”) September 2030 0% 488,542 —
Non-revolving Loan 2026 7.61% 16 510
Master Vehicle Loan 2026 - 2028 5.85% - 7.10% 112,032 154,281

Total long-term debt, including current maturities $ 1,053,011 $ 995,047
Less: Convertible senior notes, current(!) — 390,175
Less: Long-term debt, current® 50,607 38,904

Total long-term debt $ 1,002,404 $ 565,968
mlance is included within convertible senior notes, current on the consolidated balance sheets.
2) This balance is included within accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and is primarily related to vehicles.
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The following table sets forth the primary components of interest expense as reported on the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023

Contractual interest expense related to the 2025 Notes and 2029 Notes(" $ 5,028 $ 9,181 $ 11,212
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs related to the 2025 Notes, 2029 Notes and 3.655 3737 2.877
2030 Notes ’ > >
Vehicle loans and other interest expense 12,072 16,003 12,134

Interest expense $ 20,755 $ 28,921 $ 26,223
(I)Ws no contractual interest expense related to the 2030 Notes as the 2030 Notes have a 0% interest rate.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2025

In May 2020, the Company issued $747.5 million aggregate principal amount of 1.50% convertible senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes™), pursuant to an
indenture, dated May 15, 2020, between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association (as successor in interest to U.S. Bank National Association), as
trustee. The net proceeds from this offering were approximately $733.2 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discounts and commissions and debt issuance costs. Debt
issuance costs related to the 2025 Notes totaled $14.3 million at inception and were comprised of discounts and commissions payable to the initial purchasers and third-party
offering costs and were amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the contractual term. Prior to maturity, the 2025 Notes were senior unsecured
obligations of the Company with interest payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning on November 15, 2020, at a rate of 1.50% per
year.

In February 2024, the Company, through privately negotiated agreements in connection with the issuance of the 2029 Notes (as defined below), repurchased
approximately $356.8 million in aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes for an aggregate repurchase price of approximately $350.0 million. The Company recognized this
repurchase as an extinguishment of debt and recorded a gain on extinguishment of $5.1 million in other income, net on the consolidated statement of operations.

The 2025 Notes matured on May 15, 2025. Upon maturity, the Company fully settled the outstanding $390.7 million aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes and
$2.9 million of accrued interest in cash.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

In February 2024, the Company issued $460.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.625% convertible senior notes due 2029 (the “2029 Notes™) pursuant to an
indenture, dated February 27, 2024 (the “2029 Notes Indenture”) between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee.

The 2029 Notes mature on March 1, 2029, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. The 2029 Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company with
interest payable semiannually in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on September 1, 2024, at a rate of 0.625% per year. The net proceeds from this
offering were approximately $448.2 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discounts and commissions and debt issuance costs. The 2029 Notes were not issued at a
substantial premium, therefore, the Company did not recognize an equity component at issuance.

The initial conversion rate for the 2029 Notes is 47.4366 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2029 Notes, which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $21.08 per share of the Class A common stock. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment under certain
circumstances in accordance with the terms of the 2029 Notes Indenture.

The 2029 Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding December 1, 2028
only under the following circumstances:

. During any fiscal quarter commencing after the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2024 (and only during such fiscal quarter), if the last reported sale price of the
Company’s Class A common stock, for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and
including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading
day;

. During the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the trading price (as defined in the
2029 Notes Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of 2029 Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last
reported sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day;

. If the Company calls such 2029 Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding
the redemption date; or
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. Upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.

On or after December 1, 2028, the 2029 Notes will be convertible at the option of the holder until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day
immediately preceding the maturity date. Upon conversion, the Company will satisfy its conversion obligation by paying cash up to the aggregate principal amount of the 2029
Notes to be converted and by paying and/or delivering, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company’s Class A common stock or a combination of cash and shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock, at the Company’s election, in the manner and subject to the terms and conditions provided in the 2029 Notes Indenture.

Holders of the 2029 Notes who convert their 2029 Notes in connection with certain corporate events that constitute a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in
the 2029 Notes Indenture) are, under certain circumstances, entitled to an increase in the conversion rate. Additionally in the event of a corporate event constituting a
fundamental change (as defined in the 2029 Notes Indenture), holders of the 2029 Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their 2029 Notes at a
repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 Notes being repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

Debt issuance costs related to the 2029 Notes totaled $11.8 million at inception and were comprised of discounts and commissions payable to the initial purchasers and
third-party offering costs and will be amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the contractual term. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, the
unamortized debt discount and debt issuance cost of the 2029 Notes was $7.6 million and $9.9 million, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets. The effective interest
rate during the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024 was 1.16%.

During the year ended December 31, 2025, the 2029 Notes did not meet any of the circumstances that would allow for a conversion.

Based on the last reported sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock on December 31, 2025, the if-converted value of the 2029 Notes was $422.7 million,
which would not exceed the outstanding principal amount.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2030

In September 2025, the Company issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0% convertible senior notes due 2030 (the “2030 Notes” together with the 2025
Notes and 2029 Notes, the “Notes™) pursuant to an indenture, dated September 5, 2025 (the “2030 Notes Indenture”) between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company,
National Association, as trustee.

The 2030 Notes mature on September 15, 2030, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. The 2030 Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company
that do not bear interest and the principal amount of the 2030 Notes will not accrete. The 2030 Notes may bear special interest under specified circumstances relating to the
Company’s failure to comply with its reporting obligations and failure to timely remove the restrictive legend from the 2030 Notes. The net proceeds from this offering were
approximately $487.8 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discounts and commissions and debt issuance costs. The 2030 Notes were not issued at a substantial
premium, therefore, the Company did not recognize an equity component at issuance.

The initial conversion rate for the 2030 Notes is 42.5170 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2030 Notes, which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $23.52 per share of the Class A common stock. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment under certain
circumstances in accordance with the terms of the 2030 Notes Indenture.

The 2030 Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding June 15, 2030 only
under the following circumstances:

. During any fiscal quarter commencing after the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2025 (and only during such fiscal quarter), if the last reported sale price of
the Company’s Class A common stock, for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and
including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading
day;

. During the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in which the trading price (as defined in the
2030 Notes Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of 2030 Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last
reported sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day;

. If the Company calls such 2030 Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding
the redemption date; or

. Upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.
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On or after June 15, 2030, the 2030 Notes will be convertible at the option of the holder until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately
preceding the maturity date. Upon conversion, the Company will satisfy its conversion obligation by paying cash up to the aggregate principal amount of the 2030 Notes to be
converted and by paying and/or delivering, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company’s Class A common stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock, at the Company’s election, in the manner and subject to the terms and conditions provided in the 2030 Notes Indenture.

Holders of the 2030 Notes who convert their 2030 Notes in connection with certain corporate events that constitute a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in
the 2030 Notes Indenture) are, under certain circumstances, entitled to an increase in the conversion rate. Additionally in the event of a corporate event constituting a
fundamental change (as defined in the 2030 Notes Indenture), holders of the 2030 Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their 2030 Notes at a
repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2030 Notes being repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

Debt issuance costs related to the 2030 Notes totaled $12.2 million at inception and were comprised of discounts and commissions payable to the initial purchasers and
third-party offering costs and will be amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the contractual term. As of December 31, 2025, the unamortized
debt discount and debt issuance cost of the 2030 Notes was $11.5 million on the consolidated balance sheets. The effective interest rate during the year ended December 31,
2025 was 0.49%.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2025, the 2030 Notes did not meet any of the circumstances that would allow for a conversion.

Based on the last reported sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock on December 31, 2025, the if-converted value of the 2030 Notes was $411.8 million,
which would not exceed the outstanding principal amount.

The net carrying amounts of the Notes were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2025 2024
2025 Notes
Principal $ — 3 390,719
Unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs — (544)
Net carrying amount of liability component $ — 3 390,175
2029 Notes
Principal $ 460,000 $ 460,000
Unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs (7,579) (9,919)
Net carrying amount of liability component $ 452,421 $ 450,081
2030 Notes
Principal $ 500,000 $ —
Unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs (11,458) —
Net carrying amount of liability component $ 488,542 $ —

As of December 31, 2025, the total estimated fair value (which represents a Level 2 valuation) of the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes was approximately $553.6 million
and $565.4 million, respectively. The estimated fair value of the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes was determined based on a market approach which was determined based on the
actual bids and offers of the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes in an over-the-counter market on the last trading day of the period.

The Notes are unsecured and do not contain any financial covenants, restrictions on dividends, incurrence of senior debt or other indebtedness, or restrictions on the
issuance or repurchase of securities by the Company.

Capped Calls

In connection with the issuance of the 2025 Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain of the initial purchasers or their
respective affiliates at a cost of approximately $132.7 million (the “2025 Capped Calls”). The 2025 Capped Calls covered, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, the number of
shares of Class A common stock underlying the 2025 Notes sold in the offering. By entering into the 2025 Capped Calls, the Company expected to reduce the potential dilution
to its
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Class A common stock (or, in the event a conversion of the 2025 Notes was settled in cash, to reduce its cash payment obligation) in the event that at the time of conversion of
the 2025 Notes the trading price of the Company’s Class A common stock price exceeded the conversion price of the 2025 Notes. The cap price of the 2025 Capped Calls was
initially $73.83 per share, subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the 2025 Capped Calls. The 2025 Capped Calls expired in May 2025.

In connection with the issuance of the 2029 Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain financial institutions at a cost of
approximately $47.9 million (the “2029 Capped Calls”). The 2029 Capped Calls cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, the number of shares of Class A common stock
underlying the 2029 Notes sold in the offering. By entering into the 2029 Capped Calls, the Company expects to reduce the potential dilution to its Class A common stock (or,
in the event a conversion of the 2029 Notes is settled in cash, to reduce its cash payment obligation) in the event that at the time of conversion of the 2029 Notes, the trading
price of the Company’s Class A common stock price exceeds the conversion price of the 2029 Notes. The cap price of the 2029 Capped Calls is initially $31.82 per share and is
subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the 2029 Capped Calls.

In connection with the issuance of the 2030 Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain financial institutions at a cost of
approximately $42.0 million (the “2030 Capped Calls” and together with the 2025 Capped Calls and 2029 Capped Calls, the “Capped Calls”). The 2030 Capped Calls cover,
subject to anti-dilution adjustments, the number of shares of Class A common stock underlying the 2030 Notes sold in the offering. By entering into the 2030 Capped Calls, the
Company expects to reduce the potential dilution to its Class A common stock (or, in the event a conversion of the 2030 Notes is settled in cash, to reduce its cash payment
obligation) in the event that at the time of conversion of the 2030 Notes, the trading price of the Company’s Class A common stock price exceeds the conversion price of the
2030 Notes. The cap price of the 2030 Capped Calls is initially $33.60 per share and is subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the 2030 Capped Calls. The Company
elected to integrate the 2030 Capped Calls with the 2030 Notes for federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, the gross cost of the 2030 Capped Calls is deductible for income
tax purposes as original discount interest over the term of the 2030 Notes.

The Capped Calls meet the criteria for classification in equity, are not remeasured each reporting period and are included as a reduction to additional paid-in-capital
within the consolidated balance sheets, along with the offsetting deferred tax impact of $11.1 million associated with the integration of the 2030 Capped Calls with the 2030
Notes.

Non-revolving Loan

Flexdrive has a Loan and Security Agreement dated March 11, 2019, as amended (the “Non-revolving Loan”) with a third-party lender pursuant to which Flexdrive
may request advances to purchase new Hyundai and Kia vehicles, or for other purposes approved by the lender. On September 26, 2025, the Non-revolving Loan was amended,
reducing the lender’s maximum commitment from $50.0 million to $19.0 million and extending the Company’s ability to draw through September 30, 2026. Advances paid or
prepaid under the Non-revolving Loan may not be reborrowed. Repayment terms for each advance include equal monthly installments sufficient to fully amortize the advances
over the term, with an option for the final installment to be greater than the others. The repayment term for each advance ranges from 24 months to 48 months. Interest is
payable monthly in arrears at a fixed interest rate equal to the two-year U.S. Treasury note yield plus a spread of 3.4% for a 24-month term, the three-year U.S. Treasury note
yield plus a spread of 3.4% for a 36 month term, and the average of the three and five-year U.S. Treasury note yields plus a spread of 3.4% for a 48 month term. At the end of
the initial repayment term of an advance, Flexdrive may refinance such advance with a new advance which fully amortizes over a term of 24 months with an interest rate equal
to the two-year U.S. Treasury note yield plus a spread of 3.4%. The Non-revolving Loan is secured by all vehicles financed under the Non-revolving Loan. As of December 31,
2025, there was an immaterial amount drawn under the Non-revolving Loan.

The Non-revolving Loan also contains customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit Flexdrive’s ability to enter into certain
acquisitions or consolidations or engage in certain asset dispositions. Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, including bankruptcy and insolvency events with respect
to Flexdrive or the Company, all amounts due under the Non-revolving Loan may become immediately due and payable, among other remedies. As of December 31, 2025, the
Company was in compliance with all covenants related to the Non-revolving Loan in all material aspects. Further, the Company continued to guarantee the payments of
Flexdrive for any amounts borrowed.

Master Vehicle Loan

Flexdrive has a Master Vehicle Acquisition Financing and Security Agreement, dated February 7, 2020 as amended (the “Master Vehicle Loan™) with a third-party
lender. Pursuant to the term of the Master Vehicle Loan, Flexdrive may request loans up to a maximum principal amount of $50 million to purchase vehicles and additional
capacity may be requested. Flexdrive has made requests for advances above that maximum amount which were granted by the lender. Repayment terms for each loan include
equal monthly installments sufficient to amortize the loan over the term, with an option for the final installment to be greater than the others and is typically equal to the
residual value guarantee the Company provides to the lender. The repayment term for each loan ranges from 12 months to 48 months. Interest is payable monthly in advance at
a fixed interest rate equal to the three-year swap rate plus a spread of 2.10% on the date of the loan. Principal amounts outstanding related to the Master Vehicle Loan may be
fully or partially prepaid at the option of Flexdrive and must be prepaid under certain circumstances. However, if a loan is terminated for any reason
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prior to the last day of the minimum loan term Flexdrive will be obligated to pay to the lender, an early termination fee in an amount which is equal to the interest which would
otherwise be payable by Flexdrive to the lender for the remainder of the minimum loan term for that loan. The Master Vehicle Loan is secured by all vehicles financed under
the Master Vehicle Loan as well as certain amounts held in escrow for the benefit of the lender. Amounts held in escrow are recorded as restricted cash on the consolidated
balance sheets.

The Master Vehicle Loan contains customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit Flexdrive’s ability to enter into certain acquisitions or
consolidations or engage in certain asset dispositions. Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, including bankruptcy and insolvency events with respect to Flexdrive or
the Company, all amounts due under the Master Vehicle Loan may become immediately due and payable, among other remedies. As of December 31, 2025, Flexdrive was in
compliance with all covenants related to the Master Vehicle Loan in all material respects. Further, the Company continued to guarantee the payments of Flexdrive for any
amounts borrowed following the acquisition.

The fair values of the Non-revolving Loan were immaterial as of December 31, 2025 and 2024. The fair values of the Master Vehicle Loan were $113.4 million and
$154.5 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2025 and 2024. These were determined based on quoted prices in markets that are not active, which are considered a Level 2
valuation input.

Maturities of long-term debt outstanding, including current maturities, as of December 31, 2025 were as follows (in thousands):

2026 $ 50,607
2027 49,229
2028 12,212
2029 452,421
2030 488,542
Thereafter .
Total long-term debt outstanding $ 1,053,011

Vehicle Procurement Agreement

Flexdrive has a Vehicle Procurement Agreement (“VPA”), as amended, with a third-party vehicle procurement provider (the “Procurement Provider”). Procurement
services under the VPA include purchasing and upfitting certain motor vehicles as specified by Flexdrive, providing interim financing and providing certain fleet management
services, including without limitation vehicle titling, registration and tracking services on behalf of Flexdrive. Pursuant to the terms of the VPA, Flexdrive will make the
applicable payments to the Procurement Provider under the VPA either directly from its own funds or with the proceeds of advances made to Flexdrive under one of its credit
facilities used by Flexdrive to finance the payment of such amounts. Interest on interim financings under the VPA is based on the prime rate.

The Procurement Provider has a security interest in vehicles purchased on behalf of Flexdrive until the full specified amounts due by Flexdrive in connection therewith
have been paid to the Procurement Provider. The VPA includes customary affirmative and negative covenants applicable to Flexdrive. As of December 31, 2025, the Company
was in compliance with all of its covenants under the VPA and as of December 31, 2025, there was $56.4 million of outstanding borrowings from interim financings under the
VPA, which is included within accrued and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

In March 2019, the Procurement Provider entered into a $95.0 million revolving credit facility with a third-party lender to finance its acquisition of motor vehicles on
behalf of Flexdrive under the VPA, and in connection therewith, Flexdrive entered into a Limited Non-Recourse Secured Continuing Guaranty and Subordination Agreement
pursuant to which Flexdrive guarantees the Procurement Provider’s payment and performance obligations under that revolving credit facility. On September 17, 2020, the
revolving credit facility was amended, extending the stated maturity date to December 31, 2021 and reducing the borrowing capacity to $50.0 million. The revolving credit
facility renews annually and was most recently amended in September 2025, to extend the stated maturity date to September 2026. As of December 31, 2025, there were no
amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility, the repayment of which is guaranteed by Flexdrive.

Revolving Credit Facility & Other Financings

On November 3, 2022, Lyft, Inc. entered into a revolving credit agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) by and among the Company, as the borrower,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and certain lenders party thereto from time to time. The Company amended the Revolving Credit Agreement on
December 12, 2023, and on February 21, 2024, entered into Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement to, among other things: (a) solely for the purposes of the
financial covenant test, replace total leverage with total net leverage, which allows the Company to subtract the lesser of (i)(x) to the extent free cash flow for the most recently
ended trailing four quarters is greater than $100.0 million, $300.0 million and (y) otherwise, $200.0 million and (ii) the amount of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (as
defined in Amendment No. 2 to the Revolving Credit Agreement) on its
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consolidated balance sheets as of the calculation date and (b) permit the Company to repurchase up to a specified amount of the Company’s common stock with the proceeds of
a convertible note offering.

The Revolving Credit Agreement provides the Company with a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) in an aggregate principal
amount of $420.0 million that matures on November 3, 2027. The Company’s Liquidity (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) minus the aggregate principal amount
of the Company’s 2025 Convertible Notes (as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) outstanding was not less than $1.25 billion as of February 13, 2025. As such, the
Revolving Credit Facility did not mature on such date based on the terms of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Subject to certain conditions precedent, the Revolving Credit
Agreement also grants the Company the option to increase the commitment under the Revolving Credit Facility by or obtain incremental term loans in an aggregate principal
amount of up to $300.0 million, plus, after June 30, 2024, an unlimited amount so long as the senior secured leverage ratio does not exceed 2.50:1.00. The Revolving Credit
Facility provides for borrowings up to the amount of the facility, with a sublimit of $168 million for the issuance of letters of credit.

Under the Revolving Credit Agreement, loans bear interest, at the Company’s option, at an annual rate equal to either (i) the sum of (x) the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate
(as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement) plus (y) a variable rate based on the Company’s total leverage ratio, ranging from 1.50% to 2.25% or (ii) the sum of (x) the
highest of (A) the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the prime rate in effect in the United States, (B) the greater of the rate calculated by the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York as the federal funds effective rate or the rate that is published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York as the overnight bank funding rate, in either
case, plus 0.50%, and (C) the one-month Adjusted Term SOFR Rate plus 1.00% and (y) a variable rate based on the Company’s total leverage ratio, ranging from 0.05% to
1.25%. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee between 0.225% and 0.375%, depending on the Company’s total leverage ratio, per annum on the undrawn portion
available under the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Revolving Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants and restrictions typical for a financing of this type that, among other things,
restrict the Company and its restricted subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness, create liens, merge or consolidate or make certain dispositions, pay dividends and
make distributions or other restricted payments, engage in transactions with affiliates, and make certain investments and acquisitions. The Revolving Credit Agreement also
contains financial covenants that require the Company to maintain (a) a minimum liquidity amount of at least $1.5 billion, tested on a quarterly basis, commencing with the
quarter ending December 31, 2022 through the quarter ending June 30, 2024, (b) a total net leverage ratio not to exceed 3.50:1.00 commencing with the quarter ending
September 30, 2024 through the quarter ending December 31, 2024 and commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2025, a ratio not to exceed 3.00:1.00 (with an increase
to 3.50:1.00 if the Company has an acquisition for cash consideration greater than $75 million for the fiscal quarter during which such acquisition takes place and the three
fiscal quarters immediately following such acquisition), and (c) a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25:1.00, commencing with the quarter ending September 30, 2024.
The Revolving Credit Agreement contains customary events of default relating to, among other things, payment defaults, breach of representation or warranty or covenants,
cross default to material indebtedness, bankruptcy-related defaults, judgment defaults, and the occurrence of certain change of control events. Non-compliance with one or
more of the covenants and restrictions or the occurrence of an event of default could result in the full or partial principal balance of the Revolving Credit Agreement becoming
immediately due and payable and termination of the commitments.

The Company’s obligations under the Revolving Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain of the Company’s present and future material domestic subsidiaries. The
Company’s obligations under, and each guarantor’s obligations under its guaranty of, the Revolving Credit Agreement are secured by a first priority interest on substantially all
of the Company’s or such guarantor’s respective assets.

As of December 31, 2025, the Company was in compliance with all covenants related to the Revolving Credit Agreement and no amounts had been drawn under the
Revolving Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2025, there were no other balances outstanding.
12. Common Stock and Employee Stock Plans

Common Stock

The Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The rights of the
holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to
one vote per share and holders of Class B common stock were entitled to 20 votes per share. Shares of Class B common stock are convertible into an equivalent number of
shares of Class A common stock and generally convert into shares of Class A common stock upon transfer. Any dividends paid to the holders of Class A common stock and
Class B common stock will be paid on a pro rata basis. On a liquidation event, any distribution to common stockholders is made on a pro rata basis to the holders of the Class A
common stock and Class B common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2025, shareholders voluntarily converted 8.5 million shares of Class B common stock, which constituted all of the Company’s
outstanding shares of Class B common stock, into shares of Class A common stock on a one-
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for-one basis. Following the conversion, no Class B common stock is outstanding and no additional shares of Class B Common Stock will be issued.
Share Repurchase Program

In February 2025, the Company’s board of directors authorized a program for the repurchase of up to $500 million of the Company’s Class A common stock.
Additionally, in May 2025, the Company’s board of directors authorized an increase to the Company’s share repurchase program of an additional $250 million of the
Company’s Class A common stock, for a total overall authorization of up to $750 million. Repurchases may be made from time to time through open market purchases or
through privately negotiated transactions subject to market conditions, applicable legal requirements and other relevant factors. The repurchase program does not obligate the
Company to acquire any particular amount of its Class A common stock and may be suspended at any time at the Company’s discretion. The timing and number of shares
repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including the stock price, business and market conditions, corporate and regulatory requirements, alternative investment
opportunities, acquisition opportunities, and other factors.

During the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company repurchased and subsequently retired 30.3 million shares of Class A common stock for an aggregate amount
of $500.0 million, excluding broker commissions and fees which were not material. Included within this amount is the repurchase of 5.7 million shares of Class A common
stock which were repurchased in September 2025 in connection with the issuance of the 2030 Notes for an aggregate amount of $95.7 million. The shares were repurchased at
fair value with the par value of the shares retired charged against common stock and the remaining repurchase price allocated to additional paid-in capital on the consolidated
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2025, the Company had $250.0 million available to repurchase shares pursuant to the program.

The Company’s share repurchases in excess of issuances are subject to a 1% excise tax enacted by the Inflation Reduction Act. The excise tax on net share repurchases
is accrued and recorded to additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2025, the excise tax was not material.

Common Stock Repurchase

In connection with the issuance of the 2029 Notes in February 2024, the Company repurchased 3.1 million shares of its Class A common stock from investors in
privately negotiated transactions for an aggregate repurchase price of approximately $50.0 million. The shares were repurchased at fair value with the par value of the shares
retired charged against common stock and the remaining repurchase price allocated to additional paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company retired the
shares upon repurchase.

Equity Award Plans

The Company currently maintains two equity award plans that provide for the issuance of shares of common stock to officers, directors, and other employees of the
Company: the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”) and the 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). These plans provide for the issuance of stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSU”) and performance-based restricted stock units (“PSU”).

2019 Equity Incentive Plan

In March 2019, the board of directors of the Company and the stockholders of the Company adopted the 2019 Plan which serves as the successor to the 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan (“2018 Plan™) and provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and RSUs to employees and consultants of the Company
and its subsidiaries and non-employee directors of the Company. RSUs granted with only service conditions under the 2019 Plan to employees generally vest in a period up to
four years.

The number of shares available for issuance under the 2019 Plan will be increased on January 1 of each year, beginning on January 1, 2020, in an amount equal to the
least of (i) 35.0 million shares, (ii) five percent of the outstanding shares of all classes of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year
or (iii) such number of shares determined by the administrator.

The following table summarizes the Company’s shares of common stock reserved for issuance as of December 31, 2025 (in thousands):

RSUs outstanding under the 2019 Plan 26,341
Remaining shares available for future issuance under the 2019 Plan 56,655
Remaining shares available for future issuance under the 2019 ESPP Plan 16,104

105



Restricted Stock Units

The summary of RSU activity is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

‘Weighted-
Average Aggregate
Number of Grant Date Intrinsic
Shares Fair Value Value

Nonvested units as of December 31, 2024 26,194 $ 10.67 $ 336,282

Granted 25,598 13.65

Vested (21,065) 13.85

Canceled (4,386) 13.58
Nonvested units as of December 31, 2025 26,341 $ 1054 $ 510,228
Expected to vest as of December 31, 2025 25,983 $ 503,286

Included in the grants for the year ended December 31, 2025 are 2.1 million shares of PSUs. All PSUs are subject to a continuous service condition in addition to
certain performance criteria. These PSUs are divided into individual performance milestones and vesting tranches tied to the Company’s stock performance.

The fair values as of the respective vesting dates of RSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 were $355.2 million, $337.4 million
and $290.5 million, respectively. In connection with RSUs that vested in the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023, the Company withheld 9.0 million, 2.5 million
and 0.3 million shares and remitted cash payments on behalf of the RSU holders to the relevant tax authorities of $151.3 million, $40.3 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2025, the total unrecognized compensation cost was $140.5 million related to all unvested awards. The Company expects to recognize this
expense over the remaining weighted-average period of approximately 8 months. All RSUs vest on the satisfaction of a service-based condition only. The Company recognizes
compensation expense for such RSUs upon a straight-line basis over their requisite service periods.

The income tax benefits for stock-based compensation expense recognized on the consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2025 was
$19.2 million. There were no income tax benefits for stock-based compensation expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

There were no stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023. As of December 31, 2025, no options remained outstanding.

There were no stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2025 and the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 were not material.

As of December 31, 2025, there are no remaining unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options.

2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2019, the Company’s board of directors adopted and the Company’s stockholders approved the ESPP. The initial ESPP went into effect on March 27, 2019
and was last amended on July 18, 2022. Subject to any limitations contained therein, the ESPP allows eligible employees to contribute, through payroll deductions, up
to 15% of their eligible compensation to purchase the Company’s Class A common stock at a discounted price per share. The ESPP provides for consecutive, overlapping 12-
month offering periods, subject to certain reset provisions as defined in the plan.

A total of 6.0 million shares of Class A common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2025, 7.3 million shares of Class A
common stock have been purchased under the 2019 ESPP. The number of shares reserved under the 2019 ESPP automatically increases on the first day of each calendar year
beginning on January 1, 2020 in a number of shares equal to the least of (i) 7.0 million shares of Class A common stock, (ii) one percent of the outstanding shares of all classes
of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or (iii) an amount determined by the administrator of the 2019 ESPP.
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13. Income Taxes

U.S. and foreign components of consolidated (loss) income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2025 2024 2023
United States $ (35,120) $ 61,371 $ (348,050)
Foreign (18,127) (36,021) 16,346
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (53,247) $ 25350 $ (331,704)
The (benefit from) provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2025, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023
Current (benefit) provision
Federal $ 852 § — S —
State (4,481) 10,438 3,762
Foreign 1,493 (5,996) 7,239
Total current $ (2, 1 36) $ 4,442 $ 1 1,001
Deferred (benefit) provision
Federal (2,253,928) 481 481
State (631,787) 427 (337)
Foreign (9,404) (2,784) (2,529)
Total deferred (2,895,119) (1,876) (2,385)
Total (benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (2,897,255) § 2,566 § 8,616
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The reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rates to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows (in thousands, except for percentages):

Provision for income taxes at U.S. federal statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal effect("

Foreign tax effects

Canada
Statutory tax rate difference between Canada and U.S.
Provincial tax impacts
Other adjustments

Germany

Statutory tax rate difference between Germany and U.S.

Trade tax
Other adjustments
Other foreign jurisdictions

Change in valuation allowance

Nontaxable or nondeductible items
Permanent tax adjustments
Nondeductible expenses
Stock-based compensation
Executive compensation
Nondeductible transaction costs

Tax credits
Research and development

Changes in unrecognized tax benefits

Provision for income taxes

(1) State taxes in California, New York, New York City, and Illinois made up the majority (greater than 50%) of the tax effect in this category.

Year Ended December 31,
2025
% $

21.0% $ (11,182)
1,339.3 % (713,139)
(1.5)% 777
3.8% (2,002)
2.5% (1,339)
(1.8)% 961
51% (2,728)

0.2 % (108)

0.5 % (262)
3,808.0 % (2,027,633)
(4.9)% 2,597
(16.9)% 8,984
19.7 % (10,478)
(26.0)% 13,864
(6.7% 3,593
646.6 % (344,315)
(347.7% 185,155
54412 % $ (2,897,255)




The following table is a reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rates to the Company’s effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024

and 2023 in accordance with the guidance prior to the adoption of ASU 2023-09:
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Provision at federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State, net of federal benefit 29.2 9.7
Permanent tax adjustments 10.3 (1.1)
Nondeductible expenses 54.4 (8.3)
Stock-based compensation (65.6) (15.1)
Executive compensation 63.0 2.4)
Change in valuation allowance (101.5) (2.5)
Impact of foreign operations 4.7) 0.4)
Deferred adjustments — (3.2)
Other adjustments 4.0 (0.3)

Effective income tax rate 10.1 % (2.6)%

The amounts of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) by the Company are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ende3d December
2025
Federal $ —
State and local 6,582
Foreign 679
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 7,261
Income taxes paid (net of refunds) exceeded 5% of total income taxes paid (net of refunds) in the following jurisdictions (in thousands):
Year Ended December
31,
2025
State and Local
California $ 1,000
Illinois 1,158
Cincinnati (523)
Philadelphia 1,068
Texas 2,043
Foreign
Canada (1,033)
Mexico 849
Ireland 773
Spain 518
Switzerland 913)
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes at the enacted rates. The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of the periods indicated were as

follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2025 2024
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 2,254,164 $ 1,975,436
Insurance reserves and accruals 425,547 382,532
Research tax credits 406,978 —
Stock-based compensation 17,851 16,837
Research capitalization 202,235 288,464
Accrued legal settlement/fees 150,765 92,975
Lease liability 73,551 73,356
Accrued and other liabilities 31,378 47,233
Capital losses 7 64
Other assets 22,874 —
Total deferred tax assets 3,585,350 2,876,897
Less: Valuation allowance (285,548) (2,690,489)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 3,299,802 186,408
Deferred tax liabilities:
State income taxes (168,532) (132,126)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (66,416) (63,632)
Prepaid expenses (122,068) —
Other liabilities (60,318) 427)
Total deferred tax liabilities (417,334) (196,185)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 2,882,468 § 9,777)

A reconciliation of the valuation allowance is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023
Beginning balance $ 2,690,489 $ 2,715841 $ 2,706,982
Net changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities (2,404,941) (25,352) 8,859
Ending balance $ 285,548 $ 2,690,489 $ 2,715,841

The valuation allowance decreased by $2.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2025, compared to the decrease of $25.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2024, primarily driven by the valuation allowance release with respect to our U.S. federal and certain state deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter of 2025. For the year ended
December 31, 2025, the remaining valuation allowance is attributable to California R&D credits and certain foreign deferred tax assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company recorded a $2.9 billion benefit from the release of the valuation allowance with respect to our U.S. federal and
certain state deferred tax assets. This includes the benefit of approximately $226.8 million related to federal R&D credits attributable to prior years that were recognized in the
current period upon completion of the Company's R&D credit study in tax year 2025. As of December 31, 2025, based on all available positive and negative evidence, having
demonstrated sustained U.S. profitability, which is objective and verifiable, and taking into account anticipated future earnings, we have concluded it is more-likely-than-not
that we will realize our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, with the exception of California R&D credits. We continue to maintain a valuation allowance against these
deferred tax assets as they have not met the “more-likely-than-not” realization criterion.

As of December 31, 2025, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $7.9 billion and $6.4 billion, respectively. The
federal net operating loss carryforwards generated through December 31, 2017 expire at various dates beginning in 2034 and will continue to expire through 2037, while U.S.
federal net operating loss carryforwards generated in 2018 or later do not expire. The state net operating loss carryforward will begin to expire in 2026 and will continue to
expire at various times depending upon individual state carryforward rules.
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As of December 31, 2025, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $557.4 million. These net operating loss carryforwards will
begin to expire in 2026 and will continue to expire at various times depending upon individual jurisdiction carryforward rules.

As of December 31, 2025, the Company had U.S. federal R&D tax credit carryforwards of $344.3 million that begin to expire in 2033. The Company had California
R&D tax credit carryforwards of $251.9 million that have an unlimited carryforward period.

Utilization of the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to various limitations including the ownership change limitations provided by U.S. Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (“IRC”) Section 382 and similar state provisions.

The Company has not provided foreign withholding taxes on the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2025, 2024, and 2023, because it
intends to permanently reinvest such earnings outside of the U.S. If these foreign earnings were to be repatriated in the future, the related U.S. tax liability will be immaterial,
due to the participation exemption put in place by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, Pub L. No. 115-97 (the “2017 Tax Act”), enacted in the U.S.

The following table reflects changes in gross unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023
Beginning balance $ — 3 — 3 =
Gross increases - current year tax positions 8,036 — —
Gross increases - prior year tax positions 181,201 — —
Ending balance $ 189,237  § — § —

As of December 31, 2025, approximately $108.3 million of unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate. The remaining $80.9 million
of the unrecognized tax benefits would not impact the effective tax rate due to the valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax benefits as part of the income tax provision and include accrued interest and
penalties with the related income tax liability on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. To date, the Company has not recognized any interest and penalties in its
consolidated statements of operations, nor has it accrued for or made payments for interest and penalties.

The Company is subject to routine examination by U.S. federal, state and foreign tax authorities. To the extent we have tax attribute carryforwards, the tax years in
which the attribute was generated may still be adjusted upon examination by the federal, state or foreign tax authorities to the extent utilized in a future period. Management
believes that the Company’s tax filings are materially complete and accurate, and that all positions taken are supportable under applicable tax laws.

As of December 31, 2025, the open tax years for our major tax jurisdictions are as follows:

Jurisdiction Tax Years
U.S. Federal 2010-2025
U.S. States 2010-2025
Canada 2021-2025
Germany 2018-2025

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act, Public Law No. 119-21 and formally titled “An Act to Provide for Reconciliation Pursuant to Title IT of H. Con. Res.
14” (“OBBBA”) was enacted in the United States. The OBBBA includes a broad range of tax provisions, such as the permanent extension of certain provisions of the 2017 Act,
modifications to the international tax framework, and the restoration of favorable tax treatment for certain business provisions. The legislation has multiple effective dates, with
certain provisions effective in 2025 and others implemented through 2027. The Company has evaluated the provisions of the OBBBA and determined that the most significant
impact relates to capitalization of research and experimental expenditures under IRC Section 174. The effects of this provision have been reflected in the Company’s income
tax provision.

14. Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. The diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by giving effect to all potentially
dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period. For diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders, the dilutive effect of outstanding
awards is reflected by application of the treasury stock method and convertible securities by application of the if-converted method, as applicable. For purposes of this
calculation, stock options, RSUs, PSUs, the Notes, and stock purchase rights granted under the Company’s ESPP are considered to be common stock equivalents but are
excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss)
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per share attributable to common stockholders when including them has an anti-dilutive effect. Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders are the same for each class of common stock because they are entitled to the same liquidation and dividend rights.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods indicated (in
thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2025 2024 2023

Numerator

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ 2,844,008 $ 22,784 $ (340,320)
Denominator

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common

stockholders 410,840 409,181 385,335

Effect of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents 6,819 4,470 —

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common 417,659 413,651 385335

stockholders
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders $ 692 § 0.06 $ (0.88)
Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders $ 6.81 $ 0.06 $ (0.88)

The following potentially dilutive outstanding shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders
for the periods presented because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect, or issuance of such shares is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions
which were not satisfied by the end of the period (in thousands):

December 31,

2025 2024 2023

Restricted stock units — 1,407 15,538
Performance based restricted stock units 11,590 14,188 14,553
2025 Notes'® — 10,178 19,471
2029 Notes)® 21,821 21,821 —
2030 Notes(V® 21,259 — —
ESPP 382 1,024 111
Stock options — — 780

Total 55,052 48,618 50,453
(1) In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company entered into the Capped Calls, which were not included for purposes of calculating the number of diluted shares outstanding, as their effect would

have been anti-dilutive. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

2) The 2025 Capped Calls were expected to reduce the potential dilution to the Company’s Class A common stock (or, in the event a conversion of the 2025 Notes was settled in cash, to reduce the cash payment

obligation) in the event that at the time of conversion of the 2025 Notes the Company’s Class A common stock price exceeded the conversion price of the 2025 Notes. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” to the
consolidated financial statements for further information.

3) The 2029 Capped Calls and 2030 Capped Calls are expected to reduce the potential dilution to the Company’s Class A common stock (or, in the event conversions of the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes are settled
in cash, to reduce the cash payment obligation) in the event that at the time of conversions of the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes the Company’s Class A common stock price exceeds the conversion price of the
2029 Notes and 2030 Notes, respectively. Refer to Note 11 “Debt” to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

15. Restructuring
September 2024 Restructuring Plan

In September 2024, the Company announced a restructuring plan related to its bikes and scooters transportation mode as part of its efforts to align strategic priorities
and reduce operating costs. The plan involved the disposal of certain types of bikes and scooters and the termination of approximately 1% of the Company’s employees. The
restructuring plan was completed as of the year ended December 31, 2024.
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The following table summarizes the above restructuring related charges by line item within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations where they were
recorded in the year ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Severance and Other Other Current Assets
Employee Costs Fixed Asset Disposals Disposals and Other Costs Accelerated Depreciation Total
Cost of revenue $ — 3 14,090 $ 10,988 $ 9,957 § 35,035
Operation and support 498 — — — 498
Research and development 1,009 — — 172 1,181
Sales and marketing 187 — — — 187
General and administrative 120 — 63 485 668
Total $ 1,814 $ 14,090 $ 11,051 § 10,614 $ 37,569

April 2023 Restructuring Plan

In April 2023, the Company announced a restructuring plan as part of its efforts to reduce operating costs. The plan involved the termination of approximately 1,072
employees, representing 26% of the Company’s employees. The restructuring plan was completed as of the year ended December 31, 2023.

The following table summarizes the above restructuring related charges by line item within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations where they were
recorded in the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Right-of-Use Asset

Severance and Other Impairments and Other
Stock-Based Compensation Employee Costs Costs Accelerated Depreciation Total
Cost of revenue $ 667 $ 3204 $ — 3 — 3 3,871
Operation and support 259 3,054 5,268 669 9,250
Research and development 4,539 21,254 — — 25,793
Sales and marketing 1,045 5,191 — — 6,236
General and administrative 3,213 14,535 400 — 18,148
Total $ 9,723  $ 47,238 $ 5,668 $ 669 § 63,298

As of December 31, 2025, there were no restructuring-related liabilities.

16. Subsequent Events
Share Repurchase Program

In February 2026, the Company's board of directors authorized an additional share repurchase program of up to $1.0 billion of the Company's Class A common stock.
Repurchases may be made from time to time through open market purchases or through privately negotiated transactions subject to market conditions, applicable legal
requirements and other relevant factors. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of its Class A common stock and may be
suspended at any time at the Company's discretion. The timing and number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including the stock price, business and
market conditions, corporate and regulatory requirements, alternative investment opportunities, acquisition opportunities, and other factors. The amounts remaining under the
Company’s prior authorization continue to remain available for repurchase.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of December 31, 2025, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Our management, under the supervision of our Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2025 based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2025.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2025 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the
Exchange Act during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2025 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more
people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Due to inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due
to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Officers

On December 9, 2025, Erin Brewer, our Chief Financial Officer, as trustee of the Erin M. Brewer 2022 Trust, dated August 9, 2022, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement providing for the sale from time to time of an aggregate of up to 60,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the vesting and settlement of RSUs granted
to Ms. Brewer. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement is until December 15, 2026, or
earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

On December 11, 2025, Janey Whiteside, a member of our board of directors, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement providing for the sale from time to time of
an aggregate of up to 4,186 shares of Class A common stock plus additional shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the vesting and settlement of RSUs granted to Ms.
Whiteside subsequent to the adoption of the trading
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arrangement and through November 20, 2026. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the trading arrangement
is until December 15, 2026, or earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

No other officers, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), or directors adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as
defined in Regulation S-K Item 408, during the last fiscal quarter.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None.
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PART IIT

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item, including information about our directors, executive officers, audit committee and Code of Conduct, is incorporated by
reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC, no later than 120 days after December 31, 2025.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2025.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2025.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2025.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2026 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed
with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2025.

116



PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

1. Financial Statements
The following financial statements are included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is otherwise included.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by reference, in each case as indicated below.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant. 10-Q 001-38846 3.1 5/14/2019

3.2 Certificate of Retirement 8-K 001-38846 3.1 8/14/2025

33 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Lyft, Inc. 8-K 001-38846 3.1 7/23/2024

4.1 Form of Class A common stock certificate of the registrant. S-1/A 333-229996 4.1 3/18/2019

4.2 Description of Capital Stock.

43 Indenture, dated as of February 27, 2024, by and between Lyft, Inc. and U.S. Bank 8-K 001-38846 4.1 2/28/2024
Trust Company, National Association, as trustee.

4.4 Form of 0.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029 (included in Exhibit 4.3). 8-K 001-38846 42 2/28/2024

4.5 Indenture, dated as of September 5, 2025, by and between Lyft, Inc. and U.S. Bank 10-Q 001-38846 4.1 11/5/2025
Trust Company, National Association, as trustee.

4.6 Form of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2030 (included in Exhibit 4.5). 10-Q 001-38846 42 11/5/2025

10.1+ Form of Indemnification Agreement between the registrant and each of its directors S-1 333-229996 10.1 3/1/2019
and executive officers.

10.2+ Lyft, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan and related form agreements. S-1/A 333-229996 10.2 3/18/2019

10.3+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Lyft, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive
Plan.

10.4+ Lyft, Inc. 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related form agreements, as 10-K 001-38846 10.4 2/27/2023
amended and restated as of July 18, 2022.

10.5+ Lyft, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan and related form agreements. S-1/A 333-229996 10.4 3/18/2019

10.6+ Lyft, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan and related form agreements. S-1/A 333-229996 10.5 3/18/2019

10.7+ Lyft, Inc. Executive Change in Control and Severance Plan, amended and restated on ~ 10-Q 001-38846 10.4 11/7/2024
August 20, 2024.

10.8+ Lyft, Inc. Outside Director Compensation Policy, amended on March 22, 2022. 10-Q 001-38846 10.1 5/10/2022

10.9+ Employment Letter Agreement between the registrant and David Risher, dated as of ~ 8-K 001-38846 10.1 3/27/2023
March 27, 2023.

10.10+ Employment Letter Agreement between Lyft, Inc. and Erin Brewer, dated as of May 10-Q 001-38846 10.2 8/09/2023
15,2023.

10.11+ Employment Letter Agreement between the registrant and Lindsay Llewellyn, dated 10-Q 001-38846 10.3 11/07/2024
as of July 22, 2024.

10.12(1) Office Lease between the registrant and SPF China Basin Holdings, LLC, dated as of ~ S-1/A 333-229996 10.14 3/18/2019
April 8, 2016 as amended on September 27, 2017, May 31, 2018, June 11, 2018 and
September 24, 2018.

10.12(ii) Fifth Amendment to Office Lease between the registrant and SPF China Basin 10-K 001-38846 10.14(ii)  2/28/2020
Holdings, LLC, dated as of November 18, 2019.

10.12(iii) Sixth Amendment to Office Lease between Lyft, Inc. and SPF China Basin Holdings, 10-Q 001-38846 10.5 5/08/2023
LLC, dated as of March 27, 2023.

10.12(iv) Seventh Amendment to Office Lease between Lyft, Inc. and SPF China Basin 10-K 001-38846 10.16(iv)  2/14/2025
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000156459019019135/lyft-ex31_232.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000134/ex31-certificateofretireme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312524182862/d837844dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex41.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/lyft/sec/0001628280-26-006960/for_pdf/ex42-descriptionofcapitals.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000040/exhibit41-indenture.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000040/exhibit41-indenture.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000040/exhibit41-indenture.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000040/exhibit41-indenture.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000040/exhibit41-indenture.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000162828025049701/exhibit41-indenture11525.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000162828025049701/exhibit41-indenture11525.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000162828025049701/exhibit41-indenture11525.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000162828025049701/exhibit41-indenture11525.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000162828025049701/exhibit41-indenture11525.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519059849/d633517dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519059849/d633517dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex102.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/lyft/sec/0001628280-26-006960/for_pdf/ex103-globalformofrsuagree.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/lyft/sec/0001628280-26-006960/for_pdf/ex103-globalformofrsuagree.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950923000028/ex104-2019employeestockpur.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950923000028/ex104-2019employeestockpur.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000128/exhibit104lyftincexecutive.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000128/exhibit104lyftincexecutive.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950922000043/ex101-outsidedirectorcompe.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312523080628/d467235dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312523080628/d467235dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950923000096/ex102-erinbrewercfoagreeme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950923000096/ex102-erinbrewercfoagreeme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000128/exhibit103employmentletter.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950924000128/exhibit103employmentletter.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex1014.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex1014.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000119312519077391/d633517dex1014.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950920000009/exhibit1014iijpmchinab.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950920000009/exhibit1014iijpmchinab.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950923000063/a105-sixthamendmenttooffic.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950923000063/a105-sixthamendmenttooffic.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1759509/000175950925000025/exhibit1016iv-seventhamend.htm

10.13(i) Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2022, by and among the 8-K 001-38846 10.1 11/07/2022

administrative agent.
10.13(ii) Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2023, by 8-K 001-38846 10.1 12/14/2023

as administrative agent, and certain other lenders party thereto.
10.13(iii) Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2024, by ~ 8-K 001-38846 10.1 2/21/2024

agent, and certain other lenders party thereto.

10.14 Form of Capped Call Transaction Confirmation. 8-K 001-38846 10.2 2/28/2024
10.15 Form of Capped Call Transaction Confirmation. 8-K 001-38846 10.2 9/5/2025
10.16 Lyft, Inc. Employee Incentive Compensation Plan 8-K 001-38846 10.1 7/29/2025
19.1 Insider Trading Policy, as amended on August 6, 2025.
21.1 List of subsidiaries of the registrant.
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting
firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in signature pages hereto).
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.17 Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act 0f 2002.
97.1 Executive Compensation Clawback Policy, as amended and restated as of October 2, 10-K 001-38846 97.1 2/20/2024
2023.
101 The following financial information from Lyft, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2025 formatted in Inline XBRL (eXtensible
Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2025, 2024, and 2023; (ii) Consolidated Statements
of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2025, 2024,
and 2023; (iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2025 and 2024; (iv)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2025,
2024, and 2023; (v) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2025, 2024, and 2023; and (vi) Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

104 The cover page from Lyft, Inc’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2025, formatted in iXBRL (included as Exhibit 101).

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
+  The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Lyft, Inc.
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under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form
10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LYFT, INC.
Date: February 10, 2026 By:  /s/ John David Risher
John David Risher

Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints John David Risher and Erin Brewer, and
each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for such individual in any and all capacities, to sign any
and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or the individual’s substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ John David Risher Chief Executive Officer and Director February 10, 2026
— (Principal Executive Officer)
John David Risher
/s/ Erin Brewer Chief Financial Officer February 10, 2026

- (Principal Financial Officer)
Erin Brewer

/s/ Stephen Hope Chief Accounting Officer February 10, 2026
(Principal Accounting Olfficer)

Stephen Hope

/s/ Prashant (Sean) Aggarwal Chair February 10, 2026
Prashant (Sean) Aggarwal

/s/ Jill Beggs Director February 10, 2026
Jill Beggs

/s/ Deborah A.P. Hersman Director February 10, 2026
Deborah A.P. Hersman

/s/ David Lawee Director February 10, 2026
David Lawee

/s/ David E. Stephenson Director February 10, 2026
David E. Stephenson

/s/ Betsey Stevenson Director February 10, 2026
Betsey Stevenson

/s/ Janey Whiteside Director February 10, 2026
Janey Whiteside
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Exhibit 4.2

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

The following description of the capital stock of Lyft, Inc. (“us”, “our,” “we”, or the “Company”) is a summary. We have adopted an amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and this description summarizes the provisions that are included in such documents. Because it is only a summary, it does not
contain all the information that may be important to you. For a complete description of the matters set forth in this Exhibit 4.2, you should refer to our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, each previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated by reference as an exhibit
to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.2 is a part, and to the applicable provisions of Delaware law. Our authorized capital stock consists of
19,087,220,291 shares of capital stock, $0.00001 par value per share, of which:

¢ 18,000,000,000 shares are designated as Class A common stock;
* 87,220,291 shares are designated as Class B common stock; and

¢ 1,000,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock.

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors has the authority, without stockholder approval except as required by the listing
standards of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, to issue additional shares of our Class A common stock.

At 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on August 15, 2025, each outstanding share of Class B common stock automatically converted into one share of Class A common stock, pursuant to
the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which date we refer to as the Final Conversion Date. No shares of Class B common stock remain outstanding
following such conversion, and no additional shares of Class B common stock will be issued following such conversion.

In addition, on August 15, 2025, we filed a certificate of retirement (the “Certificate of Retirement”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware effecting the retirement
of the shares of Class B common stock that were issued but no longer outstanding following the conversion. Pursuant to Section 243 of the DGCL, the filing of the Certificate
of Retirement had the effect of amending our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to reduce the total number of authorized shares of capital stock by the number of
retired shares of Class B common stock.

Common Stock

We have two classes of authorized common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class B common
stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion.

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of funds
legally available if our board of directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the times and in the amounts that our board of directors may
determine.

Voting Rights



Holders of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and holders of our Class B common stock
are entitled to 20 votes for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. The holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock vote
together as a single class, unless otherwise required by law. Under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of our Class B common stock is required to increase the number of authorized shares of our Class B common stock. In addition, Delaware law could require either
holders of our Class A common stock or our Class B common stock to vote separately as a single class in the following circumstances:

¢ if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to increase or decrease the par value of a class of stock, then that class would be
required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; and

¢ if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation in a manner that alters or changes the powers, preferences or special rights of a class
of stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely, then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment.

As noted above, no shares of Class B common stock are outstanding.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a classified board of directors consisting of three classes of approximately equal size, each serving staggered
three-year terms. Only the directors in one class will be subject to election by a plurality of the votes cast at each annual meeting of stockholders, with the directors in the other
classes continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms. Stockholders do not have the ability to cumulate votes for the election of directors.

No Preemptive or Similar Rights

Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to conversion, redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

If we become subject to a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among the
holders of our common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the
preferential rights of and the payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Conversion of Class B Common Stock

The Final Conversion Date occurred on August 15, 2025.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors has the authority, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the
number of shares to be included in each series and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations or
restrictions, in each case without further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of directors can also increase or decrease the number of shares of any series of preferred
stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of directors may authorize the
issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock. The issuance of
preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying,
deferring or preventing a change in control of our company and might adversely affect the market price of our



common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock. We have no current plan to issue any shares of preferred stock.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certain provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, which are summarized below, may have the
effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another person from acquiring control of us. They are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us
to negotiate first with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer
outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to acquire us because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware Law

We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delaware corporation from engaging in
a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder,
unless:

¢ the business combination or transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder was approved by the board of directors prior to the time
that the stockholder became an interested stockholder;

¢ upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the
voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding shares owned by directors who are also officers of the corporation and
shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be
tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

* at or subsequent to the time the stockholder became an interested stockholder, the business combination was approved by the board of directors and authorized at an
annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not
owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in financial benefit to a stockholder and an “interested
stockholder” as a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock. These
provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing changes in control of our company.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws include a number of provisions that could deter hostile takeovers or delay or
prevent changes in control of our board of directors or management team, including the following:

Dual Class Stock



As described above in “Common Stock-Voting Rights,” our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for a dual class common stock structure. Following the
Final Conversion Date, we have one class of common stock outstanding, which is the Class A common stock.

Classified Board

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors, each of which holds office for a three-year
term. In addition, directors may only be removed from the board of directors for cause. The existence of a classified board could delay a potential acquirer from obtaining
majority control of our board of directors, and the prospect of that delay might deter a potential acquirer.

Board of Directors Vacancies

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws authorize only our board of directors to fill vacant directorships, including newly
created seats. In addition, the number of directors constituting our board of directors is permitted to be set only by a resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of
directors. These provisions would prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our board of directors and then gaining control of our board of directors by filling the
resulting vacancies with its own nominees. This makes it more difficult to change the composition of our board of directors and promotes continuity of management.

Stockholder Action, Special Meeting of Stockholders

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our stockholders may not take action by written consent, but may only take action at annual or special
meetings of our stockholders. As a result, a holder controlling a majority of our capital stock would not be able to amend our amended and restated bylaws or remove directors
without holding a meeting of our stockholders called in accordance with our amended and restated bylaws. Our amended and restated bylaws further provide that special
meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of our board of directors, the chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer or our President,
thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special meeting. These provisions might delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for
stockholders controlling a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Our amended and restated bylaws provide advance notice procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate
candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of
a stockholder’s notice. These provisions might preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for
directors at our annual meeting of stockholders if the proper procedures are not followed. We expect that these provisions may also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.

No Cumulative Voting

The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that stockholders are not entitled to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a corporation’s certificate of
incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

Amendment of Charter and Bylaws Provisions

Amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation require the approval of two-thirds of the outstanding voting power of our common stock. Our amended
and restated bylaws provide that approval of stockholders holding two-thirds of our outstanding voting power voting as a single class is required for stockholders to amend or
adopt any provision of our bylaws.

Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock



Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 1,000,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights and
preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by our board of directors. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock would enable our
board of directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or other means.

Exclusive Forum

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors,
stockholders, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or our certificate
of incorporation or bylaws or (iv) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or,
if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or the federal district court for the District of Delaware), in all cases subject to the court
having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United
States of America shall be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), against any person in connection with any offering of the our securities, including, without limitation and for the avoidance of doubt, any auditor, underwriter,
expert, control person or other defendant. Any person or entity purchasing, holding or otherwise acquiring any interest in our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to this provision. This provision is enforceable by any party to a complaint covered by this provision. For avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this provision
applies to any action brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor thereto.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that limit the liability of our directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by the
Delaware General Corporation Law. Consequently, our directors are not personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as
directors, except liability for the following:

* any breach of their duty of loyalty to our company or our stockholders;

* any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

¢ unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or

* any transaction from which they derived an improper personal benefit.

Any amendment to, or repeal of, these provisions will not eliminate or reduce the effect of these provisions in respect of any act, omission or claim that occurred or arose prior
to that amendment or repeal. If the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended to provide for further limitations on the personal liability of directors of corporations, then
the personal liability of our directors will be further limited to the greatest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law.

In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made
a party to any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that they are or were one of our directors or officers or is or was serving at our request as a director or



officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we may indemnify to the fullest extent
permitted by law any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that they are or were one of our
employees or agents or is or was serving at our request as an employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. Our amended and
restated bylaws also provide that we must advance expenses incurred by or on behalf of a director or officer in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding,
subject to limited exceptions.

Further, we have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers that may be broader than the specific indemnification provisions
contained in the Delaware General Corporation Law. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to indemnify our directors and executive officers
against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service. These indemnification agreements also require us to advance all expenses incurred by the directors and
executive officers in investigating or defending any such action, suit or proceeding. We believe that these agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified individuals to
serve as directors and executive officers.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions that are included in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and in
indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and executive officers may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors and
executive officers for breach of their fiduciary duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and executive officers, even though an
action, if successful, might benefit us and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and
damage awards against directors and executive officers as required by these indemnification provisions.

We have obtained insurance policies under which, subject to the limitations of the policies, coverage is provided to our directors and executive officers against loss arising from
claims made by reason of breach of fiduciary duty or other wrongful acts as a director or executive officer, including claims relating to public securities matters, and to us with
respect to payments that may be made by us to these directors and executive officers pursuant to our indemnification obligations or otherwise as a matter of law.

Certain of our non-employee directors may, through their relationships with their employers, be insured or indemnified against certain liabilities incurred in their capacity as
members of our board of directors.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling our company pursuant to the foregoing
provisions, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock and our Class B common stock is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC. The transfer agent and registrar’s address is 28
Liberty Street, Floor 53, New York, New York 10005.

Listing
Our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “LYFT.”



LYFT, INC.
2019 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

NOTICE OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Lyft, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) will have the same
defined meanings in this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, which includes the Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (the “Notice of
Grant”), Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Grant attached hereto as Exhibit A, including the additional terms and
conditions for certain countries, as set forth in the country addendum attached thereto (the “Country Addendum” and, together with
the Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Grant, the “Award Agreement”).

Participant: <first_name> <last_name>

The undersigned Participant has been granted the right to receive an Award of Restricted Stock Units, subject to the terms
and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows:

Grant Number: <award_id>
Date of Grant: <award_date>
Vesting Commencement Date: <vest_start date>

Number of Restricted Stock Units:__<shares_awarded>

Vesting Schedule:

Subject to any acceleration provisions contained in the Plan or set forth below, the Restricted Stock Units will vest in
accordance with the following schedule:

<vesting_schedule>

In the event Participant ceases to be a Service Provider for any or no reason before Participant vests in the Restricted Stock
Units, the Restricted Stock Units and Participant’s right to acquire any Shares hereunder will immediately terminate. For the
avoidance of doubt, service during only a portion of the vesting period until the respective vesting date shall not entitle Participant to
vest in a pro rata portion of the Restricted Stock Units scheduled to vest on such date.

By Participant’s signature and the signature of the representative of Lyft, Inc. (the “Company”) below, Participant and the
Company agree that this Award of Restricted Stock Units is granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and
this



Award Agreement. Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan. Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Award
Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Award Agreement, and fully
understands all provisions of the Plan and this Award Agreement. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive, and
final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions relating to the Plan and the Award Agreement.
Participant further agrees to notify the Company upon any change in the residence address indicated below.

By signing this Award Agreement, Participant is agreeing to arbitration of any disputes related to this Award Agreement and of
any disputes related to Participant’s employment relationship with the Company, as provided in Section 16.

PARTICIPANT: LYFT, INC.

Signature Signature

<first name> <last nhame>
Print Name Print Name

Title

Address:




EXHIBIT A
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT

1. Grant of Restricted Stock Units. The Company hereby grants to the individual (the “Participant”) named in the Notice of
Grant under the Plan an Award of Restricted Stock Units, subject to all of the terms and conditions in this Award Agreement and the
Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference. Subject to Section 19(c) of the Plan, in the event of a conflict between the terms and
conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall prevail.

2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents the right to receive a Share on the date it vests.
Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units will have vested in the manner set forth in Section 3 or 4, Participant will have no right to
payment of any such Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units, such Restricted Stock Unit
will represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

3. Vesting_Schedule. Except as provided in Section 4, and subject to Section 5, the Restricted Stock Units awarded by this
Award Agreement will vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the Notice of Grant, subject to Participant continuing
to be a Service Provider through each applicable vesting date.

4. Payment after Vesting.

(a) General Rule. Subject to Section 8, any Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to Participant (or in the event
of Participant’s death, to his or her properly designated beneficiary, to the extent permitted by the Company in accordance with
applicable laws, or estate) in whole Shares. Subject to the provisions of Section 4(b), such vested Restricted Stock Units shall be
paid in whole Shares as soon as practicable after vesting, but in each such case within sixty (60) days following the vesting date. In
no event will Participant be permitted, directly or indirectly, to specify the taxable year of payment of any Restricted Stock Units
payable under this Award Agreement.

(b) Acceleration.

(i) Discretionary Acceleration. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or
some lesser portion of the balance, of the unvested Restricted Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so
accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having vested as of the date specified by the Administrator. If
Participant is a U.S. taxpayer, the payment of Shares vesting pursuant to this Section 4(b) shall in all cases be paid at a time or in a
manner that is exempt from, or complies with, Section 409A. The prior sentence may be superseded in a future agreement or
amendment to this Award Agreement only by direct and specific reference to such sentence.




(i)  Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Award Agreement or any other agreement (whether entered
into before, on or after the Date of Grant), if the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock
Units is accelerated in connection with Participant’s termination as a Service Provider (provided that such termination is a “separation
from service” within the meaning of Section 409A, as determined by the Company), other than due to Participant’s death, and if (x)
Participant is a U.S. taxpayer and a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of such termination as a
Service Provider and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the imposition of additional tax under
Section 409A if paid to Participant on or within the six (6) month period following Participant’s termination as a Service Provider, then
the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the
date of Participant’s termination as a Service Provider, unless Participant dies following his or her termination as a Service Provider,
in which case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid in Shares to Participant’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her
death.

(c) Section 409A. It is the intent of this Award Agreement that it and all payments and benefits to U.S. taxpayers
hereunder be exempt from, or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units provided
under this Award Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and
any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to be so exempt or so comply. Each payment payable under this Award Agreement is
intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2). However, in no event will the
Company reimburse Participant, or be otherwise responsible for, any taxes or costs that may be imposed on Participant as a result of
Section 409A. For purposes of this Award Agreement, “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code, and any final Treasury
Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance thereunder, as each may be amended from time to time.

5.  Forfeiture Upon Termination as a Service Provider. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Award Agreement, if
Participant ceases to be a Service Provider for any or no reason, the then-unvested Restricted Stock Units awarded by this Award
Agreement will thereupon be forfeited at no cost to the Company and Participant will have no further rights thereunder.

For purposes of the Restricted Stock Units, Participant's status as a Service Provider will be deemed terminated as of
the date Participant is no longer actively providing services to the Company, a Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate (regardless of the
reason for such termination and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where
Participant is providing service or the terms of Participant's employment agreement, if any) and such date will not be extended by
any notice period (e.g., Participant's period of service would not include any contractual notice period or any period of “garden
leave” or similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is providing service or the terms of
Participant's employment agreement, if any). The Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to



determine when Participant is no longer actively providing services for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units (including whether
Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on a leave of absence).

6. Tax Consequences. Participant has reviewed with his or her own tax advisors the U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S.
tax consequences of this award and the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement. With respect to such matters,
Participant relies solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents, written
or oral. Participant understands that Participant (and not the Company) shall be responsible for Participant's own tax liability that may
arise as a result of this award or the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement.

7. Death of Participant. Any distribution or delivery to be made to Participant under this Award Agreement will, if Participant
is then deceased, be made to Participant’s designated beneficiary, or if no beneficiary survives Participant, the administrator or
executor of Participant’s estate, provided such designation or distribution has been permitted by the Company and is valid under
applicable laws. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with (a) written notice of his or her status as transferee, and (b)
evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining
to said transfer.

8. Tax Obligations.

(@) Responsibility for Taxes. Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company or, if
different, the Parent or Subsidiary employing Participant or to which Participant is otherwise providing services (the “Service
Recipient”), the ultimate liability for any tax and/or social insurance liability obligations and requirements in connection with the
Restricted Stock Units, including, without limitation, (i) all federal, state, and local taxes (including the Participant’s Federal Insurance
Contributions Act (FICA) obligation) that are required to be withheld by the Company or the Service Recipient or other payment of
tax-related items related to Participant’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable or deemed applicable, to Participant, (ii) the
Participant’s and, to the extent required by the Company (or Service Recipient), the Company’s (or Service Recipient’s) fringe benefit
tax liability, if any, associated with the grant, vesting, or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or sale of Shares, and (iii) any other
Company (or Service Recipient) taxes the responsibility for which the Participant has, or has agreed to bear, with respect to the
Restricted Stock Units (or settlement thereof or issuance of Shares thereunder) (collectively, the “Tax Obligations”), is and remains
Participant’s responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the Company or the Service Recipient. Participant
further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Service Recipient (A) make no representations or undertakings regarding the
treatment of any Tax Obligations in connection with any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant,
vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such settlement and the
receipt of any dividends, or other distributions, and (B) do not commit to and are under no obligation to structure the terms of




the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate Participant’s liability for Tax Obligations or achieve any
particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of Grant and
the date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges that the Company and/or the
Service Recipient (or former service recipient, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax Obligations in more than
one jurisdiction. If Participant fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any required Tax Obligations hereunder at
the time of the applicable taxable event, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to issue or deliver the
Shares.

(b) Tax Withholding. Pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may specify from time to time, the Company
and/or Service Recipient shall withhold the amount required to be withheld for the payment of Tax Obligations. The Administrator, in
its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit Participant to satisfy such Tax
Obligations, in whole or in part (without limitation), if permissible by applicable local law, by (i) paying cash, (ii) electing to have the
Company withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a fair market value equal to such Tax Obligations, (iii) withholding the
amount of such Tax Obligations from Participant’s wages or other cash compensation paid to Participant by the Company and/or the
Service Recipient, (iv) delivering to the Company already vested and owned Shares having a fair market value equal to such Tax
Obligations, or (v) selling a sufficient number of such Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant through such means as the
Company may determine in its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise)(on Participant’'s behalf pursuant to this
authorization without further consent) having a fair market value equal to such Tax Obligations.

The Company may withhold or account for Tax Obligations by considering statutory or other withholding rates, including
minimum or maximum rates applicable in Participant’s jurisdiction(s), provided such rates do not result in adverse financial
accounting consequences. In the event of over-withholding, Participant may receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash
(with no entitlement to the equivalent in Shares), or if not refunded, Participant may seek a refund from the local tax authorities. In
the event of under-withholding, Participant may be required to pay any additional Tax Obligations directly to the applicable tax
authority or to the Company and/or the Service Recipient. If the obligation for Tax Obligations is satisfied by withholding in Shares,
for tax purposes, Participant will be deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares subject to the vested Restricted Stock
Units, notwithstanding that a number of the Shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax Obligations.

Further, if Participant is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of Grant and a date of any relevant
taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company and/or the Service Recipient
(and/or former Service Recipient, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for tax in more than one jurisdiction. If
Participant fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of such Tax Obligations hereunder at the time any applicable
Restricted Stock



Units otherwise are scheduled to vest pursuant to Sections 3 or 4, Participant will permanently forfeit such Restricted Stock Units and
any right to receive Shares thereunder and such Restricted Stock Units will be returned to the Company at no cost to the Company.
Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to deliver the Shares if such Tax Obligations are not satisfied at
the time they are due.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights
or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates
representing such Shares (which may be in book entry form) will have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its
transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant (including through electronic delivery to a brokerage account). After such
issuance, recordation, and delivery, Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such
Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.

10. No Guarantee of Continued Service. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF THE
RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING AS A
SERVICE PROVIDER, WHICH UNLESS PROVIDED OTHERWISE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW IS AT THE WILL OF THE
COMPANY (OR THE SERVICE RECIPIENT) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BEING HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD OR ACQUIRING SHARES HEREUNDER. PARTICIPANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND
AGREES THAT THIS AWARD AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING
SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED
ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND SHALL NOT
INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH PARTICIPANT’S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY (OR THE SERVICE RECIPIENT) TO
TERMINATE PARTICIPANT'S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER, SUBJECT TO APPLICABLE LAW, WHICH
TERMINATION, UNLESS PROVIDED OTHERWISE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, MAY BE AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT
CAUSE.

11.  Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in Section 7, this grant and the rights and privileges
conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise)
and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge,
hypothecate or otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any
execution, attachment or similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and
void.

12. Nature of Grant. In accepting the grant, Participant acknowledges, understands, and agrees that:



(a) the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other
right to receive future grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units
have been granted in the past;

(b) the Plan is operated and the Restricted Stock Units are granted solely by the Company and only the Company is
a party to this Award Agreement; accordingly, any rights Participant may have under this Award Agreement may be raised only
against the Company but not any Subsidiary or Affiliate (including, but not limited to, the Service Recipient);

(c) no Subsidiary or Affiliate (including, but not limited to, the Service Recipient) has any obligation to make any
payment of any kind to Participant under this Award Agreement;

(d) all decisions with respect to future Restricted Stock Units or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the
Company;

(e) Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan;

(f) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units are not intended to replace any
pension rights or compensation;

(g) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of
same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination,
redundancy, dismissal, end-of-service payments, bonuses, holiday pay, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare
benefits or similar payments;

(h) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted;

(i) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Restricted Stock Units and the
benefits evidenced by this Award Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Restricted Stock Units or any such benefits
transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate
transaction affecting the Shares; and

() the following provisions apply only if Participant is providing services outside the United States:

(i) Participant acknowledges and agrees that none of the Company, the Service Recipient or any Parent,
Subsidiary of Affiliate shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation between Participant’s local currency and the United
States Dollar that may affect the value of the Restricted Stock Units or of any amounts due



to Participant pursuant to the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon
settlement; and

(i) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units
resulting from the termination of Participant's employment (for any reason whatsoever whether or not later found to be invalid or in
breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is employed or the terms of Participant’'s employment, if any).

13. No Advice Regarding_Grant. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making
any recommendations regarding Participant’s participation in the Plan, or Participant’s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares.
Participant is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her
participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.

14. Data Privacy. The Company and the Service Recipient may hold certain personal information about Participant,
including, but not limited to, Participant’'s name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social
insurance/security number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in
the Company, details of all Restricted Stock Units or any other entitltement to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, vested,
unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (“Data”).

Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other
form, of Participant’s Data as described in this Award Agreement and any other Restricted Stock Unit grant materials by
and among, as applicable, the Service Recipient, the Company, and any Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate, for the exclusive
purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan.

Participant understands that Data will be transferred to Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“Schwab”), and any other stock
plan service provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, which is assisting the Company with the
implementation, administration, and management of the Plan. Participant understands that the recipients of the Data may
be located in the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country of operation (e.g., the United States) may have
different data privacy laws and protections than Participant’s country. Participant understands that if he or she resides
outside the United States, he or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data
by contacting his or her local human resources representative. Participant authorizes the Company, Schwab, any other
stock plan service provider selected by the Company and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company
(presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and
transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing, administering and managing his or her
participation in the Plan.



Participant understands that Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage
Participant’s participation in the Plan. Participant understands that where provided by law, he or she may exercise rights
related to the Data, including, for example the rights to request to view Data, request additional information about the
storage and processing of Data, request necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any
case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human resources representative. Further, Participant
understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If Participant does not consent, or
if Participant later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her status as a Service Provider and career with the Service
Recipient will not be adversely affected; the only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent is
that the Company would not be able to grant Participant Restricted Stock Units or other equity awards or administer or
maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing his or her consent may affect
Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant’s refusal to consent
or withdrawal of consent, Participant understands that he or she may contact his or her local human resources
representative.

15. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Award Agreement will be addressed
to the Company at Lyft, Inc., 185 Berry Street, Suite 400, San Francisco, CA 94107, or at such other address as the Company may
hereafter designate in writing.

16. Arbitration and Equitable Relief.

(a) Arbitration. IN CONSIDERATION OF PARTICIPANT RECEIVING THIS AWARD AND PARTICIPANT'S
EMPLOYMENT WITH THE COMPANY, THE COMPANY’'S PROMISE TO ARBITRATE ALL EMPLOYMENT-RELATED DISPUTES
(INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DISPUTES RELATING TO THIS AWARD) WITH PARTICIPANT, AND PARTICIPANT'S
RECEIPT OF OTHER COMPENSATION AND OTHER COMPANY BENEFITS, AT PRESENT AND IN THE FUTURE, PARTICIPANT
AGREES THAT ANY AND ALL CONTROVERSIES, CLAIMS, OR DISPUTES THAT PARTICIPANT MAY HAVE WITH THE
COMPANY (INCLUDING ANY COMPANY EMPLOYEE, OFFICER, DIRECTOR, TRUSTEE, OR BENEFIT PLAN OF THE
COMPANY, IN THEIR CAPACITY AS SUCH OR OTHERWISE), ARISING OUT OF, RELATING TO, OR RESULTING FROM THIS
AWARD OR PARTICIPANT'S EMPLOYMENT OR RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY OR THE TERMINATION OF
PARTICIPANT'S EMPLOYMENT OR RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY, INCLUDING ANY BREACH OF THIS AWARD
AGREEMENT, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO BINDING ARBITRATION UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT (THE “FAA”). THE
FAA'S SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL RULES SHALL GOVERN AND APPLY TO THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WITH
FULL FORCE AND EFFECT, AND ANY STATE COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION MAY STAY PROCEEDINGS PENDING
ARBITRATION OR COMPEL ARBITRATION IN THE SAME MANNER AS A FEDERAL COURT UNDER THE FAA. PARTICIPANT
FURTHER AGREES THAT, TO THE



FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, PARTICIPANT MAY BRING ANY SUCH ARBITRATION PROCEEDING ONLY IN
PARTICIPANTS’ INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, AND NOT AS A PLAINTIFF, REPRESENTATIVE OR CLASS MEMBER IN ANY
PURPORTED CLASS, COLLECTIVE OR REPRESENTATIVE LAWSUIT OR PROCEEDING. PARTICIPANT UNDERSTANDS,
HOWEVER, THAT NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT PREVENTS PARTICIPANT FROM BRINGING A REPRESENTATIVE
LAWSUIT OR PROCEEDING AS PERMITTED BY THE CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE'’S PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT OF
2004. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, PARTICIPANT AGREES TO ARBITRATE ANY AND ALL COMMON
LAW AND/OR STATUTORY CLAIMS UNDER LOCAL, STATE, OR FEDERAL LAW, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO,
CLAIMS UNDER TITLE VIl OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT OF 1990, THE
AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT OF 1967, THE OLDER WORKERS BENEFIT PROTECTION ACT, THE WORKER
ADJUSTMENT AND RETRAINING NOTIFICATION ACT, THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, THE CALIFORNIA FAIR
EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING ACT, THE FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT, THE CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT, THE
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE, CLAIMS RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT STATUS, COMPENSATION (CASH, EQUITY, BONUS, OR
OTHERWISE), CLASSIFICATION AND RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANY, AND CLAIMS OF HARASSMENT,
DISCRIMINATION, WRONGFUL TERMINATION, AND BREACH OF CONTRACT. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
LAW, PARTICIPANT ALSO AGREES TO ARBITRATE ANY AND ALL DISPUTES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE
INTERPRETATION OR APPLICATION OF THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE, BUT NOT DISPUTES ABOUT THE
ENFORCEABILITY, REVOCABILITY OR VALIDITY OF THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE OR THE CLASS, COLLECTIVE AND
REPRESENTATIVE PROCEEDING WAIVER HEREIN. WITH RESPECT TO ALL SUCH CLAIMS AND DISPUTES THAT
PARTICIPANT AGREES TO ARBITRATE, PARTICIPANT HEREBY EXPRESSLY AGREES TO WAIVE, AND DOES WAIVE, ANY
RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY. PARTICIPANT FURTHER UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE ALSO
APPLIES TO ANY DISPUTES THAT THE COMPANY MAY HAVE WITH PARTICIPANT. PARTICIPANT UNDERSTANDS THAT
NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT REQUIRES PARTICIPANT TO ARBITRATE CLAIMS THAT CANNOT BE ARBITRATED UNDER
APPLICABLE LAW, SUCH AS CLAIMS UNDER THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS SECTION 16 ONLY,
REFERENCES TO “COMPANY” SHALL MEAN LYFT, INC. (OR IT SUCCESSOR) AND ANY PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY OF LYFT,
INC. (OR ITS SUCCESSOR).

(b) Procedure. PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT ANY ARBITRATION WILL BE ADMINISTERED BY THE AMERICAN
ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION PURSUANT TO ITS EMPLOYMENT ARBITRATION RULES & MEDIATION PROCEDURES (THE
“AAA RULES”), WHICH ARE AVAILABLE AT
https://www.adr.org/sites/default/files/document_repository/EmploymentRules_Web.pdf. IF THE AAA RULES CANNOT BE
ENFORCED AS TO THE ARBITRATION, THEN THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THEY WILL ARBITRATE THIS DISPUTE UNDER
THE CALIFORNIA ARBITRATION ACT (CALIFORNIA CODE CIV. PROC. § 1280 ET. SEQ (THE “CAA”)). PARTICIPANT AGREES



THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL HAVE THE POWER TO DECIDE ANY MOTIONS BROUGHT BY ANY PARTY TO THE
ARBITRATION, INCLUDING MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND/OR ADJUDICATION, AND MOTIONS TO DISMISS AND
DEMURRERS, APPLYING THE STANDARDS SET FORTH UNDER THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.
PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL ISSUE A WRITTEN DECISION ON THE MERITS. PARTICIPANT ALSO
AGREES THAT THE ARBITRATOR SHALL HAVE THE POWER TO AWARD ANY REMEDIES AVAILABLE UNDER APPLICABLE
LAW, AND THAT THE ARBITRATOR MAY AWARD ATTORNEYS’' FEES AND COSTS TO THE PREVAILING PARTY, WHERE
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW. PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT THE DECREE OR AWARD RENDERED BY THE
ARBITRATOR MAY BE ENTERED AS A FINAL AND BINDING JUDGMENT IN ANY COURT HAVING JURISDICTION THEREOF.
PARTICIPANT UNDERSTANDS THAT THE COMPANY WILL PAY FOR ANY ADMINISTRATIVE OR HEARING FEES CHARGED BY
THE ARBITRATOR OR AAA EXCEPT THAT PARTICIPANT SHALL PAY ANY FILING FEES ASSOCIATED WITH ANY
ARBITRATION THAT PARTICIPANT INITIATES, BUT ONLY SO MUCH OF THE FILING FEES AS PARTICIPANT WOULD HAVE
INSTEAD PAID HAD PARTICIPANT FILED A COMPLAINT IN A COURT OF LAW. PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT THE
ARBITRATOR SHALL ADMINISTER AND CONDUCT ANY ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH CALIFORNIA LAW,
INCLUDING THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE AND THE CALIFORNIA EVIDENCE CODE, AND THAT THE
ARBITRATOR SHALL APPLY SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL CALIFORNIA LAW TO ANY DISPUTE OR CLAIM, WITHOUT
REFERENCE TO RULES OF CONFLICT-OF-LAW. PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT ANY ARBITRATION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT
SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA.

(c) Remedy. EXCEPT FOR THE PURSUIT OF ANY PROVISIONAL REMEDY PERMITTED BY THE CAA OR
OTHERWISE PROVIDED BY THIS AGREEMENT, PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT ARBITRATION SHALL BE THE SOLE,
EXCLUSIVE, AND FINAL REMEDY FOR ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN PARTICIPANT AND THE COMPANY.

(d) Administrative Relief. PARTICIPANT UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS AGREEMENT DOES NOT PROHIBIT
PARTICIPANT FROM PURSUING AN ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIM WITH A LOCAL, STATE, OR FEDERAL ADMINISTRATIVE BODY
OR GOVERNMENT AGENCY THAT IS AUTHORIZED TO ENFORCE OR ADMINISTER LAWS RELATED TO EMPLOYMENT,
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE DEPARTMENT OF FAIR EMPLOYMENT AND HOUSING, THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION, THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION, OR THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD. THIS AGREEMENT DOES, HOWEVER, PRECLUDE
PARTICIPANT FROM PURSUING A COURT ACTION REGARDING ANY SUCH CLAIM, EXCEPT AS PERMITTED BY LAW.

(e) Voluntary Nature of Agreement. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT PARTICIPANT IS
EXECUTING THIS AGREEMENT VOLUNTARILY
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AND WITHOUT ANY DURESS OR UNDUE INFLUENCE BY THE COMPANY OR ANYONE ELSE. PARTICIPANT FURTHER
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT PARTICIPANT HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT PARTICIPANT
HAS ASKED ANY QUESTIONS NEEDED FOR PARTICIPANT TO UNDERSTAND THE TERMS, CONSEQUENCES, AND BINDING
EFFECT OF THIS AGREEMENT AND FULLY UNDERSTAND IT, INCLUDING THAT PARTICIPANT IS WAIVING PARTICIPANT’S
RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL. FINALLY, PARTICIPANT AGREES THAT PARTICIPANT HAS BEEN PROVIDED AN OPPORTUNITY TO
SEEK THE ADVICE OF AN ATTORNEY OF PARTICIPANT’'S CHOICE BEFORE SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT.

17. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to
the Restricted Stock Units awarded under the Plan or future Restricted Stock Units that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic
means or request Participant’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive such
documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through any on-line or electronic system established and
maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

18. No Waiver. Either party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Award Agreement shall not in any way be
construed as a waiver of any such provision or provisions, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing each and every other
provision of this Award Agreement. The rights granted both parties herein are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either
party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it under the circumstances.

19. Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Award Agreement to single or multiple
assignees, and this Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the
restrictions on transfer herein set forth, this Award Agreement shall be binding upon Participant and his or her heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns. The rights and obligations of Participant under this Award Agreement may only be assigned
with the prior written consent of the Company.

20. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stock. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion, that the listing,
registration, qualification or rule compliance of the Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state, federal or non-U.S. law,
the tax code and related regulations or under the rulings or regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or
any other governmental regulatory body or the clearance, consent or approval of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission or any other governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the issuance of Shares to
Participant (or his or her estate) hereunder, such issuance will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, rule
compliance, clearance, consent or approval will have been completed, effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to
the Company. Subject to the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan, the Company shall not be required to issue any certificate
or certificates for
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Shares hereunder prior to the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the date of vesting of the Restricted Stock Units as
the Administrator may establish from time to time for reasons of administrative convenience.

21.  Language. Participant acknowledges that Participant is proficient in the English language, or has consulted with an
advisor who is proficient in the English language, so as to enable Participant to understand the provisions of the Award Agreement
and the Plan. If Participant has received this Award Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language
other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control,
unless otherwise required by applicable law.

22. Interpretation. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Award Agreement and to adopt such
rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such
rules (including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and
all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon Participant, the Company
and all other interested persons. Neither the Administrator nor any person acting on behalf of the Administrator will be personally
liable for any action, determination, or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Award Agreement.

23. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Award Agreement.

24. Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this Award, Participant expressly warrants that he or
she has received an Award of Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, and has received, read, and understood a description of the
Plan. Participant understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be amended, suspended or terminated by the
Company at any time.

25. Modifications to the Award Agreement. This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the
subjects covered. Participant expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Award Agreement in reliance on any promises,
representations, or inducements other than those contained herein. Modifications to this Award Agreement or the Plan can be made
only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
the Plan or this Award Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Award Agreement as it deems necessary or
advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of Participant, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition
of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A in connection to this Award of Restricted Stock Units.

26. Governing_Law; Venue, Severability. This Award Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the
choice of law rules, of California, except that the FAA shall govern the arbitration requirements set forth in Section 16. In the event
that any
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provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void, this Award
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

27. Imposition of Other Requirements. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Participant’s
participation in the Plan to the extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to
require Participant to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing, provided
that no such other requirements or required agreements or undertakings will permit the Company to impose additional vesting
requirements or, subject to Section 15 of the Plan and Section 8 herein, new material financial obligations on Participant with respect
to this Award of Restricted Stock Units or any other award previously granted to Participant under the Plan.

28. Entire Agreement. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Award Agreement (including the
appendices and exhibits referenced herein) constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect to the subject
matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to Participant’s interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and
Participant.

29. |Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws. By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, Participant acknowledges that
he or she is bound by all the terms and conditions of the Company’s insider trading policy as may be in effect from time to time.
Participant further acknowledges that, depending on Participant’s or his or her broker’s country or the country in which the Shares
are listed, he or she may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws which may affect Participant’s ability to
accept, acquire, sell or otherwise dispose of Shares, rights to Shares, or rights linked to the value of Shares during such times as
Participant is considered to have “material nonpublic information” and/or “inside information” regarding the Company (as defined by
the laws in the applicable jurisdictions). Local insider trading laws and regulations may prohibit the cancellation or amendment of
orders Participant placed before Participant possessed material nonpublic information or inside information, as applicable.
Furthermore, Participant could be prohibited from (i) disclosing the material nonpublic information or inside information, as
applicable, to any third party and (ii) “tipping” third parties or causing them otherwise to buy or sell securities. Any restrictions under
these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any restrictions that may be imposed under the Company’s insider
trading policy as may be in effect from time to time. Participant acknowledges that it is Participant’s responsibility to comply with any
applicable restrictions, and Participant should speak to his or her personal advisor on this matter.

30. Foreign Asset/Account, Exchange Control and Tax Reporting. Participant may be subject to foreign asset/account,
exchange control, tax reporting or other requirements which may affect Participant’s ability to hold Restricted Stock Units, Shares or
cash received from participating in the Plan (including dividends and the proceeds arising from the sale of Shares) in a
brokerage/bank account outside Participant’s country. The
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applicable laws of Participant’s country may require that he or she report such Restricted Stock Units, Shares, accounts, assets or
transactions to the applicable authorities in such country and/or repatriate funds received in connection with the Plan to Participant’s
country within a certain time period or according to certain procedures. Participant acknowledges that he or she is responsible for
ensuring compliance with any applicable requirements and should consult his or her personal tax, legal and financial advisors to
ensure compliance with applicable laws.

31.  Country Addendum. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be
subject to any special terms and conditions set forth in the Country Addendum to this Award Agreement for Participant’s country.
Moreover, if Participant relocates to one of the countries included in the Country Addendum, the special terms and conditions for
such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is
necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. The Country Addendum constitutes part of this Award Agreement.
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COUNTRY ADDENDUM TO
LYFT, INC.
2019 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This Country Addendum includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Award of Restricted Stock Units granted to
Participant under the Plan if Participant works or resides in one of the countries listed below. If Participant is a citizen or resident of a
country (or is considered as such for local law purposes) other than the one in which he or she is currently working or residing or if
Participant relocates to another country after receiving the Award of Restricted Stock Units, the Company will, in its discretion,
determine the extent to which the terms and conditions contained herein will be applicable to Participant.

Certain capitalized terms used but not defined in this Country Addendum shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan, and/or the
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (the “Award Agreement”) to which this Country Addendum is attached.

NOTIFICATIONS

This Country Addendum also includes notifications relating to exchange control and other issues of which Participant should be
aware with respect to his or her participation in the Plan. The information is based on the exchange control, securities and other laws
in effect in the countries listed in this Country Addendum, as of July 2025. Such laws are often complex and change frequently. As a
result, the Company strongly recommends that Participant not rely on the notifications herein as the only source of information
relating to the consequences of his or her participation in the Plan because the information may be outdated when Participant vests
in the Restricted Stock Units and acquires Shares, or when Participant subsequently sell Shares acquired under the Plan.

In addition, the notifications are general in nature and may not apply to Participant’s particular situation, and the Company is not in a
position to assure Participant of any particular result. Accordingly, Participant is advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to
how the relevant laws in Participant’s country may apply to Participant’s situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which Participant is currently working or residing (or is
considered as such for local law purposes) or if Participant moves to another country after receiving the Award of Restricted Stock
Units, the information contained herein may not be applicable to Participant.
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Data Privacy Notice for Participants Inside the European Union and European Economic Area

Purposes and Legal Bases of Processing. The Company processes Data (as defined below) for the purpose of
administering and managing Participant's participation in the Plan and facilitating compliance with applicable tax,
exchange control, securities and labor law. The legal basis for the processing of Data by the Company and the third-party
service providers described below is the necessity of the data processing for the Company to perform its contractual
obligations in connection with the Restricted Stock Units and for the Company’s legitimate business interests of managing
the Plan and generally administering employee equity awards.

Data Collection and Processing. The Company collects, processes and uses the following types of personal
information about Participant: Participant's name, address, telephone number, email address, date of birth, social
insurance number, passport or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any shares or directorships held in
the Company, details of all equity awards granted under the Plan or any other entitlement to shares awarded, canceled,
exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant's favor (“Data”), for the legitimate purpose of managing
Participant's participation in the Plan.

Stock Plan Administration Service Providers. The Company transfers Data to Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“Schwab”),
an independent service provider based in the U.S. which assists the Company with the implementation, administration and
management of the Plan. In the future, the Company may select a different service provider and share Data with such
different service provider that serves the Company in a similar manner. Participant may be asked to agree on separate
terms and data processing practices with Schwab, with such agreement being a condition for Participant to participate in
the Plan. The Company may further transfer Data to other third party service providers, if necessary to ensure compliance
with applicable tax, exchange control, securities and labor law. Such third party service providers may include the
Company’s outside legal counsel and auditor.

International Data Transfers. The Company and Schwab operate, relevant to the Company, in the U.S., which means
that it will be necessary for Data to be transferred to, and processed in, the U.S. Participant understands and acknowledges
that the U.S. is not subject to an unlimited adequacy finding by the European Commission and that Participant's Data may
not have an equivalent level of protection as compared to Participant's country of residence. The Company complies with
applicable legal requirements providing adequate protection for these transfers of Data. Data that the Company collects
from Participant will be transferred to, and stored at/processed in the United States, under the European Commission’s
model contracts for the transfer of personal data to third countries (i.e., the standard contractual clauses), pursuant to
Decision 2004/915/EC. Participant should contact
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[***] should he or she wish to examine the intra-group standard data protection clauses entered into by the Company
Group.

Data Retention. The Company will hold and use Data only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and
manage Participant’'s participation in the Plan, or as required to comply with legal or regulatory obligations, including under
tax, exchange control, labor and securities laws, which may extend beyond Participant’s employment. Once the required
retention period has elapsed for any of the above purposes, the Company will cease processing of Data to the fullest extent
practicable.

Data Subject Rights. Participant may have a number of rights under applicable data privacy laws. Depending on
where Participant is based, such rights may include the right to (i) request access to or copies of Data the Company
processes, (ii) rectify incorrect Data, (iii) delete Data, (iv) restrict the processing of Data, (v) restrict the portability of Data,
(vi) lodge complaints with competent authorities in Participant's jurisdiction, and/or (vii) receive a list with the names and
addresses of any potential recipients of Data. To receive clarification regarding these rights or to exercise these rights,
Participant can contact [***].

Contractual Requirement. Participant's provision of Data and its processing as described above is a contractual
requirement and a condition to Participant's ability to participate in the Plan. Participant understands that, as a
consequence of Participant refusing to provide Data, the Company may not be able to allow Participant to participate in the
Plan, grant any Restricted Stock Units or other equity awards to Participant or administer or maintain such awards.
However, Participant's participation in the Plan is purely voluntary. While Participant will not receive any Restricted Stock
Units or other equity awards if Participant decides against providing Data as described above, Participant's career and
salary will not be affected in any way.
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CANADA
Terms and Conditions

Termination of Service Relationship. The following provision replaces the second paragraph of Section 5 of the Award Agreement:

For purposes of the Restricted Stock Units, except as expressly required by applicable legislation, Participant’s status as a Service
Provider will be considered terminated (regardless of the reason for such termination and whether or not later found to be invalid or
in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is providing services or the terms of Participant’'s employment or
service agreement, if any) as of the date that is the earliest of (a) the date on which Participant’s service relationship is terminated,
(b) the date on which Participant receives a written notice of termination, or (c) the date on which Participant is no longer actively
providing services to the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate, and will not be extended by any notice period (e.g., active
service would not include any contractual notice period or any pay-in-lieu of notice or similar period mandated under employment
laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is providing services or the terms of Participant’'s employment or service agreement, if any).
The Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant is no longer actively providing services for
purposes of his or her Restricted Stock Units (including whether Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on
a leave of absence).

The following provisions will apply if Participant is a resident of Quebec:

[Erench Language Documents. A French translation of this document and certain other documents related to the offer of the Plan
may be made available to Participant, to the extent the Company determines that such a translation is required. Participant
understands that, from time to time, additional information related to the offer may be provided in English and such information may
not be available in French. However, if the Company determines that translation of such additional information is required, the
Company will provide a translation of such information in French to Participant as soon as reasonably practicable. If a French
translation of this document or the Plan is provided to Participant, any such French translation will govern Participant's participation
in the Plan unless Participant indicates otherwise, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Award Agreement.

Documents en Francgais. Une traduction frangaise du présent document et de certains autres documents relatifs a I'offre du Régime
pourrait étre mise a la disposition du Participant, dans la mesure ou la Société détermine qu'une telle traduction est nécessaire. Le
Participant comprend que, de temps a autre, des informations supplémentaires liées a I'offre pourraient étre fournies en anglais et
que ces informations pourraient ne pas étre disponibles en frangais. Toutefois, si la Société détermine que la traduction de ces
informations supplémentaires est nécessaire, la Société fournira au Participant une traduction de ces informations en francgais dés
que cela sera raisonnablement possible. Si une traduction frangaise de ce document ou le Régime est fournie au Participant, cette
traduction frangaise régira la participation du Participant au Régime, sauf indication
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contraire de la part du Participant, nonobstant toute disposition contraire dans le Contrat d’Attribution.]
Data Privacy. The following provision supplements the Data Privacy provision of this Country Addendum:

Participant authorizes the Company and the Company’s representatives to discuss with and obtain all relevant information
from all personnel, professional or non-professional, involved with the administration of the Plan. Participant further
authorizes the Company, any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, the Service Recipient and the designated broker, or any
stock plan service provider as may be selected by the Company from time to time to assist with the Plan, to disclose and
discuss the Plan with their advisors. Participant also authorizes the Company and the Service Recipient to record such
information and to keep such information in Participant’s file. Participant acknowledges and agrees that his or her personal
information, including any sensitive personal information, may be transferred or disclosed outside the province of Quebec,
including to the U.S. If applicable, Participant also acknowledges that the Company, the Service Recipient, any other Parent
or Subsidiary, and the designated broker, or any stock plan service provider, may use technology for profiling purposes
and make automated decisions that may have an impact on Participant or the administration of the Plan.

Notifications

Securities Law Information. Participant is permitted to sell Shares acquired under the Plan through the designated broker appointed
under the Plan, if any, provided the sale of the Shares acquired under the Plan takes place outside of Canada through the stock
exchange on which the Shares are listed.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting_Information. Participant is required to report any foreign specified property (including Shares
acquired under the Plan) with a value exceeding C$100,000 on Form T1135 (Foreign Income Verification Statement) on an annual
basis. The statement is due at the same time as Participant’'s annual tax return. The Restricted Share Units must be reported
(generally, at nil cost) on Form 1135 if the C$100,000 value threshold is exceeded due to other foreign specified property Participant
holds. When Shares are acquired, their value generally is the adjusted cost base (“ACB”) of the Shares. The ACB would ordinarily
equal the fair market value of the Shares at the time of acquisition, but if Participant owns other Shares, this ACB may have to be
averaged with the ACB of the other Shares.

FRANCE
Terms and Conditions

Nature of Award. The Restricted Stock Units granted under this Award Agreement are not intended to be French tax-qualified
restricted stock units granted under Sections L.
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225-197-1 to L. 225-197-5 and Sections L. 22-10-59 to L. 22-10-60 of the French Commercial Code, as amended.

Language Consent. By accepting the award of Restricted Stock Units, Participant confirms having read and understood the
documents relating to the award (the Plan and the Award Agreement, including this Country Addendum), which were provided in
English. Participant accepts the terms of those documents accordingly.

Consentement Relatif a la Langue Utilisée. En acceptant I'attribution, le Participant confirme avoir lu et compris les documents
relatifs a cette attribution (le Plan et le Contrat d'Attribution incluant cette Addendum), qui lui ont été remis en langue anglaise. Le
Participant accepte les termes de ces documents en conséquence.

Notifications

Exchange Control Information. The value of any cash or securities imported to or exported from France without the use of a financial
institution must be reported to the customs and excise authorities when the value of such cash or securities is equal to or greater
than a certain amount. Participant should consult with a personal legal advisor for further details regarding this requirement.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting_Information. Participant must declare all foreign bank and brokerage accounts in which cash or
securities (such as Shares acquired under the Plan) are held, including the accounts that were opened, held, used and/or closed
during the tax year, on an annual basis on a special form No 3916, together with Participant's income tax return. Participant should
consult a personal tax advisor to ensure compliance with applicable reporting requirements.

GERMANY
Notifications

Exchange Control Notification. Cross-border payments in excess of EUR 50,000 must be reported to the German Federal Bank
(Bundesbank). If Participant makes or receives a payment in excess of this amount (including if Participant acquires Shares with a
value in excess of this amount or sells Shares via a foreign broker, bank or service provider and receive proceeds in excess of this
amount) and/or if the Company withholds or sells Shares with a value in excess of this amount to cover Tax-Related Items,
Participant must report the payment and/or the value of the Shares withheld or sold to Bundesbank, either electronically using the
“General Statistics Reporting Portal” (“Allgemeines Meldeportal Statistik”) available on the Bundesbank website
(www.bundesbank.de) or via such other method (e.g., by email or telephone) as is permitted or required by Bundesbank. The report
must be submitted monthly or within other such timing as is permitted or required by Bundesbank.

20



Foreign Asset/Account Reporting_Information. If Participant’s acquisition of Shares under the Plan leads to a so-called qualified
participation at any point during the calendar year, Participant will need to report the acquisition when Participant files his or her tax
return for the relevant year. A qualified participation is attained if (i) Participant owns at least 1% of the Company and the value of the
Shares acquired exceeds €150,000 or (ii) Participant holds Shares exceeding 10% of the Company's total ordinary shares.

GREECE

There are no country-specific provisions.

IRELAND
There are no country-specific provisions.
ITALY

Terms and Conditions

Plan Document Acknowledgement. Participant acknowledges that Participant has read and specifically and expressly approves the
Notice of Grant and the Award Agreement, including the following provisions: Section 3 (Vesting Schedule); Section 5 (Forfeiture
upon Termination of Status as a Service Provider); Section 8 (Tax Obligations); Section 12 (Nature of Grant); Section 17 (Electronic
Delivery and Acceptance); Section 21 (Language); Section 25 (Modifications to the Award Agreement); Section 26 (Governing Law;
Venue; Severability); Section 27 (Imposition of Other Requirements); Section 25 (Language); and Section 31 (Country Addendum).

Notifications

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting_Information. Italian residents who, at any time during the fiscal year, hold foreign financial assets
(including cash and Shares) which may generate income taxable in Italy are required to report these assets on their annual tax
returns (UNICO Form, RW Schedule) for the year during which the assets are held, or on a special form if no tax return is due. These
reporting obligations also will apply to Italian residents who are the beneficial owners of foreign financial assets under Italian money
laundering provisions.

MEXICO
Terms and Conditions

Madification. By accepting the Award of Restricted Stock Units, Participant understands and agrees that any modification of the Plan
or the Award Agreement or its termination shall not constitute a change or impairment of the terms and conditions of employment.
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Policy_Statement. By accepting the Award of Restricted Stock Units, Participant acknowledges that the Company, with registered
offices at 185 Berry Street, 400, San Francisco, CA 94107, U.S.A. is solely responsible for the administration of the Plan. Participant
further acknowledges that participation in the Plan and the acquisition of Shares does not, in any way, establish an employment
relationship between Participant and the Company since he or she is participating in the Plan on a wholly commercial basis and the
sole employer is Lyft Platform Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (“Lyft Mexico”). Based on the foregoing, Participant expressly
acknowledges that the Plan and the benefits that he or she may derive from participation in the Plan do not establish any rights
between Participant and the employer, Lyft Mexico, and do not form part of the employment conditions and/or benefits provided by
Lyft Mexico.

Participant further understands that the Award of Restricted Stock Units the Company is making under the Plan is unilateral and
discretionary and, therefore, the Company reserves the absolute right to amend and/or discontinue it at any time, without any liability.

Plan Document Acknowledgment; Acceptance of Award. By accepting the Award of Restricted Stock Units, Participant acknowledges
that he or she has received copies of the Plan, has reviewed the Plan and the Award Agreement in their entirety, and fully
understands and accepts all provisions of the Plan and the Award Agreement. If, before the first date on which any Restricted Stock
Units otherwise are scheduled to vest, Participant does not indicate acceptance of this Award by signing (including electronic
acceptance, if permitted by the Company) this Award in the manner specified by the Company, this Award and all of the Restricted
Stock Units will be permanently forfeited and Participant will receive no payment or other consideration for the forfeited Award or the
forfeited Restricted Stock Units.

In addition, by accepting the Award of Restricted Stock Units, Participant further acknowledges that he or she has read and
specifically and expressly approves the terms and conditions in the “Nature of Grant” section, in which the following is clearly
described and established: (i) participation in the Plan does not constitute an acquired right; (ii) the Plan and participation in the Plan
is offered by the Company on a wholly discretionary basis; (iii) participation in the Plan is voluntary; and (iv) the Company and any
Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate are not responsible for any decrease in the value of the Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units.

Finally, Participant hereby declares that he or she does not reserve any action or right to bring any claim against the Company for
any compensation or damages as a result of his or her participation in the Plan and therefore grants a full and broad release to the
Service Recipient, the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary with respect to any claim that may arise under the Plan.

Spanish Translation

MEXICO
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Términos y Condiciones

Modificaciéon. Al aceptar la Asignacion de Unidades Accionarias Restringidas, el Participante entiende y acuerda que toda
modificacién al Plan o al Contrato de Asignacion o su terminacién no constituirda cambios o afectacion a los términos y condiciones
de la relacion laboral.

Declaracién de Politica. Al aceptar la Asignacién de Unidades Accionarias Restringidas, el Participante reconoce que la Sociedad,
con oficina registrada en 185 Berry Street, 400, San Francisco, CA 94107, Estados Unidos de América, es la Unica responsable de
la administracion del Plan. El Participante asimismo reconoce que su participacion en el Plan y la adquisicion de Acciones, no
constituye relacion laboral alguna entre el Participante y la Sociedad, debido a que el Participante participa en el Plan sobre una
base exclusivamente comercial, y que su Unico patrén es la persona moral mexicana Lyft Platform México, S. de R.L. de C.V. (“Lyft
México”). Con base en lo anterior, el Participante reconoce expresamente que el Plan y los beneficios que podra recibir como
resultado de su participacion en el Plan, no constituyen la creacién de derechos entre el Participante y el Patron, Lyft México, y no
forman parte de las condiciones de trabajo y/o prestaciones que Lyft México ofrece.

El Participante asimismo entiende que la Asignacion de Unidades Accionarias Restringidas que la Sociedad le otorga conforme al
Plan es unilateral y discrecional, y por lo tanto la Sociedad se reserva el derecho absoluto de modificar y/o descontinuar dicha
Asignacion en cualquier momento, sin incurrir en responsabilidad alguna.

Reconocimiento de Documentos del Plan; Aceptacion del Premio. Al aceptar la Asignacion de Unidades Accionarias Restringidas, el
Participante reconoce haber recibido copias del Plan, haber revisado el Plan y el Contrato de Asignacion en su totalidad, y que
entiende y acepta todas las disposiciones del Plan y del Contrato de Asignacion. Si, antes de la primera fecha en la que esta
programada la concesion de las Unidades Accionarias Restringidas, el Participante no indica la aceptacién de este Premio mediante
la firma (incluida la aceptacion electrénica, si la Compafia lo permite) de este Premio en la manera especificada por la Compafia,
este Premio y todas las Unidades Accionarias Restringidas se perderan permanentemente y el Participante no recibira ningun pago
u otra consideracion por el Premio perdido o las Unidades Accionarias Restringidas pérdidas.

Ademas, al aceptar la Asignacion de Unidades Accionarias Restringidas, el Participante también reconoce haber leido y aprueba
especifica y expresamente los términos y condiciones de la seccion denominada “Naturaleza del Otorgamiento”, en el que se
describe y establece claramente lo siguiente: (i) la participacion en el Plan, no constituye un derecho adquirido; (ii) la Sociedad
ofrece el Plan y la participacion en el mismo, de manera completamente discrecional; (iii) la participacion en el Plan es voluntaria; y
(iv) la Sociedad y su Matriz, Subsidiarias o Filiales no son responsables de la disminucion en el valor de las Acciones subyacentes a
las Unidades Accionarias Restringidas.
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Finalmente, el Participante en este acto declara que no se reserva accion o derecho de interponer reclamacion alguna en contra de
la Sociedad, exigiendo compensacion o reparacion de dafos, como resultado de su participacion en el Plan, y por lo tanto otorga el
mas amplio y extenso finiquito al Patrén, la Sociedad y cualquier Matriz o Subsidiaria, con respecto a cualquier reclamacién que
pudiera surgir conforme al Plan.

Notifications

Securities Law Information. The Restricted Stock Units and the Shares acquired under the Plan have not been registered with the
National Register of Securities maintained by the Mexican National Banking and Securities Commission and cannot be offered or
sold publicly in Mexico. In addition, the Plan, the Award Agreement and any other document relating to the Restricted Stock Units
may not be publicly distributed in Mexico. These materials are addressed to Participant only because of Participant's existing
relationship with the Company, a Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate and these materials should not be reproduced or copied in any form.
The offer contained in these materials does not constitute a public offering of securities but rather constitutes a private placement of
securities addressed specifically to individuals who are present employees of Lyft Mexico made in accordance with the provisions of
the Mexican Securities Market Law, and any rights under such offer shall not be assigned or transferred.

NETHERLANDS

There are no country-specific provisions.
POLAND

Notifications

Exchange Control Information. Polish residents holding cash and foreign securities (e.g., Shares) and/or maintaining accounts
abroad must report information to the National Bank of Poland on transactions and balances of the securities and cash deposited in
such accounts if the value of such securities and cash (when combined with all other assets possessed abroad) exceeds PLN 7
million. If required, the reports must be filed on a quarterly basis on special forms that are available on the website of the National
Bank of Poland.

Further, if Participant transfers funds in excess of EUR 15,000 (or PLN 15,000 if the transfer of funds is connected with business
activity of an entrepreneur) into or out of Poland, the funds must be transferred via a bank account. Participant is required to retain
the documents connected with a foreign exchange transaction for a period of five years, as measured from the end of the year in
which such transaction occurred. Participant should consult a personal legal advisor to ensure compliance with applicable reporting
requirements.

PORTUGAL
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Terms and Conditions

Language Consent. Participant hereby expressly declares that he or she has full knowledge of the English language and has read,
understood and freely accepted and agreed with the terms and conditions established in the Plan and the Award Agreement.

Conhecimento da Lingua. Pela presente, o Participante declara expressamente que tem pleno conhecimento da lingua inglesa e
que leu, compreendeu e liviemente aceitou e concordou com os termos e condigbes estabelecidas no Plano e no Acordo de
Atribuigdo (Award Agreement em inglés).

Notifications

Exchange Control Information. The acquisition of Shares under the Plan should be reported to the Banco de Portugal for statistical
purposes. If the Shares are deposited with a commercial bank or financial intermediary in Portugal, such bank or financial
intermediary will submit the report to the Banco de Portugal. If the Shares are not deposited with a commercial bank, broker or
financial intermediary in Portugal, Participant will be responsible for submitting the report to the Banco de Portugal.

SPAIN

Terms and Conditions
Nature of Grant. This provision supplements Section 12 of the Award Agreement:

By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, Participant consents to participation in the Plan and acknowledges that he or she has
received a copy of the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company has unilaterally, gratuitously and discretionally decided to grant Restricted Stock Units
under the Plan to individuals who may be Service Providers of the Company or its Parent, Subsidiaries or Affiliates throughout the
world. This decision is a limited decision that is entered into upon the express assumption and condition that (i) any grant will not
bind the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company other than as expressly set forth in the Award Agreement; (ii) the
Restricted Stock Units and any Shares issued upon vesting of the Restricted Stock Units are not a part of any employment or service
contract (either with the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company) and shall not be considered a mandatory benefit,
salary for any purpose (including severance compensation) or any other right whatsoever; and (iii) the Restricted Stock Units will
cease vesting upon Participant’s termination of employment, as detailed below.

Further, Participant understands and agrees that, unless otherwise expressly provided for by the Company or set forth in the Plan or
the Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock Units
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will be cancelled without entitlement to any Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units if Participant’s status as a Service Provider
is terminated for any reason, including, but not limited to: resignation, retirement, disciplinary dismissal adjudged to be with cause,
disciplinary dismissal adjudged or recognized to be without good cause (i.e., subject to a “despido improcedente”), material
modification of the terms of employment under Article 41 of the Workers’ Statute, relocation under Article 40 of the Workers’ Statute,
Article 50 of the Workers’ Statute, or under Article 10.3 of Royal Decree 1382/1985. The Company, in its sole discretion, shall
determine the date when Participant’s status as a Service Provider has terminated for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units.

In addition, Participant understands that this grant would not be made to Participant but for the assumptions and conditions referred
to above; thus, Participant acknowledges and freely accepts that, should any or all of the assumptions be mistaken or should any of
the conditions not be met for any reason, then any grant of, or right to, the Restricted Stock Units shall be null and void.

Notifications

Securities Law Information. The Restricted Stock Units described in the Award Agreement do not qualify under Spanish regulations
as a security. No “offer of securities to the public,” as defined under Spanish law, has taken place or will take place in the Spanish
territory in connection with the grant of the Restricted Stock Units. The Award Agreement (including this Country Addendum) has not
been, nor will it be, registered with the Comisién Nacional del Mercado de Valores, and does not constitute a public offering
prospectus.

Exchange Control Information. Participant is required to electronically declare to the Bank of Spain any security accounts (including
brokerage accounts held abroad), as well as the securities held in such accounts (including Shares acquired under the Plan) if the
value of the transactions for all such accounts during the prior tax year or the balances in such accounts as of December 31 of the
prior tax year exceeds EUR 1 million. Different thresholds and deadlines to file this declaration apply. However, if neither such
transactions during the immediately preceding year nor the balances / positions as of December 31 exceed EUR 1 million, no such
declaration must be filed unless expressly required by the Bank of Spain. If any of such thresholds were exceeded during the current
year, Participant may be required to file the relevant declaration corresponding to the prior year, however, a summarized form of
declaration may be available. Participant should consult a personal legal advisor to ensure compliance with applicable reporting
requirements.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting_Information. To the extent Participant holds shares or bank accounts outside of Spain with a value
in excess of EUR 50,000 (for each type of asset category) as of December 31 each year, Participant will be required to report
information on such assets on Participant’s annual tax return Form 720 for such year. After such shares or accounts are initially
reported, the reporting obligation will apply for subsequent years only if the value of any previously-reported shares or accounts
increases by more than EUR 20,000 (for each type of asset category) as of each subsequent December 31, or if Participant sells
shares or cancels bank accounts that were previously
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reported. Participant should consult a personal tax advisor to ensure compliance with applicable reporting requirements.

UNITED KINGDOM

Terms and Conditions
Responsibility for Taxes. The following provisions supplement Section 8 of the Award Agreement:

Without limitation to Section 8 of the Award Agreement, Participant agrees that Participant is liable for all Tax Obligations and hereby
covenants to pay all such Tax Obligations as and when requested by the Company or, if different, the Service Recipient or by Her
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) (or any other tax authority or any other relevant authority). Participant also agrees to
indemnify and keep indemnified the Company or the Service Recipient against any Tax Obligations that they are required to pay or
withhold or have paid or will pay to HMRC (or any other tax authority or any other relevant authority) on Participant’s behalf.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Participant is a director or executive officer of the Company (within the meaning of Section 13(k) of
the Exchange Act), the terms of the immediately foregoing provision will not apply. In such case, if any amount of income tax is not
collected from or paid by Participant, the amount of any uncollected income tax may constitute a benefit to Participant on which
additional income tax and National Insurance contributions (“NICs”) may be payable. Participant acknowledges that he or she will be
responsible for reporting and paying any income tax due on this additional benefit directly to the HMRC under the self-assessment
regime and for paying the Company or the Service Recipient, as applicable, for the value of any employee NICs due on this
additional benefit, which the Company or the Service Recipient may collect by any of the means set forth in Section 8 of the Award
Agreement.
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Lyft, Inc.
INSIDER TRADING POLICY

(Adopted on January 29, 2019; Most Recently Amended on August 6, 2025)

2 <.  «

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Lyft, Inc. (together with its affiliates and subsidiaries, the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “Lyft”) has adopted this Insider
Trading Policy (the “Policy”) in order to take an active role in the prevention of insider trading violations by our officers, directors, employees and other related individuals.

Why do we have this Policy?

On a regular basis we provide you, our employees, with confidential information regarding many aspects of our business. Under federal and state securities laws, it is
illegal to trade in the securities of a company while in possession of material nonpublic information about that company. Thus, because our employees will have knowledge of
specific confidential information that is not disclosed outside of Lyft and which will constitute material nonpublic information, employee trading in our securities could
constitute “insider trading” and violate the law, as could “tipping” (giving material nonpublic information to) others who then trade on the basis of that information. The
consequences of insider trading or the tipping of material nonpublic information can be severe. In fact, the person violating the laws, as well as Lyft and our individual
directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, may be subject to criminal and civil lawsuits and financial penalties in connection with a violation of the insider trading
laws.

Nonpublic information about Lyft is subject to your Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement and is not to be used or disclosed outside of Lyft,
except as necessary to perform your job duties. Unauthorized disclosure or use of nonpublic information, including misuse in securities trading, will subject you to disciplinary
action, up to and including termination of employment. We have adopted this Policy to comply with the laws governing (i) trading in our securities while in possession of
material nonpublic information concerning Lyft and (ii) tipping or disclosing material nonpublic information to outsiders, and in order to prevent the appearance of improper
trading or tipping. We reserve the right to prohibit any transaction from being completed or to require a transaction to be unwound to enforce compliance with this Policy.

What is Lyft’s policy on Insider Trading?

1. Do not trade on material nonpublic information

Whether or not the trading window (as described below) is open and except as discussed in the section titled “Are there any exceptions to this Policy?” below, you
may not, directly or indirectly through others, engage in any transaction involving Lyft’s securities while you are aware of material nonpublic information about Lyft. It is
not an excuse that you did not “use” the information in deciding whether or not to engage in the transaction.

Similarly, you may not engage in transactions involving the securities of any other company if you are aware of material nonpublic information that you learn
through your service to Lyft. For example, you may be involved in or aware of a proposed transaction involving a prospective business relationship or transaction. If
information about that transaction could be expected to affect the trading price of the securities of another company, you are prohibited from (i) using that information to
trade, directly or indirectly through others, or (ii) providing that information to another person in order to trade, in the securities of that other company. It is important to
note that “materiality” is different for different companies. Information that is not material to Lyft may be material to another company.



2. Do not disclose material nonpublic information

You may not disclose material nonpublic information concerning Lyft or any other company to friends, family members or any other person or entity not
authorized to receive such information, except directly to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) or other government, regulatory, or self-regulatory agency,
in each case, in compliance with Lyft’s Whistleblower Policy. Any nonpublic information you acquire in the course of your service with Lyft may only be used for
legitimate Lyft business purposes. In addition, you are required to handle the nonpublic information of others in accordance with the terms of any relevant nondisclosure
agreements, including your Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement, and limit your use of the nonpublic information to the purpose for which it
was disclosed.

Even if you are not directly disclosing material nonpublic information, you may not make recommendations or express opinions about securities of a company,
Lyft or otherwise, based on material nonpublic information about that company. In particular, you may not participate, in any manner other than passive observation, in any
Internet “chat” room, message board or social media platform messaging related to trading in Lyft’s securities. You are prohibited from engaging in these actions whether
or not you derive any profit or personal benefit from doing so. You should know that third parties are known to contact employees of companies to obtain information
about the company under false pretexts.

3. Do not respond to outside inquiries for information

In the event you receive an inquiry for information from someone outside of Lyft, such as a stock analyst, you should refer the inquiry to our General Counsel or
our Chief Financial Officer (each, a “Compliance Officer”). Responding to a request yourself is a violation of this Policy and, in some circumstances, may be a violation
of the law.

4. Take personal responsibility

The ultimate responsibility for complying with this Policy and applicable laws rests with you. As we request you do in all aspects of your work with Lyft, please
use your best judgment at all times and consult with a Compliance Officer and/or your legal and financial advisors, in confidence, if you have questions.

Who does this Policy apply to?

This Policy applies to all officers, directors and employees of Lyft (or “you”) upon the commencement of their relationship with Lyft. Lyft may also determine that
other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information.

References in this Policy to “you” (as well as general references to directors, officers and employees of Lyft) should also be understood to include members of your
immediate family, persons with whom you share a household, your dependents and any other individuals or entities whose transactions in securities you influence, direct or
control. You are responsible for making sure that these individuals and entities comply with this Policy. This Policy is confidential and is subject to your Employee Invention
Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement. Nonetheless, you may share this Policy with your spouse or domestic partner, financial planner, tax advisor or attorney on a need-
to-know basis, provided the confidentiality obligations are maintained (i.e., those persons do not use this Policy in any manner other than to advise you, and they do not
disseminate this Policy).

The spirit of openness and trust in which we share information with our employees is key to our success as a company. In return, you are expected to comply with this
Policy as long as you hold Lyft’s securities and possess any material nonpublic information about Lyft. This means that, even after you cease to be affiliated with Lyft, you must
continue to abide by the applicable trading restrictions until you no longer have material nonpublic information. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this
Policy at the time you cease to be affiliated with Lyft, you are expected to abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period.



What types of transactions are covered by this Policy?

This Policy applies to a// transactions involving Lyft’s securities. This Policy therefore applies to purchases, sales and other transfers of Lyft’s common stock, options,
restricted stock units, warrants, preferred stock, debt securities and other securities. This Policy also applies to any arrangements that affect economic exposure to changes in
the prices of these securities. These arrangements may include, among other things, transactions in derivative securities (such as exchange-traded put or call options), hedging
transactions, short sales and certain decisions with respect to participation in benefit plans. This Policy also applies to any offers with respect to the transactions discussed
above. For the avoidance of doubt, this policy applies to transfers or disposition in the form of a gift (including donations) of any securities of the Company. Although there are
limited exceptions to this Policy (described in “Are there any exceptions to this Policy?” below), please note that there are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy
based on the size of the transaction (e.g., this policy applies whether a trade involves one or 10,000 shares of Lyft’s common stock).

Transactions that are Strictly Prohibited or Require Special Consideration

1. Open orders — You should exercise caution when placing open orders, such as limit orders or stop orders, with brokers, particularly where the order is likely to
remain outstanding for an extended period of time. Open orders may result in the execution of a trade during a blackout period, which may result in
inadvertent insider trading.

2. Short sales — You may not engage in short sales (i.e., the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) or “sell short against the box” (i.e., sell with a
delayed delivery) if such sales involve Lyft’s securities. Short sales may signal to the market possible bad news about Lyft or a general lack of confidence in Lyft’s
prospects, and an expectation that the value of Lyft’s securities will decline.

3. You may not:

a. Engage in derivative securities or hedging_transactions — You may not trade in publicly-traded options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative

securities with respect to Lyft’s securities (other than stock options and other compensatory equity awards issued to you by Lyft). This includes any
hedging or similar transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding Lyft’s securities.

b. Use Lyft’s securities as collateral for loans — You may not pledge Lyft’s securities as collateral for loans.

c. Hold Lyft’s securities in margin accounts — You may not hold Lyft’s securities in margin accounts because your broker may sell securities held in the
margin account during a blackout period.

What does “Material Nonpublic Information” mean?

Information is “material” if a reasonable investor would consider it important in making a decision to buy, sell or retain our securities. Both positive and negative
information may be material. Information is “nonpublic” until it has been widely disseminated to the public (through, for example, a press conference or release) and the public
has had a chance to absorb and evaluate it. Unless you have seen material information publicly disseminated, you should assume the information is nonpublic.

Examples of information that would normally be regarded as “material” include the following, although the list is not exclusive:

e financial results, financial condition, projections or forecasts;



e plans to launch new product features or new technologies;

e gain or loss of a substantial customer, supplier or other business partner;

e execution or termination of significant contracts;

e the status of Lyft’s progress toward achieving significant goals;

e information about new markets we may enter or developments in our existing markets;
e changes in regulations or applicable law;

e significant litigation;

e technical challenges, such as infrastructure stability or technical scalability issues;

e major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or the Board,

e cybersecurity issues; or

e significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed acquisition or financing transaction.

Financial information is particularly sensitive. For example, nonpublic information about the results of our operations for even a portion of a quarter might be material
in helping an analyst predict our results of operations for the quarter.

When in doubt, you should assume that the information is material and nonpublic. If you have any questions as to whether information should be considered
“material” or “nonpublic,” please consult with a Compliance Officer (our General Counsel or Chief Financial Officer -) or their delegate.

When may I trade in Lyft’s securities?

Even if you are not in possession of any material nonpublic information, you may only trade in Lyft’s securities if all of the following conditions have been met:

1. Open trading window: You may only engage in transactions involving Lyft’s securities during an open trading window. Our trading window will typically open at the
start of the third full trading day following the date our quarterly financial results are publicly disclosed and continue through the 15th day of the third month of the
quarter. In addition to regular quarterly blackout periods, there may be additional blackout periods when appropriate due to certain events. We will notify you
whenever a special blackout period goes into effect that applies to you. (See “When is our Blackout Period?” below.)

2. Pre-clearance: If you are a member of the Board of Lyft (“Directors”) or a member of the executive team (“Executives”) or a Section 16 officer of Lyft, you must
receive pre-clearance from a Compliance Officer of your proposed trade. From time to time, Lyft may identify other persons who require pre-clearance, and a
Compliance Officer will notify you that you are subject to pre-clearance. The Compliance Officer will maintain a list of persons subject to pre-clearance (the “Pre-
Clearance List”). The Compliance Officer will determine the manner in which pre-clearance requests are to be submitted and persons on the Pre-Clearance List will
be required to certify that they are not in possession of material non-public information about the Company. If you are a Compliance Officer, you may not engage in a
transaction involving Lyft’s securities unless the other Compliance Officer has pre-cleared the transaction. The Compliance Officers are under no obligation to approve
a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction and notwithstanding any pre-clearance, you may not trade in Lyft’s securities
if you become subject to a trading blackout or possess material non-public information in advance of completing the trade.

3. 10b5-1 Plan: The SEC has enacted rules that provide an affirmative defense against alleged violations of U.S. federal insider trading laws for transactions made
pursuant to trading plans that meet certain requirements, commonly referred to as “10b5-1 trading plans.” These trading plans must be entered into when you are not
aware of material nonpublic information, must meet the requirements set forth in Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 10b5-1”),
and must meet the



guidelines for such 10b5-1 trading plans established by Lyft which you may obtain from a Compliance Officer, including pre-approval by a Compliance Officer.
Transactions made pursuant to a 10b5-1 trading plan are not subject to the restrictions in this Policy, even if you are aware of material nonpublic information at the
time of the transaction or a blackout period is in effect.

Directors and Executives are strongly encouraged, should they wish to trade in Lyft’s securities, to do so via a 10b5-1 trading plan. Anyone else desiring to trade via
such a plan may also do so in compliance with the specific guidelines established by Lyft. Trading plans must be pre-approved by and filed with a Compliance Officer
and be accompanied by an executed certificate stating that the trading plan complies with Rule 10b5-1 and any other criteria established by Lyft. Information regarding
a trading plan that you may enter may be publicly disclosed, as required by law.

If you do not follow the above requirements, you may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of your relationship with Lyft, as well as civil
and criminal penalties as described in the section titled “What are the consequences of Insider Trading?” below.

When is our Blackout Period?
To limit the likelihood of trading at times when there is a significant risk of insider trading exposure, Lyft has instituted quarterly trading blackout periods and may
institute special trading blackout periods from time to time. Whether or not a blackout period is in effect, you must comply with this Policy and may not trade on the basis of

material nonpublic information.

Quarterly blackout periods

Except as discussed in the section titled “Are there any exceptions to this Policy?” Directors, employees and agents may not engage in transactions involving Lyft’s
securities during quarterly blackout periods. Quarterly blackout periods begin at the end of the 15th day of the third month of each fiscal quarter and end at the start of the third
full trading day following the date of public disclosure of the financial results for that fiscal quarter. This period is a particularly sensitive time for transactions involving Lyft’s
securities from the perspective of compliance with applicable securities laws due to the fact that, during this period, individuals may often possess or have access to material
nonpublic information relevant to the expected financial results for the quarter.

Special blackout periods

From time to time, we may also implement additional blackout periods when, in the judgment of a Compliance Officer, a trading blackout is warranted. We will
generally impose special blackout periods when there are material developments known to us that have not yet been disclosed to the public. For example, we may impose a
special blackout period in anticipation of announcing interim earnings guidance or a significant transaction or business development. However, special blackout periods may be
declared for any reason.

We will notify you if you are subject to a special blackout period. If you receive this notification, you may not disclose to others the fact that you are subject to the
special blackout period and may not engage in any transaction involving Lyft’s securities until approved by one of our Compliance Officers.

Are there any exceptions to this Policy?
Yes, there are limited exceptions to this Policy, which are described below. Please note that there may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or

are otherwise required to forgo a planned transaction because of the restrictions imposed by this Policy. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not
mitigating factors under securities laws and will not excuse a failure to comply with this Policy.



1. Receipt, vesting and exercise of stock awards

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the acceptance or purchase of stock options, restricted stock or the like issued or offered by Lyft, nor do they
apply to the vesting, cancellation, forfeiture of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units or stock appreciation rights or the acquisition or repurchase of shares
pursuant to option exercises under our option plans.

In addition, the foregoing is intended to include net share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax
withholding requirements, (x) as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as
you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession
of material nonpublic information.

2. Sale of shares to cover tax withholdings
The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to sell to cover transactions where shares are sold on your behalf upon vesting of equity awards and sold in
order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity
award or (y) as you elect, if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is irrevocable and made in writing at a time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are

not in possession of material nonpublic information; however, this exception does not apply to any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding.

3. Purchases from the Lyft Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The trading restrictions in this Policy do not apply to elections with respect to participation in the Company’s employee stock purchase plan or to purchases of the
Company’s common stock under the plan. However, the trading restrictions do apply to subsequent sales of the Company’s common stock.

4. Stock splits, stock dividends and similar transactions

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to a change in the number of securities held as a result of a stock split or stock dividend applying equally to all
securities of a class, or similar transactions.

5. Inheritance or change in form of ownership

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to, transfers by will or the laws of descent and distribution or transfers for tax planning purposes in which your
beneficial ownership and pecuniary interest in the transferred Lyft securities does not change. Some transactions that involve merely a change in the form in which you own
securities may be permitted.

6. Trades pursuant to a 10b5-1 Trading Plan

The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to trades made pursuant to a valid 10b5-1 trading plan approved by the Company (see above).
7. Other exceptions

Any other exception from this Policy must be approved by a Compliance Officer in consultation with the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Board.

Please be aware that even if a transaction falls within one of the exceptions described above, you will need to separately assess whether the transaction complies with
applicable law. If you have any questions, please consult with a Compliance Officer.



What are the consequences of Insider Trading?

Penalties for violating insider trading laws can include disgorging profit made or loss avoided by trading, paying the loss suffered by the persons who purchased
securities from, or sold securities to, the insider tippee, paying civil and/or criminal penalties, and/or serving a jail term. Lyft and/or supervisors of the person violating the rules
may also be required to pay civil or criminal penalties and could be subject to private lawsuits.

A violation of this Policy is not necessarily a violation of law. In fact, for reasons explained in this Policy, it is not necessary for us to wait for the filing or conclusion
of any civil or criminal action against an alleged violator before taking disciplinary action as your employer, including termination of employment or repayment of costs
incurred by the Company to unwind a transaction in violation of this policy. In addition, please remember that we may prohibit a transaction from being completed or unwind a
transaction to enforce compliance with this Policy and any fees or other costs related to prohibiting or unwinding the transaction will be your responsibility.

What should I do if I suspect that this Policy has been violated?

Please promptly report violations or suspected violations of this Policy to a Compliance Officer. You may also report your concern via our confidential independent
Compliance & Ethics Hotline (https:/lyft.ethicspoint.com).

Priority of Statutory or Regulatory Trading Restrictions

The trading prohibitions and restrictions set forth in this Policy will be superseded by any greater prohibitions or restrictions prescribed by federal or state securities
laws and regulations, or contractual restrictions on the sale of securities.

Amendments

Lyft is committed to continuously reviewing and updating its policies, and Lyft therefore reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time, for any reason, subject to
applicable law.



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Name of Subsidiary, Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Pacific Valley Insurance Company, Inc. Hawaii



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-284971, 333-277165, 333-270054, 333-263089, 333-253703, 333-
236782 and 333-230591) of Lyft, Inc. of our report dated February 10, 2026 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Francisco, California
February 10, 2026



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, John David Risher, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lyft, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(2)

(b)

(©

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(2)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and



(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial

reporting.
Date: February 10, 2026 By:  /s/ John David Risher
John David Risher
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Erin Brewer, certify that:

1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lyft, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

()

(b)

(©)

(d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

()

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and



(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: February 10, 2026 By:  /s/ Erin Brewer

Erin Brewer
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, John David Risher, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of Lyft, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2025 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that
the information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Lyft, Inc.

Date: February 10, 2026 By: /s/ John David Risher
Name: John David Risher
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

1, Erin Brewer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Lyft, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2025 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that
the information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Lyft, Inc.

Date: February 10, 2026 By: /s/ Erin Brewer
Name: Erin Brewer
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



